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This base prospectus constitutes a base prospectus (the "Base Prospectus”) with regard to each of the Issuers
(as defined below) for the purpose of Article 8(1) of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129 of the European Parliament and of
the Council of 14 June 2017 (the "Prospectus Regulation"). This Base Prospectus has been approved by the
Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier (the "CSSF") of the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg
("Luxembourg") as the competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation and the Luxembourg law relating to
prospectuses for securities dated 16 July 2019 (Loi du 16 juillet 2019 relative aux prospectus pour valeurs
mobilieres et portant mise en oeuvre du réglement (UE) 2017/1129, the "Luxembourg Law").

The CSSF only approves this Base Prospectus as meeting the standards of completeness, comprehensibility and
consistency imposed by the Prospectus Regulation. Such approval should not be considered as an endorsement
of the economic or financial opportunity of the operation or the quality and solvency of the Issuer or of the quality of
the Notes that are the subject of this Base Prospectus. Investors should make their own assessment as to the
suitability of investing in the Notes.
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By approving this Base Prospectus, the CSSF does not assume any responsibility as to the economic and financial
soundness of any issue of Notes under the Programme and the quality or solvency of any of the Issuers (as defined
below) and Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft (the "Guarantor”).

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to list Notes issued under the Programme on the
official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to admit Notes to trading on the Regulated Market operated by
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (Bourse de Luxembourg). The Luxembourg Stock Exchange's (Bourse de
Luxembourg) Regulated Market is a regulated market for the purposes of Directive 2014/65/EU, as amended
("MiFID II"), on Markets in Financial Instruments. Notes issued under the Programme may also not be listed at all.

In order to be able to conduct a public offer in relation to certain issues of Notes, Bayerische Motoren Werke
Aktiengesellschaft ("BMW AG"), BMW Finance N.V. ("BMW Finance"), BMW US Capital, LLC ("BMW US Capital"),
BMW International Investment B.V. ("BMW International Investment"), and BMW Japan Finance Corp. ("BMW
Japan Finance") (each an "Issuer", and together, the "Issuers") have applied for a notification of this Base
Prospectus into the Federal Republic of Germany ("Germany"), the Republic of Austria ("Austria") and the
Netherlands pursuant to Article 25 of the Prospectus Regulation and the relevant Issuer will comply with such
requirements, inter alia, as to filings and publications as may be necessary from time to time for an offer of such
Notes in Germany, Austria and the Netherlands. The Issuers may apply for further notifications of this Base
Prospectus as may be necessary for an issue of Notes from time to time.

Potential investors should be aware that any website referred to in this document, unless that information is
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus, does not form part of this Base Prospectus and has not been
scrutinised or approved by the CSSF.

This Base Prospectus will be published in electronic form on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange
(www.luxse.com). This Base Prospectus is valid for a period of twelve months after its approval.

The Base Prospectus is valid until 10 May 2025. Any obligation to supplement a base prospectus in the
event of significant new factors, material mistakes or material inaccuracies does not apply when a base
prospectus is no longer valid.

Base Prospectus dated 10 May 2024
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Important Notice

The Notes and the Guarantee (each as defined below) have not been, and will not be, registered
under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act"), and may not be offered
or sold within the United States or to, or for the account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined
in Regulation S under the Securities Act) except in accordance with Regulation S under the
Securities Act or pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities
Act.

NOTICE TO CANADIAN INVESTORS

The Notes may be sold only to purchasers in Canada purchasing, or deemed to be purchasing,
as principal that are accredited investors, as defined in National Instrument 45-106 Prospectus
Exemptions or subsection 73.3(1) of the Securities Act (Ontario), and are permitted clients, as
defined in National Instrument 31-103 Registration Requirements, Exemptions and Ongoing
Registrant Obligations. Any resale of the notes must be made in accordance with an exemption
from, or in a transaction not subject to, the prospectus requirements of applicable securities
laws.

Securities legislation in certain provinces or territories of Canada may provide a purchaser with
remedies for rescission or damages if this Base Prospectus or any applicable supplement
(including any amendment thereto) contains a misrepresentation, provided that the remedies for
rescission or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory. The purchaser should refer to any
applicable provisions of the securities legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory for
particulars of these rights or consult with a legal advisor
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GENERAL INFORMATION
Requirements

This Base Prospectus contains as of the date hereof all such information as investors and their
professional advisers would reasonably require, and reasonably expect to find, for the purpose of making
an informed assessment of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profits and losses, and prospects
of the Issuers and the Guarantor and of the rights attached to the relevant Notes.

Responsibility of the Dealers

The Dealers have not independently verified the information contained herein. Accordingly, no
representation, warranty or undertaking, whether expressed or implied, is made, and no responsibility is
accepted, by the Dealers (in their capacity as Dealers) with respect to the accuracy or completeness of
this Base Prospectus or any further information supplied in connection with the Programme. The Dealers
accept no liability in relation to this Base Prospectus or its distribution or with regard to other information
supplied by the Issuers or the Guarantor herein, save for mandatory provisions of law.

Certain of the Dealers and their affiliates have engaged, and may in the future engage, in the ordinary
course of their business activities, in lending, advisory, corporate finance services, investment banking
and/or commercial banking transactions with, and may perform the services for, the Issuers and their
affiliates in the ordinary course of business and/or for companies involved directly or indirectly in the sector
in which the Issuers and/or their affiliates operate, and for which such Dealers have received or may
receive customary fees, commissions, reimbursement of expenses and indemnification. Certain of the
Dealers may also have positions, deals or make markets in the Notes issued under the Programme,
related derivatives and reference obligations, including (but not limited to) entering into hedging strategies
on behalf of the Issuer and its affiliates, investor clients, or as principal in order to manage their exposure,
their general market risk, or other trading activities. They have received, or may in the future receive,
customary fees and commissions for these transactions.

In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, certain Dealers and their affiliates may make
or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and equity securities (or related derivative
securities) and financial instruments (including bank loans) for their own account and for the accounts of
their customers. Such investments and securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of
the Issuer or Issuer's affiliates. The Dealers and/or their affiliates may receive allocations of the Notes
(subject to customary closing conditions), which could affect future trading of the Notes. Certain of the
Dealers or their affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer routinely hedge their credit
exposure to the Issuer consistent with their customary risk management policies. Typically, such Dealers
and their affiliates would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the
purchase of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in securities, including potentially the
Notes issued under the Programme. Any such positions could adversely affect future trading prices of
Notes issued under the Programme. The Dealers and their affiliates may also make investment
recommendations and/or publish or express independent research views in respect of such securities or
financial instruments and may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions
in such securities and instruments.

Exclusiveness

Neither the Issuers nor the Guarantor have authorised the making or provision of any representation or
information regarding the Issuers, the Guarantor or the Notes other than as contained or incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus, or any final terms the form of which is described in Part F.IV of this
Base Prospectus (for each tranche of Notes, the "Final Terms", which document may also include
information relating to the relevant tranche of Notes (each a "Tranche") other than the relevant Terms and
Conditions (as defined below)) or as approved for such purpose by the Issuers. Any such representation
or information should not be relied upon as having been authorised by any Issuer or Dealer or the
Guarantor.

Significance of Delivery

Neither the delivery of this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms nor the offering, sale or delivery of any
Note shall in any circumstances create any implication that there has been no adverse change in the
financial situation of any Issuer or the Guarantor since the date hereof.



The delivery of this Base Prospectus or any Final Terms or the offering, sale or delivery of any Note does
not at any time imply that the information contained herein concerning the Issuers and the Guarantor is
correct at any time subsequent to the date thereof or that any other written information delivered in
connection therewith is correct as at any time subsequent to the date indicated in the document containing
the same.

Restriction on Distribution

The distribution of this Base Prospectus and any Final Terms and the offering, sale and delivery of the
Notes in certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law. Persons into whose possession this Base
Prospectus comes are required by the Issuers, the Guarantor and the Dealers to inform themselves about
and to observe any such restrictions. For a description of certain restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries
of Notes and on distribution of this Base Prospectus and other offering material relating to the Notes
please refer to the Selling Restrictions set out in Part G of this Base Prospectus. In particular, the Notes
and the Guarantee have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act and may include
Notes in bearer form which are subject to U.S. tax law requirements. Subject to certain exceptions, the
Notes and the Guarantee may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or to, or for the
account or benefit of, U.S. persons (as defined in Regulation S under the Securities Act).

Exclusion

This Base Prospectus on its own does not constitute an offer or an invitation to subscribe for or purchase
any Notes and should not be considered as a recommendation by any Issuer, the Guarantor or any Dealer
that any recipient of this Base Prospectus should subscribe for or purchase any Notes. Each recipient
shall be taken to have made its own investigation and appraisal of the financial condition and affairs as
well as of the creditworthiness of any Issuer and of the Guarantor. This Base Prospectus may not be used
for the purpose of an offer or solicitation by anyone in any jurisdiction in which such offer or solicitation is
not authorised or to any person to whom it is unlawful to make such offer or solicitation. This Base
Prospectus is not intended to provide the basis of any credit or other evaluation.

Stabilisation Manager

In connection with the issue of any Tranche of Notes, the Dealer or Dealers (if any) named as the
stabilisation manager(s) (or persons acting on behalf of a stabilisation manager) in the applicable Final
Terms may over-allot Notes or effect transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes
at a level higher than that which might otherwise prevail. However, stabilisation may not necessarily occur.
Any stabilisation action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms
of the offer of the relevant Tranche of Notes is made and, if begun, may cease at any time, but it must
end no later than the earlier of 30 days after the issue date of the relevant Tranche or Notes and 60 days
after the date of the allotment of the relevant Tranche of Notes.

Any such stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the relevant stabilisation
manager (or person(s) acting on behalf of any stabilisation manager(s)) in accordance with all
applicable laws and rules (including rules and other regulatory requirements governing any stock
exchange where such Notes are listed).

Benchmarks Regulation

Interest amounts payable under floating rate Notes may be calculated by reference to (i) Euro Interbank
Offered Rate (the "EURIBOR"), which is currently provided by the European Money Markets Institute
("EMMI"), or (ii) the Constant Maturity Swap ("CMS"), which is currently provided by ICE Benchmark
Administration ("IBA"), or (iii) the Sterling Overnight Index Average ("SONIA"), which is currently provided
by the Bank of England, or (iv) the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ("SOFR"), which is currently
provided by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, or (v) the Euro-Short Term Rate (“€STR"), which is
published by the European Central Bank since 2 October 2019. As at the date of this Base Prospectus,
SONIA, SOFR and €STR do not fall within the scope of Regulation (EU) 2016/1011 (the "Benchmarks
Regulation"). As at the date of this Base Prospectus, EMMI does appear on the register of administrators
and benchmarks (the "Benchmark Register") established and maintained by the European Securities
and Markets Authority ("ESMA") pursuant to Article 36 of the Benchmarks Regulation, while IBA, the Bank
of England, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York and the European Central Bank do not appear on the
Benchmarks Register.



Each potential investor in Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its own
circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should:

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the relevant Notes,
the merits and risks of investing in the relevant Notes and the information contained or
incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus or any supplement hereto;

(i) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its
particular financial situation and the investment(s) it is considering, an investment in the Notes
and the impact the Notes will have on its overall investment portfolio;

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the
relevant Notes, including where the currency for principal or interest payments is different from
the potential investor's currency;

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the relevant Notes and be familiar with the behaviour of
financial markets;

(v) be aware that it may be required to pay taxes or other documentary charges or duties in
accordance with the laws and practices of the country where the Notes are transferred or other
jurisdictions;

(vi) ask for its own tax adviser's advice on its individual taxation with respect to the acquisition, sale
and redemption of the Notes; and

(vii) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear the
applicable risks.

EEA Retail Investors

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes include a legend entitled "Prohibition of Sales to EEA Retail
Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the European Economic Area
(the "EEA"). For these purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client
as defined in point (11) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; (i) a customer within the meaning of Directive
2016/97/EU, as amended or superseded (the "Insurance Distribution Directive"), where that customer
would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (10) of Article 4(1) of MIFID II; or (iii) not a
qualified investor as defined in the Prospectus Regulation. Consequently, no key information document
required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014, as amended or superseded (the "PRIIPs Regulation”) for
offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to retail investors in the EEA has been
prepared and therefore offering or selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retalil
investor in the EEA may be unlawful under the PRIIPS Regulation.

MiIFID Il Product Governance / Target Market

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "MiFID Il Product Governance"
which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution
of the Notes are appropriate in each case as of the date of the relevant Final Terms. Any person
subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a "distributor") should take into consideration
the target market assessment; however, a distributor subject to MiFID Il is responsible for undertaking its
own target market assessment in respect of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market
assessment) and determining appropriate distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the MiFID Product
Governance rules under EU Delegated Directive 2017/593, as amended (the "MIFID Product
Governance Rules"), any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such Notes,
but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a
manufacturer for the purpose of the MiFID Product Governance Rules.

UK Retail Investors

If the Final Terms in respect of any Notes include a legend entitled "Prohibition of sales to UK Retail
Investors", the Notes are not intended to be offered, sold or otherwise made available to and should not
be offered, sold or otherwise made available to any retail investor in the United Kingdom ("UK"). For these
purposes, a retail investor means a person who is one (or more) of: (i) a retail client as defined in point
(8) of Article 2(1) of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2017/565, as amended, as it forms part of



domestic law by virtue of the European Union (Withdrawal) Act 2018 ("EUWA"); or (ii) a customer within
the meaning of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended ("FSMA"), and any rules or
regulations made under the FSMA to implement Directive (EU) 2016/97, as amended, where that
customer would not qualify as a professional client as defined in point (8) of Article 2(1) of Regulation
(EU) No 600/2014, as amended, as it forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA; or (iii) not a
qualified investor as defined in point (e) of Article 2 of Regulation (EU) 2017/1129, as amended, as it
forms part of domestic law by virtue of the EUWA (the "UK Prospectus Regulation"). Consequently no
key information document required by Regulation (EU) No 1286/2014, as amended, as it forms part of
domestic law by virtue of EUWA (the "UK PRIIPs Regulation") for offering or selling the Notes or
otherwise making them available to retail investors in the UK has been prepared and therefore offering or
selling the Notes or otherwise making them available to any retail investor or in the UK may be unlawful
under the UK PRIIPs Regulation.

UK MiFIR Product Governance / Target Market

The Final Terms in respect of any Notes may include a legend entitled "UK MiFIR Product Governance"
which will outline the target market assessment in respect of the Notes and which channels for distribution
of the Notes are appropriate. Any person subsequently offering, selling or recommending the Notes (a
"UK distributor") should take into consideration the target market assessment; however, a UK distributor
subject to the FCA Handbook Product Intervention and Product Governance Sourcebook (the "UK MiFIR
Product Governance Rules") is responsible for undertaking its own target market assessment in respect
of the Notes (by either adopting or refining the target market assessment) and determining appropriate
distribution channels.

A determination will be made in relation to each issue about whether, for the purpose of the UK MiFIR
Product Governance Rules, any Dealer subscribing for any Notes is a manufacturer in respect of such
Notes, but otherwise neither the Arranger nor the Dealers nor any of their respective affiliates will be a
manufacturer for the purpose of the UK MIFIR Product Governance Rules.

Alternative Performance Measures

Certain financial measures presented in this Base Prospectus and in the documents incorporated by
reference are not recognised financial measures under International Financial Reporting Standards as
adopted by the European Union ("IFRS") or any other generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP")
("Alternative Performance Measures") and may therefore not be considered as an alternative to the
financial measures defined in the accounting standards in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles. The Alternative Performance Measures are intended to supplement investors' understanding
of each of the relevant Issuer’s and the Guarantor's financial information by providing measures which
investors, financial analysts and management use to help evaluate each of the relevant Issuer's and the
Guarantor's financial leverage and operating performance. Special items which each of the relevant
Issuers and the Guarantor does not believe to be indicative of ongoing business performance are
excluded from these calculations so that investors can better evaluate and analyse historical and future
business trends on a consistent basis. Definitions of these Alternative Performance Measures may not be
comparable to similar definitions used by other companies and are not a substitute for similar measures
according to IFRS or GAAP, as the case may be.



Part A of the Base Prospectus
General Description of the Programme

GENERAL DESCRIPTION OF THE PROGRAMME
General
Notes will be issued in Tranches, one or more of which shall comprise a series ("Series").

Notes will be issued in such denominations as may be agreed between the relevant Issuer and the
relevant Dealer(s) (as defined below) and as indicated in the applicable Final Terms save that the
minimum denomination of the Notes will be, if in euro, EUR 1,000, and, if in any currency other than euro,
an amount in such other currency nearly equivalent to EUR 1,000 at the time of the issue of Notes. Subject
to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, and requirements of relevant central banks, Notes may
be issued in euro or any other currency. The Notes are issued in bearer form under German law.

In addition to the above paragraph, Notes issued by BMW US Capital with a maturity at issuance of 183
days or less will have a minimum denomination of USD 500,000 or its equivalent in other specified foreign
currencies at the date of issue.

Under the Prospectus Regulation, prospectuses relating to money market instruments having a maturity
at issue of less than 12 months are not subject to the approval provisions.

The Notes are direct, unconditional, unsubordinated and unsecured obligations of the respective Issuer
and rank equally with all its other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations.

Notes issued by BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital, LLC, BMW International Investment B.V. and BMW
Japan Finance Corp. will have the benefit of a guarantee (the "Guarantee") given by BMW AG
(the "Guarantor"). The Guarantee constitutes an irrevocable, unsecured and unsubordinated obligation
of the Guarantor ranking equally with all other unsecured and unsubordinated obligations of the Guarantor
(other than statutorily preferred indebtedness).

Notes may be issued with such maturities as may be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant
Dealer(s), subject to a minimum maturity of 30 days, as indicated in the applicable Final Terms (except in
any case, such other minimum or maximum maturity as may be allowed or required from time to time by
the relevant central bank (or equivalent body) or any laws or regulations applicable to the Issuer or the
relevant Specified Currency (as defined in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes)).

Notes may be issued at an issue price, which is at par or at a discount to, or premium over, par, as stated
in the relevant Final Terms. The issue price for Notes to be issued will be determined at the time of pricing
on the basis of a yield which will be determined on the basis of the orders of the investors which are
received by the Dealers during the offer period. Orders will specify a minimum yield and may only be
confirmed at or above such yield. The resulting yield will be used to determine an issue price, all to
correspond to the yield.

The yield for Notes with fixed interest rates will be calculated by the use of the ICMA method, which
determines the effective interest rate of notes taking into account accrued interest on a daily basis.

Notes may be offered to qualified investors and/or retail investors as further specified in the relevant Final
Terms.

Each Series of Notes will either be represented by one or more physical global bearer notes or
represented by an electronic central register security.

In the case of Notes represented by a central register security pursuant to Section 4 Subsection 2 of the
German Electronic Securities Act (Gesetz (lber elektronische Wertpapiere — "eWpG") (a "Central
Register Security") the Notes will be entered into a central securities register pursuant to Section 12
eWpG (such register, a "Central Securities Register") operated by Clearstream Banking AG, Frankfurt
am Main (the "Central Registrar"). For the issuance of Central Register Securities, the Central Registrar
will use its proprietary digital platform D7 Digitiser ("Digitiser"). Upon instruction of the Issuer via the
Digitiser to the Central Registrar, the Notes will be issued by the Central Registrar by making the
respective entries into the Central Securities Register while referencing the Terms and Conditions of the



relevant Series, which will be submitted (niedergelegt) to the Central Registrar by or on behalf of the
Issuer prior to the issuance. The Central Registrar is entered into the Central Securities Register as the
holder (Inhaber) of each Central Register Security in collective entry (Sammeleintragung) pursuant to
§8 (1) No. 1 eWpG for the aggregate principal amount of the Notes of the relevant Series issued and
holds such Notes in trust for the relevant Noteholders of such Series as the beneficiaries (Berechtigte)
within the meaning of § 3 (2) eWpG. Central Register Securities in collective entry (Sammeleintragung)
are deemed pursuant to §9 (1) sentence1 eWpG to form a collective securities inventory
(Wertpapiersammelbestand) in which the relevant Noteholders hold proportional co-ownership interests
or similar rights transferrable in accordance with applicable law and the rules and regulations of
Clearstream Banking AG, Frankfurt am Main as the relevant clearing system. In that case, no physical
global note certificate (Sammelurkunde) or definitive note certificates and interest coupons will be issued
for the Notes and any claim of the relevant Noteholders of the Notes to request to change the entry of the
Central Register Security from collective to individual entry (Einzeleintragung) or to request to exchange
the Central Register Security for a global note certificate (Sammelurkunde) or for definitive note
certificates is explicitly excluded.

Issuers

Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, Munich, Germany
BMW Finance N.V., The Hague, The Netherlands

BMW US Capital, LLC, Wilmington, Delaware, USA

BMW International Investment B.V., The Hague, The Netherlands
BMW Japan Finance Corp., Minato-ku, Tokyo, Japan

BMW Finance, BMW US Capital, BMW International Investment and BMW Japan Finance, together, shall
be referred to as the "Issuers" or the "Issuing Subsidiaries". The Issuing Subsidiaries, together with all
other BMW group companies and BMW AG, shall be referred to as "BMW Group" or "BMW".

Guarantor
Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, Munich, Germany

Arranger
Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Dealers

Barclays Bank Ireland PLC, Dublin, Ireland

BNP Paribas, Paris, France

BofA Securities Europe SA, Paris, France

Citigroup Global Markets Europe AG, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Citigroup Global Markets Limited, London, United Kingdom
Commerzbank Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Crédit Agricole Corporate and Investment Bank, Montrouge, France
Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Goldman Sachs Bank Europe SE, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
HSBC Continental Europe, Paris, France

ING Bank N.V., Amsterdam, The Netherlands

J.P. Morgan SE, Frankfurt am Main, Germany

Merrill Lynch International, London, United Kingdom

Mizuho Securities Europe GmbH, Frankfurt am Main, Germany
Morgan Stanley Europe SE, Frankfurt, Germany

MUFG Securities (Europe) N.V., Amsterdam, The Netherlands
RBC Europe Limited, London, United Kingdom

RBC Capital Markets (Europe) GmbH, Frankfurt, Germany
SMBC Bank EU AG, Frankfurt, Germany

Société Générale, Paris, France

Standard Chartered Bank AG, Frankfurt, Germany

UniCredit Bank GmbH, Munich, Germany



Notes may be issued from time to time to one or more of the Dealers specified above (the "Dealers" and
each a "Dealer"), which expression shall include any additional Dealer appointed under the Programme
and which appointment may be for a specific issue or on an on-going basis.

Principal Paying Agent
Deutsche Bank Aktiengesellschaft

Luxembourg Listing Agent
BNP Paribas, Luxembourg Branch

Authorisations

The amendment and restatement of the Programme and the issue of Notes under the Programme have
been duly authorised by resolutions of the relevant Board of Management, namely by BMW Finance
passed on 29 March 2024; by BMW US Capital passed on 29 March 2024; by BMW International
Investment passed on 29 March 2024; and by BMW Japan Finance passed on 25 March 2024. In line
with applicable German law and in the absence of a specific requirement to that extent set out in its
Articles of Incorporation, BMW AG did not pass a specific board resolution in relation to the amendment
and restatement of the Programme and issues of Notes thereunder. Accordingly, issues of Notes by
BMW AG are properly authorised by virtue of an execution thereof by signatories, and such number of
signatories, duly authorised to act on behalf of BMW AG. All consents, approvals, authorisations or other
orders of all regulatory authorities required by the Issuers under the laws of Germany, The Netherlands,
the United States of America, and Japan, respectively, have been given for the issue of Notes and for the
Issuers to undertake and perform their obligations under the dealer agreement dated 10 May 2024 (the
"Dealer Agreement"), the agency agreement dated 10 May 2024 (the "Agency Agreement"), the
declaration of undertaking dated 10 May 2024 (the "Declaration of Undertaking"), the Notes and, in the
case of the Guarantor, under the guarantee dated 10 May 2024 (the "Guarantee").

Clearstream Luxembourg, Euroclear and CBF

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through Clearstream Banking S.A., 42 Avenue JF Kennedy,
1855 Luxembourg, Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, and Euroclear Bank SA/NV, Boulevard du Roi Albert I,
1210 Brussels, Belgium, and Clearstream Banking AG, Mergenthalerallee 61, 65760 Eschborn, Federal
Republic of Germany, and may be accepted in the future for clearance through any Specified Clearing
System and through other clearing systems in relation to a particular Tranche, as the case may be. The
appropriate common code and ISIN for each Tranche, and each other securities code which may be
obtained in relation to a particular Tranche, as the case may be, will be contained in the relevant Final
Terms.

Interim Reports
As at the date of this Base Prospectus, BMW Japan Finance does not publish interim reports.
Documents Available for Inspection

For the term of this Base Prospectus copies of the following documents will, when published, be available
free of charge during normal business hours from the registered office of the relevant Issuer and from the
specified offices of the Principal Paying Agent:
(i) the constitutional documents of each of the Issuers in the English language
BMW AG:
Articles of Incorporation, last revised on 19 September 2023. (bmwgroup.com)
BMW Finance:

https..//www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup _com/ir/downloads/en/2024
/emtn/BMW _Finance NV _Articles-of-Association.pdf

BMW US Capital:

https..//www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2024
/emtn/BMW _US _Capital Certificate of Formation_and Conversion.pdf

BMW International Investment:



https://www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2024
/emtn/BMW _International _Investment BV _Articles-of-Association.pdf

BMW Japan Finance:

https://www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2024
/emtn/BMW_Japan_Finance_Corp_Articles_of Incorporation_English.pdf

i)  acopy of this Base Prospectus;

i) the Guarantee;

iv)  the documents incorporated herein by reference; and
(v)  acopy of any supplements to this Base Prospectus.

Electronic versions of the constitutional documents of the Issuers are also available on the Guarantor's
website.

This Base Prospectus, any document incorporated by reference and any supplement to this Base
Prospectus will be published on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.luxse.com).

In the case of Notes listed on the official list of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or publicly offered in the
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg, the Final Terms will be displayed on the website of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange (www.luxse.com).

Programme Amount

The aggregate principal amount of all outstanding Notes or the Euro equivalent in the relevant foreign
currency on the respective Trade Dates thereof at any one time shall not exceed EUR 50,000,000,000 or
such increased amount as may be agreed by the Dealers, the Issuers and the Guarantor
(the "Programme Amount") in accordance with the provisions of the Dealer Agreement.

This Base Prospectus and any supplement thereto will only be valid for listing Notes on the regulated
market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and any other regulated market of any other stock exchange,
if any, in an aggregate nominal amount which, when added to the aggregate nominal amount then
outstanding of all Notes previously or simultaneously issued under the Programme, does not exceed
EUR 50,000,000,000. For the purpose of calculating the Euro equivalent of the aggregate amount of
Notes issued under the Programme from time to time:

The Euro equivalent of Notes denominated in another issue currency shall be determined by the relevant
Issuer on the trade date specified in the Final Terms of such Notes (the "Trade Date") according to the
reference rate determined by the European System of Central Banks on 2:15 p.m. (Central European
time) and published by the European Central Bank in Frankfurt am Main on such date.

Approval of the Base Prospectus and Notification

Approval of this Base Prospectus pursuant to Article 20 of the Prospectus Regulation in connection with
the Luxembourg Law has only been sought from the CSSF and from no other competent authority in any
other Member State of the European Union.

As at the date of this Base Prospectus, in order to be able to conduct a public offer in relation to certain
issues of Notes, the Issuers have applied for a notification of this Base Prospectus into Germany, Austria
and The Netherlands pursuant to Article 25 of the Prospectus Regulation and the relevant Issuer will
comply with such requirements, inter alia, as to filings and publications as may be necessary from time to
time for an offer of such Notes in Germany, Austria and The Netherlands. The Issuers may apply for further
notifications of this Base Prospectus as may be necessary for an issue of Notes from time to time. No
public or other offer of the Notes will be made in the United States.

Language of the Base Prospectus

This Base Prospectus has been drafted in the English language and, subject to the following paragraph,
the English language shall be the prevailing language of this Base Prospectus.

Where parts of this Base Prospectus are drafted in a bilingual format reflecting both an English language
version and a German language version, for purposes of reading and construing the contents of this Base
Prospectus, the English language version shall prevail, provided, however, that certain parts of this Base



Prospectus reflect documents which have been, or will be, executed as separate documents with the
German language version being the prevailing version thereof.

Currency Restrictions

Each issue of Notes denominated in a currency in respect of which particular laws, guidelines, regulations,
restrictions or reporting requirements apply will only be issued in circumstances which comply with such
laws, guidelines, regulations, restrictions or reporting requirements from time to time. The relevant Issuer
shall ensure that such Notes have the maturities and denominations as required by such laws, regulations
and guidelines.

Use of Proceeds
The net proceeds of the Notes will be used to assist in the general business of BMW Group.
Distribution

Notes may be distributed by way of private or public placement and in each case on a syndicated or non-
syndicated basis.

Currencies

Subject to any applicable legal or regulatory restrictions, Notes may be issued in any currencies as may
be agreed between the Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) (as indicated in the applicable Final Terms). In
this Base Prospectus, all references to "€", "EUR" or "Euro” are to the currency of the European Economic
and Monetary Union, references to "GBP" are to the currency of the United Kingdom, references to "USD"
are to the currency of the United States of America, references to "AUD" are to the currency of the
Commonwealth of Australia, references to "CNY" are to the currency of the People's Republic of China
and references to "Yen" are to the currency of Japan.

Rating
Rating of Notes

Notes issued under the Programme may be rated or unrated. In case Notes are rated, such rating will be
disclosed in the relevant Final Terms within the item "Rating". A security rating is not a recommendation
to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to suspension, reduction or withdrawal at any time by
the assigning rating agency. Ratings are based on current information furnished to the rating agencies
by BMW AG and information obtained by the rating agencies from other sources. Because ratings may
be changed, superseded or withdrawn as a result of changes in, or unavailability of, such information, a
prospective purchaser should verify the current long-term and short-term ratings of BMW AG before
purchasing the Notes.

Based on the provisions of Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 on rating agencies, as amended (the Credit
Rating Agencies Regulation or "CRA Regulation"), certain institutions as further determined pursuant to
Article 4 (1) of the CRA Regulation which are established in the European Union (the "Regulated
Institutions") are subject to certain restrictions with regard to the use of ratings for regulatory purposes.
Pursuant to Article 4 (1) of the CRA Regulation, Regulated Institutions may use credit ratings for regulatory
purposes only if such credit ratings are issued by credit rating agencies established in the European Union
and registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation (or for which the relevant registration procedure is
still pending). If the relevant Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or the Notes are rated, the relevant Final
Terms, as set out within the item "Rating", will state whether the relevant rating agencies are established
in the European Union or have relevant subsidiaries which are established in the European Union or not
and whether they have been registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation.

The current version of the list of credit rating agencies registered in accordance with the CRA Regulation
may be retrieved from the  website of  the European Commission at:
https://www.esma.europa.eu/supervision/credit-rating-agencies/risk.

In accordance with Article 18 (3) of the CRA Regulation, such list is updated within 30 days, as soon as
the registering competent authority of a home member state has informed the Commission of any
amendment as regards the registered credit rating agencies.



Rating of BMW AG
BMW AG has been assigned a long-term rating of A2' by Moody's Deutschland GmbH ("Moody's")2.

BMW AG has also been assigned a long-term rating of A3 by S & P Global Ratings Europe Limited
(Niederlassung Deutschland) ("Standard & Poor's").

Admission of the Programme and Listing of the Notes

In relation to Notes issued under this Programme, application has been made to the CSSF in its capacity
as competent authority under the Prospectus Regulation and the Luxembourg Law for approval of this
Base Prospectus.

Further application has been made to list Notes issued under the Programme on the official list of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange and to admit to trading such Notes on the regulated market of the
Luxembourg Stock Exchange (Bourse de Luxembourg) or on the Euro MTF market.

In this Base Prospectus, references to "Listed Notes" (and all related references) shall mean that the
CSSF has given its approval of this Base Prospectus and that the relevant Notes have been admitted by
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.

The Programme provides that Notes may be listed on other or further stock exchanges, as may be agreed
between the relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) in relation to each Tranche, as specified in the
relevant Final Terms.

Notice of the aggregate nominal amount of Notes, interest (if any) payable in respect of Notes, the issue
price of Notes and any other terms and conditions contained herein on an optional basis or for which
placeholders are provided for herein which are applicable to each Tranche of Notes will be set forth in the
relevant Final Terms which, with respect to Listed Notes will be delivered to the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange and/or the CSSF. In relation to Listed Notes issued under the Programme, copies of this Base
Prospectus and the relevant Final Terms will be available for inspection during normal business hours at
the office of the Principal Paying Agent, at whose office copies thereof can also be obtained free of charge
(see "Address List" at the end of this Base Prospectus), and a copy of this Base Prospectus or any further
prospectuses, or any supplements thereto, and the relevant Final Terms may also be accessed through
the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange at "www.luxse.com".

Moody's defines "A2" as follows: "Obligations rated A are judged to be upper-medium grade and are subject to low credit risk.
The modifier 2 indicates that the obligation ranks in the mid-range of its generic rating category."

Moody's is established in the European Community and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 of the European
Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 on credit rating agencies, amended by Regulation (EC) No. 513/2011 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 11 March 2011 (the "CRA Regulation"). Moody's appends long-term obligation ratings
at the following levels: Aaa, Aa, A, Baa, Ba, B, Caa, Ca and C. To each generic rating category from Aa to Caa Moody's assigns
the numerical modifiers "1", "2" and "3". The modifier "1" indicates that the rated company is in the higher end of its letter-rating
category, the modifier "2" indicates a mid-range ranking and the modifier "3" indicates that the rated company is in the lower end
of its letter-rating category. Moody’s also has the option of adding further guidance (referred to as "under review") as to whether
a rating is likely to be upgraded (possible upgrade), downgraded (possible downgrade) or uncertain (direction uncertain). Moody's
short-term ratings are opinions of the ability of issuers to honor short-term financial obligations and range from P-1, P-2, P-3 down
to NP (Not Prime).

Standard & Poor's defines "A" as follows: "An obligor rated A has strong capacity to meet its financial commitments but is
somewhat more susceptible to the adverse effects of changes in circumstances and economic conditions than obligors in higher-
rated categories". The ratings from 'AA' to 'CCC' may be modified by the addition of a plus (+) or minus (-) sign to show relative
standing within the major rating categories.

Standard & Poor's is established in the European Community and is registered under Regulation (EC) No. 1060/2009 of the
European Parliament and of the Council of 16 September 2009 on credit rating agencies, amended by Regulation (EC)
No. 513/2011 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 11 March 2011 (the "CRA Regulation"). Standard & Poor's
assigns long-term credit ratings on a scale from AAA to D. The ratings from AA to CCC may be modified by the addition of a "+"
or "-" to show the relative standing within the major rating categories. Standard & Poor's may also offer guidance (termed a "credit
watch") as to whether a rating is likely to be upgraded (positive), downgraded (negative) or uncertain (neutral). Standard & Poor's
assigns short-term credit ratings for specific issues on a scale from A-1, A-2, A-3, B, C down to D. Within the A-1 category the
rating can be designated with a "+".
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Undertaking referring to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor has undertaken, in connection with the listing of Notes on the
regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, that if, while Notes are outstanding and listed on
the official list and admitted to trading on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange, there
shall occur any material adverse change in the business, financial position or otherwise of any of the
Issuers or the Guarantor, as the case may be, that is material in the context of issuance under the
Programme which is not reflected in this Base Prospectus (or any of the documents incorporated by
reference in this Base Prospectus), it will prepare or procure the preparation of a supplement to this Base
Prospectus or, as the case may be, publish a new base prospectus for use in connection with any
subsequent offering of Notes to be listed on the regulated market of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange.
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Part B of the Base Prospectus
Risk Factors

RISK FACTORS

The following description of risk factors and their occurrence within a risk category, with the most material
risk factor presented first in each category, should be understood as a description of residual risks, i.e. of
the remaining risks following all counter measures taken in order to avoid such risks or limit their adverse
effect. Although the most material risk factors have been presented first within each category, the order in
which the remaining risk factors are presented is not necessarily an indication of the likelihood of the risks
actually materialising, of the potential significance of the risks or of the scope of any potential negative
impact to the Issuers' business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects. The Issuers may
face a number of these risks described below simultaneously and some risks described below may be
interdependent. While the risk factors below have been divided into categories, some risk factors could
belong in more than one category and prospective investors should carefully consider all of the risk factors
set out in this section.

Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group

The risk factors regarding the Issuers and the Guarantor are presented in the following categories
depending on their nature:

Macroeconomic Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group
Competitive Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group
Operational Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group
Financial Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group

Legal and regulatory risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group
Risks relating to the Issuers

OISR R

Macroeconomic Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group

Macroeconomic, geopolitical or other events could adversely affect the automotive industry and BMW
Group

BMW Group manufactures and sells its premium and luxury automobiles and motorcycles worldwide. As
one of the largest industrial companies in Germany, BMW Group is deeply rooted in Germany and across
Europe. In addition, BMW Group manufactures and sells a significant number of automobiles and
motorcycles in the Americas and Asia, particularly in China. As a result, BMW Group’s business and
operating results are materially affected by global macroeconomic and financial market conditions and
could be adversely impacted by economic or financial crises, a global or regional economic slowdown or
recession, or a decrease in consumer demand for BMW Group’s products.

BMW Group is also vulnerable to the negative impact of other events outside BMW Group’s control.
Political instability, increased nationalist and protectionist behavior of governments, terrorist activities,
military conflict, natural disasters, extreme weather events, power outages, telecommunications failures
and pandemics, among other things, could have a material adverse impact on the global economy,
international capital markets and BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition and results of
operations.

For example, the international macroeconomic situation is currently characterized by considerable
uncertainty, mainly due to elevated inflation and interest rates. In 2023, market turmoil generated by the
failures of a number of financial institutions, including in the United States and Switzerland, caused
instability and uncertainty in the financial markets. The BMW Group has not experienced any significant
direct impact due to these bank failures or crises; however, BMW Group may suffer from indirect effects
if these or similar events in the future lead to more conservative lending decisions from banks, which may
increase the cost of credit for both BMW Group and BMW Group’s retail and commercial customers. Any
reduction in the availability of credit to the wider economy could also lead to an economic slowdown, or
continuation or further worsening of financial and macroeconomic conditions, which could have a material
adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, prospects, financial condition and results of operations.

In addition, in recent years, the uncertainty in connection with the United Kingdom’s withdrawal from the
EU ("Brexit") and the trade tensions between the United States and China had, and continue to have, a
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direct and material impact on the global economy, and thereby on BMW Group and its business and
results of operations. More recently, the Russian invasion of Ukraine and the Israel-Gaza conflict, as well
as developments in the Red Sea, have significantly increased risks and uncertainties in the global
economy, and especially in Eastern Europe and the Middle East, with far-reaching and potentially long-
term adverse consequences for BMW Group’s ability to procure supplies from, manufacture or market
vehicles in, or otherwise do business in and with Russia and Ukraine, countries in the Middle East
impacted by conflicts and global economic and political conditions more generally. In addition, sanctions
imposed by the EU, the United States and other countries on Russia (and certain territories occupied by
Russia) as well as Russian banks, companies and individuals have adversely affected and will continue
to adversely affect BMW Group’s business. For example, on 1 March 2022, BMW Group announced the
discontinuation of its local production in Russia and halted all exports of vehicles to Russia. The war in
Ukraine also has a significant impact on Ukraine’s automotive supply industry as a result of which BMW
Group, for example, had to stop production temporarily at its Dingolfing plant in March 2022. Russia has
likewise imposed sanctions, currency restrictions and regulations and may take further retaliatory trade
or other actions, including the imposition of new counter-sanctions against countries and companies it
considers unfriendly, and the nationalization of foreign-owned businesses. It is not possible to predict the
impact of the war in Ukraine, the conflicts in the Middle East and any resulting state reactions, as they
continue to develop. The war and certain sanctions imposed against Russia and the conflicts in the Middle
East have caused and may continue to cause, for a considerable period of time, uncertainties in the global
economy, a distortion of global supply chains, and combined with the bottleneck for semiconductors in
the recent past, could lead to further production adjustments and downtimes at BMW Group’s European
plants.

Due to increasing interconnectedness of global economic and financial systems, any significant event in
one area of the world can have an immediate and devastating impact on markets around the world,
thereby adversely affecting BMW Group globally.

BMW Group maintains operations in various markets which could be affected by volatile economic or
political environments and is pursuing growth opportunities in a number of newly developed and emerging
markets. These investments may expose BMW Group to heightened risks of economic, geopolitical, or
other events, including governmental expropriation (nationalization) of its manufacturing facilities, local
sales subsidiaries or intellectual property, restrictive currency exchange or import controls.

BMW Group is also subject to the macroeconomic risk caused by supply bottlenecks, particularly for
semiconductors. Semiconductor chips are an important component of the electrical architecture of BMW
Group vehicles. In the recent past, BMW Group and other major automotive companies experienced
constraints in the availability of semiconductors, which impacted production volumes. A limited number of
companies produce the majority of semiconductors manufactured globally. This concentration of
production exposes the supply chains of automobile manufacturers to risks from disruptions of the
production of semiconductors. For example, a shortage in the supply of semiconductors impacted BMW
Group’s production schedules in 2022 and its ability to meet the demand for its vehicles. Such supply
bottlenecks could be exacerbated by (i) rising geopolitical tensions, for example between China and
Taiwan, which could disrupt the operations of companies in Taiwan that are critical to the global supply
of semiconductors, (ii) tariffs, trade barriers and sanctions and (iii) conflicts and a deterioration of transport
security in the Red Sea. In addition, with the recent anti-dumping and anti-subsidy probe launched by the
EU against China, and the potential imposition of punitive tariffs, there is an increased risk of a trade war
between Europe and China, which could further negatively impact BMW Group’s supply chain. In addition,
other factors, such as labor shortages, limited availability of components, high prices for raw materials,
higher transportation and energy costs as well as other unfavorable factors, could also increase car prices,
which could negatively affect customer demand in the future. Furthermore, the extended delivery times
of new cars could cause an increase in cancellations by customers. In the event that such shortages
continue for a prolonged period of time, BMW Group’s production levels may be adversely affected, which
would materially affect BMW Group’s business and financial condition. See also "BMW Group is
dependent on its suppliers" and "Significant changes in prices of raw materials, commodities and energy
could lead to increased costs in producing and distributing BMW Group vehicles".

In recent years, China has also been an increasingly important market for BMW Group and a significant
amount of BMW Group’s manufacturing is located in China. The Chinese economy differs from the
economies of most developed countries in many respects, including the amount of government
involvement, the level of development, the growth rate, the control of foreign exchange and the allocation
of resources. The Chinese government exercises significant control over China’s economic growth
through the allocation of resources, controlling payments of foreign currency, setting of monetary policy

13



and provision of preferential treatment to particular industries or companies. There can be no assurance
that the Chinese government will continue to pursue policies favoring a market-oriented economy or that
existing policies will not be significantly altered, especially in the event of societal or political disruption or
other circumstances affecting political, economic and social life in China. The Chinese government may
intervene or influence BMW Group’s operations in China at any time, which could result in a material
change in BMW Group’s operations.

In addition, the transition of the Chinese economy from an investment-driven market to a consumer-driven
market is expected to result in slower growth rates and greater instability in financial markets. The trade
conflict with the United States is likely to continue to have an adverse impact on the Chinese economy in
2024 and potentially beyond. Other factors that have contributed to a decrease in Chinese demand
include slower economic growth, unsuccessful economic reforms, a weak labor market, and challenges
in China’s real estate sector, including the default of real estate companies, all of which have negatively
impacted consumer spending. If the Chinese economy continues to grow at a slower pace than expected,
or even to contract, whether caused by these factors or otherwise, this could lead to a decline in
automobile sales growth rates or unit sales. In addition, domestic unrest within China in response to the
imposition of restrictive policies instituted by the Chinese government presents additional risks and
uncertainties. If BMW Group’s ability to do business in China is adversely impacted, its business,
prospects, results of operations and financial condition could be materially adversely affected.

The automotive industry, in general, is cyclical, and a general economic slowdown typically also affects
the automotive and related industries. Deterioration of key economic metrics, such as the growth rate,
interest rates and inflation, employment rate, reduced availability of competitive financing rates for
vehicles, and increase in fuel prices could materially and adversely affect automotive sales, and as a
result thereof, the results of operations of BMW Group. For example, BMW Group has been adversely
affected by inflationary pressures in several countries, including the EU and the United States. Should
inflation rates continue to rise and/or remain at elevated levels, this would have a material adverse impact
on demand in the relevant economies due to rising prices. Demand could also be negatively impacted by
elevated interest rates. As market rates for new vehicle financing remain high, BMW Group vehicles could
be less affordable or retail consumers may favor less expensive vehicles that tend to be less profitable
for BMW Group, adversely affecting BMW Group’s business, prospects, financial condition and results of
operations. Additionally, as consumer interest rates remain high or if financial service providers tighten
lending standards or restrict their lending to certain classes of credit, consumers may not desire to or be
able to obtain financing to purchase or lease BMW Group vehicles. An increase in interest rates due to
tightening monetary policy or for any other reason would result in increased costs for BMW Group. As a
result, an increase in consumer interest rates, tightening of lending standards or a prolonged period of
elevated interest rates and inflation could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business,
prospects, financial condition and results of operations (see also "Significant changes in prices of raw
materials, commodities and energy could lead to increased costs in producing and distributing BMW
Group vehicles").

Changes in consumer preferences, lifestyle and individual mobility could adversely affect the automotive
industry and BMW Group

Individual mobility remains a key issue in a number of countries, both as a matter of consumer preference
and in terms of regulation and national industrial policy. Changing lifestyle and social norms are constantly
calling for new solutions in the field of mobility.

Consumers are increasingly emphasizing environmental concerns, such as lower fuel consumption and
emissions levels, in their decision to purchase new vehicles. Moreover, some consumers are adjusting
their approach to individual mobility altogether and in some cases, often driven by environmental
concerns, consumer preference is shifting from individual car ownership to more flexible mobility solutions
(such as ride- and car-sharing offerings), and from fuel-based technologies to electric vehicles (which
may be influenced by the availability of public charging infrastructure) or even alternative modes of
transport not offered by BMW Group (such as public transport, bicycles and electric scooters). Consumer
preferences may also change as a result of changes in vehicle taxation, such as increases or decreases
in vehicle taxes, and tax credits and grants for the purchase of electric or low emission vehicles. Any
decrease in demand for BMW Group’s current portfolio of products as a result of changes in consumer
preference could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition
and results of operations.
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In addition, as BMW Group expands its production of electric vehicles, it may over time allocate additional
investments in this area. However, the demand for electric vehicles remains uncertain, as consumer
preferences may not fully transition towards electric vehicles. Factors such as insufficient charging
infrastructure, lengthy charging times, high purchase costs, or other considerations may contribute to
consumer reluctance in adopting electric vehicles. The materialization of any of these risks could have an
adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations. As
alternative drive technologies (for example, electric powertrains or plug-in hybrid engines) are increasingly
important to customers, a significant factor in BMW Group’s future success is its ability to recognize trends
in customer requirements and technological developments in sufficient time to react to these changes and
thus adapt or maintain its existing product range and its competitive position in existing or new market
segments. Even when BMW Group recognizes new trends and enters into new market segments, such
endeavors may be less profitable or more costly than anticipated.

BMW Group encounters research and development challenges as its products become more complex
and as it introduces new, more environmentally friendly technologies. It may have difficulties in attaining
stated efficiency targets without loss of product quality. Further, it has entered into cooperation
arrangements to research and develop new technologies, including autonomous, connected and
electrification technologies, or mobility solutions to overcome and address future travel and transport
challenges. These research and development activities may not achieve their planned objectives,
because, among other things, the technologies developed or the products derived therefrom are
unsuccessful in the market or exhibit failures that are impracticable or too costly to remedy, or because
competitors have developed better or less expensive products. Additionally, BMW Group’s competitors or
their joint ventures may develop better solutions and may be able to manufacture and bring to market the
resulting products more rapidly, in larger quantities, with higher quality or at lower cost. This could lead to
increased demand for BMW Group’s competitors’ products and result in a loss of BMW Group’s market
share.

Export controls, sanctions, tariffs and other trade barriers could affect BMW Group’s ability to produce,
market and sell its products across global markets and affect BMW Group’s supply chains

As a global manufacturer of premium and luxury automobiles and motorcycles, BMW sources its
production materials from across the world, relies on complex global supply chains, and maintains
production and sales operations in a large number of markets globally. This requires an established and
efficiently connected infrastructure allowing for the cross-border transport of supplies, parts and
automobiles.

In recent years, political distress, warfare, terrorist attacks, changing attitudes regarding globalization and
other economic and geopolitical developments have led to the introduction of new export controls and
sanctions or stricter application of existing export controls and sanctions in a number of jurisdictions
around the world. For example, on February 24, 2022, the Russian military invaded Ukraine, as a result
of which sanctions were imposed by the EU, the United States and other countries on Russia as well as
Russian banks, companies and individuals, which have adversely affected and will continue to adversely
affect BMW Group’s business. As a result, on March 1, 2022, BMW Group announced the discontinuation
of its local production in Russia and halted all exports of vehicles to Russia. The war in Ukraine continues
to represent a source of high uncertainty and has adversely affected and will continue to adversely affect
BMW Group’s business. See also "Macroeconomic, geopolitical or other events could adversely affect
the automotive industry and BMW Group".

The trade conflict between the United States and China continues to adversely impact BMW Group. BMW
Group expects the political and regulatory focus to shift from tariff increases, such as those imposed by
the former U.S. administration for imported steel and aluminum, to further import and export restrictions
on specific technologies. The potential introduction of further trade restrictions for various goods imported
into the United States from China, including automobiles and auto-parts, as well as trade restrictions
imposed by China, could have a significant adverse impact on BMW Group’s business operations due to
less favorable conditions for the import and export of vehicles. Moreover, any countermeasures or policy
changes by regional or global trading partners, including the EU and China, could slow down global
economic growth and also have an adverse impact on the export of vehicles manufactured in the United
States and elsewhere. If China retaliates against such measures or there is a conflict between China and
Taiwan, which is the leading producer of semiconductors, there could be further disruption to the
semiconductor industry and global supply chains. See also "BMW Group is dependent on its suppliers".
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Laws and regulations regarding export controls and sanctions may originate nationally, bilaterally or even
multilaterally between or among patrticipating jurisdictions with a differing reach as to national or even
extraterritorial application and relevance. Typically, export controls and sanctions will apply to the transfer
of pre-identified, listed products, technologies or categories of sensitive goods through the requirements
of permits, limitations or prohibitions of sale.

One of the main consequences of these developments for the Group and the automotive industry
generally is the impact on supply chains as they relate to cross-border transfers. Specifically, increased
export controls, sanctions and other measures (e.g., the U.S. Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act and
the German Act on Corporate Due Diligence Obligations in  Supply Chains
(Lieferkettensorgfaltspflichtengesetz)) or the enactment of the Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence
Directive on EU level (which is in the final stage of the legislative process as only the vote by the EU
Parliament is outstanding) could negatively affect the Group’s cross-border supply chain or delay the
delivery of parts or automobiles from one market to another. This could lead to various disruptions to pre-
established workflows and could result in an inability to meet production deadlines or adequately supply
market demand for the Group’s products.

In addition, BMW Group faces an increasing need for compliance measures, including the identification
of critical goods, critical technologies, geographical sensitivities and contractual protections, as well as
the adaptation of existing agreements and local sales practices and the ability to take short-term measures
should events, trends or restrictions arise or increase in a way that affects BMW Group’s business
practices.

Consequently, BMW Group faces potential further increases in costs to be prepared for adverse
developments of this type and for ongoing compliance with export controls and sanctions relating to its
commercial activities. Moreover, as export controls and sanctions may change, be newly introduced on
short notice, be difficult to interpret or be applied in an unexpected manner, there can be no assurances
that BMW Group’s internal controls and compliance systems are adequate to address all applicable risks.

Increases in or volatility of fuel prices could affect demand for BMW Group's products

As a premium vehicle manufacturer, BMW Group holds leading positions in markets for powerful premium
and luxury vehicles. An increase in fuel prices from the current level, increased price volatility or reduced
availability of fuel, particularly in the United States, could result in a weakening of demand for large and
sporty vehicles, while increasing demand for small vehicles, which could lead to negative effects on
vehicle mix and revenues as well as margins and further lead to consumer or market shifts away from
segments or automotive models where BMW Group holds a leading position or has a competitive product
offering. As a result, fuel price increases or volatility in price trends could lead to changes in demand
across product segments or consumer preferences, which could have a material adverse effect on BMW
Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations. See also "Macroeconomic,
geopolitical or other events could adversely affect the automotive industry and BMW Group".

Significant changes in prices of raw materials, commodities and energy could lead to increased costs in
producing and distributing BMW Group vehicles

BMW Group requires significant amounts of raw materials, commodities and energy (in particular natural
gas and electricity) in the manufacture of its products. The prices of these materials and commodities are
governed by demand supply fundamentals and as a result thereof BMW Group is exposed to price risks
in relation to these materials. Changes in prices of raw materials, commodities and energy are monitored
on the basis of a set of specific management procedures. The principal objective of these management
processes is to increase planning reliability for BMW Group and its production decisions and forecasts.

In the recent past, due to inflation and global supply chain issues, among other things, certain raw material
and commodity prices (e.g., for palladium and rhodium) as well as energy prices increased sharply. Price
risks relating to precious metals (platinum, palladium and rhodium) and non-ferrous metals (aluminum,
copper, lead and nickel), and, to some extent, to steel and steel ingredients (iron ore and coking coal) and
energy (gas and electricity) are hedged using financial derivatives or supply contracts with fixed pricing
arrangements. Nevertheless, changes in raw material, commodity and energy prices cannot always be
predicted or hedged and are highly volatile due to various factors, including decreasing availability of
certain raw materials, an unexpected increase in the demand for raw materials, disruptions in the
suppliers’ business and supply chains, competitive pressure among suppliers of raw materials to increase
the price, and inflation.
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In addition, for the production of electric vehicles, BMW Group is dependent on the supply of batteries
and the raw materials (e.g., lithium, cobalt, nickel, graphite, and manganese) used by BMW Group’s
suppliers to produce such batteries. As BMW Group increases its production of electric vehicles, it expects
that its need for such materials will increase over time. At the same time, other companies are increasing
their production of electric vehicles, which will further increase the demand for such raw materials. As a
result, BMW Group or its suppliers may be unable to acquire raw materials needed for electric vehicle
production in sufficient amounts, that are responsibly sourced or at reasonable prices. In the event BMW
Group’s suppliers are unable to deliver sufficient quantities of raw materials needed for BMW Group’s
production operations, and BMW Group or its suppliers are unable to find an alternative resource with
sufficient quantities, at reasonable prices, responsibly sourced, and in a timely manner, it could impact
BMW Group’s ability to produce electric vehicles.

Any interruption in availability of raw materials and commodities may impair BMW Group’s ability to
manufacture its products on a timely and cost-effective basis. Should BMW Group fail to adequately
address commodity price changes or volatility and be unable to pass price increases on to customers,
BMW Group may be subject to increased costs for producing and distributing its vehicles, which could
have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of
operations. See also "Macroeconomic, geopolitical or other events could adversely affect the automotive
industry and BMW Group" and "Export controls, sanctions, tariffs and other trade barriers could affect
BMW Group's ability to produce, market and sell its products across global markets and affect BMW
Group's supply chains".

Competitive Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group

The automotive market is highly competitive and subject to technological innovations and developments
which could affect BMW Group's competitive position

The worldwide automotive market is highly competitive, and competition is likely to further intensify in the
future, including as a result of new industry entrants. BMW Group faces intense competition from
automotive manufacturers in the markets in which it operates and across vehicle segments. Competition
in the automotive industry with established manufacturers has intensified in recent years and, in addition,
new competitors are emerging, including those who have either entered, or are reported to have plans to
enter, the market for electric and other alternative fuel vehicles, including hybrid vehicles, plug-in hybrid
electric vehicles ("PHEV") and fully electric vehicles, as well as the market for self-driving technology and
other vehicle applications and software. For example, in the United States a relatively new car
manufacturer gained significant market share in certain segments. In addition, many companies located
in China are increasing their operations, have gained significant global market share, especially in the
battery electric vehicles ("BEV") market, and have become a significant competitive force. Amplified by
the rise in PHEV and BEV vehicles, BMW Group also faces competition from Chinese manufacturers who
export cars and from competitors that primarily manufacture or import from China or other low-cost
production countries. As the Chinese market evolves, BMW Group anticipates that market participants
will act aggressively to increase or maintain their market share in China and elsewhere. For instance,
should the cooling of the Chinese economy result in a stagnation or slower growth in demand for vehicles
in China, Chinese manufacturers may bolster their efforts to market their products outside China.
Increased competition may result in price reductions, reduced margins and BMW Group’s inability to gain
or hold market share. If BMW Group is unable to maintain its competitiveness in China or other low-cost
production countries, BMW Group’s business and financial results could be adversely affected.

Competition is likely to intensify further in light of, among other factors, continuing globalization in the
worldwide automotive industry and technological developments in drive technologies, drive systems and
vehicle control, particularly autonomous driving, possibly resulting in industry consolidation or
reorganization. Factors affecting competition include product quality and features, safety, reliability, fuel
efficiency, disruptive technologies and the amount of time required for innovation and development,
pricing, customer service and financing terms. Increased competition could also lead to lower Group
deliveries, which could result in further downward price pressure and adversely affect BMW Group’s sales
strategies or could require BMW Group to increase research and development or capital expenditures to
offer competitive products. BMW Group’s ability to respond adequately to the recent changes in the
automotive market and to maintain its competitiveness in light of ongoing competitive dynamics and
technological developments is integral to its performance in existing and new markets and to maintaining
or expanding its market share. There can be no assurances that BMW Group will be able to compete
successfully in the future.
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Competition in the automotive industry could lead to pricing and sales pressures

BMW Group faces competition from a number of international companies, as well as local and regional
companies in the countries in which it operates. Increased competition and unanticipated actions by
competitors or customers in the automotive industry could lead to downward pressure on prices or a
decline in BMW Group’s market share, which would adversely affect its results and impair its growth
potential.

Intense competition exists in particular with regard to prices and product quality, as well as the
development and launch periods of newly developed products carrying a higher profit risk due to
marketing risks and considerable expenses for market development, product launch and market
penetration. Further, new expertise on the part of competitors or new market entrants increases the risk
that competitors might outperform BMW Group with respect to technological advances or vehicle
development, which could lead to BMW Group potentially losing market share and suffering significant
losses in deliveries. Increased pressure on selling prices and margins caused by intense competition in
global markets, particularly in Western Europe, the United States and China, also requires constant
analysis and adapting to changes in circumstances and conditions. See also "The automotive market is
highly competitive and subject to technological innovations and developments which could affect BMW
Group's competitive position”.

BMW Group is dependent on market acceptance of BMW Group's products

Many factors both within and outside of BMW Group’s control affect the success of new or existing BMW
Group products in the marketplace. BMW Group seeks to offer highly desirable vehicles to overcome
intensive price competition and meet market demand; however, BMW Group’s new and existing vehicles
and products might be perceived to be less desirable than those of BMW Group’s competitors, whether
in terms of price, quality, design, safety, overall value, fuel efficiency or other attributes. For example, if a
new model were to experience quality issues at the time of launch, the vehicle’s perceived quality could
be affected even after the issues have been corrected, resulting in lower numbers of deliveries, market
share, and profitability.

The trend towards an increasing range of body styles, including "cross-over" body styles, based on
customer expectations and competitive actions across the automotive industry, requires BMW Group to
continually evaluate the position and market share of its individual brands and models to maintain its
competitive position. In addition, with increased consumer interconnectedness through the internet and
other media, mere rumors or allegations relating to quality, safety, fuel efficiency, corporate social
responsibility or other key product attributes can negatively impact BMW Group’s reputation or market
acceptance of its products, even where such allegations prove to be inaccurate or unfounded.

As a result of the intensity of competition in the automotive industry and the pace of technological
development, BMW Group faces constant pressure to develop new products and improve existing
products at ever-shorter intervals. If BMW Group misjudges, delays recognition of, or fails to adapt its
products and services to trends and changes in customer requirements in individual markets or other
changes in demand, its sales volumes could be adversely affected. If BMW Group makes fundamental or
repeated misjudgments, it could lose customers, and the reputation of its affected brands could suffer.
Such misjudgments may also lead to significantly unprofitable investments and associated costs.

If BMW Group encounters potential delays in bringing new vehicle models and technologies to market or
if customers do not accept the new models BMW Group introduces, or if the other risks mentioned herein
were to materialize, it could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets,
financial condition or results of operations.

BMW Group's success is dependent on its ability to maintain and develop its brand image

In the highly competitive automotive industry, BMW Group is dependent on maintaining and developing
the brand image for its various brands. In order to maintain and develop a brand image, BMW Group must
earn customers’ confidence by providing safe, high-quality products that meet customer demand and
appeal to customers' preferences. Moreover, as BMW Group is dependent on suppliers for several
significant production components, perceptions of BMW Group’s quality can also be affected by the
performance and quality of third-party supply components or broader perceptions of the automotive
industry generally. If BMW Group is unable to effectively maintain and develop the brand image of its
BMW, MINI and Rolls-Royce brands, for example as a result of an inability to provide safe, high-quality
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products or as a result of the failure to promptly implement safety measures, such as recalls when
necessary, vehicle unit sales or sale prices might decrease.

Operational Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group

Production delays, stoppages and downtimes could adversely impact BMW Group's ability to deliver
products, meet customer expectations and maintain its market position

BMW Group is dependent on its global production and sales and marketing networks to economically,
efficiently and in a timely manner produce its vehicles, supply dealers and customers and maintain its
market position. Production delays, including the delayed ramp-up of new vehicle production lines, as well
as a work stoppage or other limitations of production could occur at BMW Group’s or its suppliers’ facilities
for any number of reasons, including as a result of labor or other legal disputes, pandemics, natural or
man-made disasters, tight credit markets or other financial distress, production constraints or difficulties,
or other factors such as manufacturing equipment breakdowns, damage to infrastructure, logistical
disruptions, IT disruptions, or for other reasons (such as fires or power failures). For example, in 2020,
COVID-19 led to the temporary shutdown of BMW Group’s manufacturing plants in China, Europe, South
Africa, Mexico, Brazil and Spartanburg County (South Carolina, United States). In 2022, BMW Group
suffered further production cutbacks due to supply bottlenecks for semiconductor components, limited
availability of wiring harnesses and pandemic-related lockdowns in China, which also resulted in the
closure of certain dealerships. Moreover, in March 2022, the war in Ukraine had a significant impact on
Ukraine’s automotive supply industry as a result of which BMW Group, for example, had to stop production
temporarily at its Dingolfing plant. The war in Ukraine, certain sanctions imposed against Russia (and
certain territories occupied by Russia) and Russian legal entities and the conflicts in the Middle East have
caused and may continue to cause, for a considerable period of time, a distortion of the supply chains,
and combined with the bottleneck for semiconductors in the recent past, could lead to further production
adjustments and downtimes at BMW Group’s European plants. Russia has likewise imposed its own
sanctions, currency restrictions and regulations and may further take retaliatory trade or other actions,
including the imposition of new counter-sanctions against countries and companies it considers unfriendly
and the nationalization of foreign-owned businesses. More generally, the war in Ukraine has had and will
likely continue to have, a material adverse effect on global and regional economies, the financial markets
and business prospects. In the event the war in Ukraine or the conflicts in the Middle East escalate or
expand further, this may exacerbate such risks significantly. Such shutdowns, work stoppages, downtimes
or other limitations on production at BMW Group or supplier facilities could disrupt BMW Group’s ability
to supply products in the short or long term and thereby materially adversely affect BMW Group’s
reputation, its brand perception, customer preferences and BMW Group's market positions.

Defects in vehicles could lead to recalls, legal and regulatory inquiries, costs or penalties and could
affect BMW Group’s reputation and brand image

BMW Group’s performance depends on its ability to offer competitive prices while maintaining a high level
of quality. BMW Group’s vehicles are complex machines that depend on precise engineering and the
integration of mechanical and electrical systems sourced from a number of production and assembly
plants and suppliers. In addition, the trend towards introduction of new and innovative features and
technology to BMW Group’s vehicles further increases vehicle complexity and the risk of defects. To
achieve efficient production and economies of scale, BMW Group, like other automotive manufacturers,
often uses a core set of components or systems, and a select group of suppliers across vehicle and
product segments. As a result, the increased complexity of modern vehicles coupled with modular-based
production requires BMW Group to maintain exacting compliance and monitoring systems, as defects in
vehicular systems or supplied products can affect a large number of vehicle models.

In addition, meeting or exceeding many government-mandated safety standards is costly and often
technologically challenging, especially where standards may conflict with the need to reduce vehicle
weight in order to meet government-mandated emissions and fuel efficiency standards. Regulations and
standards have affected and, as new standards are continually introduced or interpretations of regulations
and standards change over time, will likely continue to affect vehicle complexity and the adoption of
common systems to achieve compliance. At the same time, applicable laws and governmental standards
also require manufacturers to take actions to remedy defects related to vehicle safety through safety recall
campaigns, and a manufacturer is obligated to recall vehicles if it determines that the vehicles do not
comply with a particular safety standard. Recalls often involve significant costs for BMW Group and can
take many months or years to complete. In addition, defects in products can also lead to customer
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dissatisfaction and safety issues if such defects lead to product failures or unsafe driving conditions, as
well as to reputational damage.

For example, during the year ended 31 December 2023, BMW Group recalled approximately 4.1 million
vehicles worldwide due to a potential defect in the exhaust gas circulation cooler leading to a potential fire
risk. Approximately 1.1 million vehicles were recalled due to a potential defect of the blow-by-heater.
Furthermore, approximately 0.3 million vehicles were subject to a recall in October 2023 due to the
potential loosening and breakage of aluminum bolts securing the housing of the variable camshaft timing
mechanism over time. BMW Group could be subject to further recalls in the future, including to cure
defects in vehicle parts that were supplied by third parties. For example, in May 2023, as part of its ongoing
investigation into airbag inflators manufactured by ARC Automotive, Inc. ("ARC"), the U.S. National
Highway Traffic Safety Administration ("NHTSA"), an agency of the U.S. federal government, issued a
recall request letter to ARC, in which the agency tentatively concluded that a defect related to motor
vehicle safety exists in 67 million frontal driver and passenger air bag inflators manufactured by ARC and
supplied to a number of automakers, including BMW Group, and demanded that ARC issue a voluntary
recall notice for these inflators. In May 2023, ARC disputed the recall request, asserting that no identified
defect trend exists in the inflators and that any problems are related to isolated manufacturing issues.
Following the NHTSA’s initial decision on 5 September 2023 that certain air bag inflators manufactured
by ARC have a safety defect, in December 2023, ten automakers, including BMW of North America, LLC,
voiced their opposition against NHTSA's proposed recall of 52 million air bag driver and passenger
inflators manufactured by ARC. In addition to the ongoing investigation by NHTSA, there are several
putative class actions that have been filed against BMW Group in the United States in 2022 arising out of
allegations that airbag inflators manufactured by ARC are defective. If the NHTSA decides to compel ARC
to arecall, it is possible that car manufacturers, including BMW Group, will have to conduct further recalls,
the total cost of which BMW Group is currently unable to estimate.

Should BMW Group or government safety regulators determine that a safety or other defect or non-
compliance with applicable standards exists in BMW Group’s vehicles prior to the start of production, the
launch of such vehicles could be delayed until such defect is remedied. If defects are discovered following
vehicle production and delivery, BMW Group may be required to undertake recalls or offer fixes or
replacements for vehicle components, including those provided by BMW Group’s suppliers.

For example, several BMW models are equipped with airbags which contain ammonium nitrate as a
propellant. BMW Group is currently involved in litigation with regard to some of these airbags, including
class actions and product liability lawsuits. Moreover, a part of the respective vehicle population was
recalled because of general safety concerns related to this propellant. Such recalls require the
development and production of suitable replacement parts in sufficient quantities and BMW Group must
rely on its specialized airbag suppliers in this regard. The remaining vehicle population is closely
monitored by BMW Group and governmental authorities.

The costs associated with any protracted delay in new model launches necessary to remedy defects,
follow-up costs arising from other changes in planning assumptions or the cost of recall campaigns or
warranty costs to remedy defects in vehicles that have been sold, could be substantial and may be
considerably higher than those budgeted by BMW Group. In such situations, BMW Group could also face
regulatory investigations and fines for non-compliance with various governmental standards or rules or it
could face customer claims and litigation arising from any defects and resulting consequences on product
use or safety. Particularly in the United States, class action lawsuits and product liability risks could have
substantial financial consequences and cause damage to BMW Group’s public image. Furthermore, any
such incidents could also adversely affect BMW Group’s reputation or market acceptance of its products.

Product defects could lead to liability risks and the need for costly replacement measures. Therefore,
BMW Group seeks to hold appropriate insurance policies and takes other precautionary measures. Due
in particular to difficulties in predicting the outcome of litigation proceedings in the United States, there
can be no assurances that individual product liability claims would not exceed the applicable provisions
or any available insurance coverage (see "BMW Group's insurance coverage may not be sufficient or its
insurance premiums may increase").

BMW Group is dependent on its suppliers

BMW Group is dependent on its suppliers in the manufacture of BMW Group’s vehicles. The increasing
trend towards modular-based production with a set of common architectures covering various models and
product lines has also increased BMW Group’s dependence on suppliers and their ability to deliver
products on time and in the required quality.
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Many components used in BMW Group’s vehicles are available only from a single supplier and cannot be
sourced quickly or inexpensively from another supplier, if at all (due to, for example, long lead times or
new contractual commitments that may be required by another supplier before ramping up production to
provide the components or materials). As a result, market and other developments that affect suppliers
and automotive production generally, such as supplier interruptions due to financial distress and natural
disasters, pandemics, increased IT-related risk, as well as capacity constraints as suppliers restructure
and retool to meet shifting consumer preferences across vehicle segments and features, can in turn affect
BMW Group’s vehicle production.

In particular, automotive suppliers could face increased economic distress due to a sudden and
substantial drop in industry deliveries and production stoppages. Lower industry deliveries could, in turn,
make existing debt obligations and fixed cost levels difficult for suppliers to manage, increasing pressure
on BMW Group’s supplier base. BMW Group might be required to provide financial assistance to key
suppliers to ensure an uninterrupted supply of materials and components. In addition, where suppliers
have exited certain lines of business or closed facilities due to an economic downturn or other reasons,
BMW Group has generally experienced additional costs associated with transitioning to new suppliers.

In addition to the general risks regarding interruption of supplies, which are particularly acute in the case
of single-source suppliers, the exclusive supplier of a key component could potentially exert significant
bargaining power over price, quality, warranty claims or other terms relating to a particular component or
materials. In particular, suppliers could be unwilling to reduce prices, and some might even request direct
or indirect price increases as well as new and shorter payment terms.

The increasing complexity of the supplier network, particularly in the case of sub-suppliers whose
operations can only be indirectly monitored by BMW Group, could lead to further downtimes at supplier
locations and thereby have an adverse impact on BMW Group’s production. For example, strong demand
on international semiconductor markets or manufacturing or other problems at suppliers caused and may
continue to cause bottlenecks in the supply of electronic components BMW Group uses in production,
and a shortage of such electronic components has resulted in an interruption and/or volume decrease of
BMW Group’s production. In addition, the war in Ukraine, which led to a temporary halt in production at
BMW Group’s Dingolfing plant in March 2022, along with escalating conflicts and deteriorating transport
security in the Red Sea region, which has led to an increase in prices, may exacerbate supply bottlenecks,
disrupting BMW Group’s production in other countries.

The increased threat of cyberattacks along the entire value chain also affects supply security as well as
the ability to protect know-how relevant to BMW Group. For example, in the recent past, cybersecurity
attacks on the supply chain have resulted in temporary production stoppages, exacerbating BMW Group’s
supply chain risks. Such bottlenecks may be exacerbated further by geopolitical tensions, for example
between China and Taiwan, which could disrupt the operations of companies in Taiwan that are critical to
the global supply of semiconductors. Specifically, increased export controls, sanctions and other
restrictive or legislative measures (e.g., the U.S. Uyghur Forced Labor Prevention Act or the German Act
on Corporate Due Diligence Obligations in Supply Chains) could negatively affect BMW Group’s cross-
border supply chain or delay the delivery of parts or automobiles from one market to another. See also,
"Export controls, sanctions, tariffs and other trade barriers could affect BMW Group's ability to produce,
market and sell its products across global markets and affect BMW Group's supply chains". While BMW
Group has established a detailed supplier pre-selection process as part of its efforts to maintain
relationships with high-quality, reliable suppliers, there can be no assurances that supplier issues would
not have adverse consequences for BMW Group, ranging from increased expenditures to production
interruptions and a corresponding reduction in sales volume. In particular, supplier problems may require
BMW Group to invest in new technological concepts and production methods, even unexpectedly, or
discontinue planned innovations, increasing production costs above anticipated levels.

BMW Group is dependent on information technology and the integrity of its information and data

The importance of electronically processed data continues to increase, with information technology (IT)
playing an increasingly crucial role in every aspect of BMW Group’s business. BMW Group could suffer
adverse consequences if the confidentiality, integrity or availability of its sensitive information and data is
not maintained.

BMW Group is dependent on the efficient and uninterrupted functionality of its servers and data
processing systems. If an interruption or breakdown of BMW Group’s servers or data processing systems
affecting the operation of one or more of its businesses occurs, this may have a detrimental impact on
BMW Group’s operations. Moreover, in a centralized and standardized IT environment, excessive
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dependence on a single system or a single data center could lead to serious consequences for BMW
Group in the event of a system failure. Due to its worldwide operations, BMW Group strongly depends on
complex IT. Also, the demands placed on IT facilities, both externally and internally, are changing at a
rapid pace in the face of technological developments.

As a result of the increasing complexity of electronic information and communication technology, BMW
Group is exposed to various risks in this context, ranging from the loss or theft of data to stoppages and
interruptions of BMW Group’s IT systems. Indirectly, BMW Group could also be exposed to reputational
risks, which are difficult to quantify.

BMW Group's information technology could malfunction, be subject to cybercrimes or be otherwise
disrupted

BMW Group depends on its information technology and data processing systems for the operation of its
business. Such systems are susceptible to malfunctions and interruptions due to equipment damage,
power outages, and hardware, software and network problems. They are also susceptible to cybercrime
or threats of intentional disruption, which have increased in sophistication and frequency in recent years.
In addition, such cyber incidents may remain undetected for extended periods of time. BMW Group may
experience system malfunctions or interruptions, which could adversely affect its ability to maintain the
uninterrupted operation of its business. A malfunction or cyberattack that results in broad or sustained
disruption to BMW Group’s information technology systems could have a material adverse effect on its
business, results of operations and financial condition, damage its reputation and subject BMW Group to
regulatory actions or litigation. BMW Group depends to a significant extent on confidential business
information, including car design, proprietary technology and trade secrets; to the extent the confidentiality
of such information is compromised, BMW Group may lose its competitive advantage and its vehicle sales
may decrease.

In addition to supporting its operations, BMW Group uses its systems to collect and store confidential and
sensitive data, including information about its business, customers and employees. As BMW Group’s
technology continues to evolve, it anticipates that it will collect and store even more data in the future,
and that its systems will increasingly use remote communication features. Any unauthorized access to
such systems may compromise the privacy of BMW Group’s customers’ and employees' information and
expose BMW Group to litigation, regulatory scrutiny and reputational damage. Any significant compromise
in the integrity of BMW Group’s data security and information technology systems could have a material
adverse effect on its business, results of operations and financial condition.

Due to the war and political uncertainty involving Russia and Ukraine, there is also an increased likelihood
of cyber-attacks, cybersecurity incidents or other forms of hostility that could either directly or indirectly
impact BMW Group’s operations. Any attempts by cyber attackers or otherwise hostile parties seeking to
disrupt BMW Group’s services or systems or the services or systems of its suppliers, if successful, could
result in production stoppages, be expensive to remedy and damage its reputation or brand. Insurance
may not be sufficient to cover significant expenses and losses related to such cyber-attacks, cybersecurity
incidents and other forms of hostility.

The electronic control systems contained in BMW Group's vehicles could be compromised

BMW Group’s vehicles contain complex systems that control various vehicle processes including engine,
transmission, safety, steering, brakes, window and door lock functions. These electronic control systems,
which are increasingly connected to external cloud-based systems, are susceptible to cybercrime,
including threats of intentional disruptions, loss of control over the vehicle, loss of functionality or services
and theft of personal information and sensitive data. These disruptions are likely to increase in terms of
sophistication and frequency as the level of connectivity and autonomy in BMW Group’s vehicles
increases. BMW Group may also be required by law in certain jurisdictions to provide access to its
electronic control systems to third parties, which could increase the risk of such control systems being
compromised. In addition, BMW Group may rely on third parties for connectivity and automation
technology and services, including for the collection of BMW Group’s customers’ data. These third parties
could unlawfully resell or otherwise misuse such information or suffer data breaches. A significant
malfunction, disruption or security breach compromising the electronic control systems contained in BMW
Group’s vehicles could damage BMW Group’s reputation, reduce BMW Group’s vehicle sales, subject
BMW Group to regulatory actions or litigation and have a material adverse effect on its business, financial
condition and results of operations.
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Autonomous driving is an emerging technology and involves significant risks and uncertainties

Autonomous driving technologies involve a number of risks, including accidents and fatalities. The safety
of such technologies depends, in part, on user interaction and users as well as other drivers on the
roadways, who may not be accustomed to using or adapting to such technologies. To the extent accidents
associated with BMW Group’s autonomous driving systems occur, BMW Group could be subject to
regulatory actions or litigation, negative publicity and government scrutiny. Any of the foregoing could
have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, financial condition and results of operations.

BMW Group and other companies continue to develop autonomous vehicle technologies, and many
governments across the globe, including the United States and Germany, are continuing to develop the
regulatory frameworks that will govern autonomous vehicles. The evolution of the regulatory frameworks
for autonomous vehicles, and the pace of the development of such regulatory frameworks, may subject
BMW Group to increased costs and uncertainty, and may ultimately impact BMW Group’s ability to deliver
autonomous vehicles and related services that customers demand.

BMW Group's ability to effectively market and distribute its products is an integral part of its sales model

BMW Group’s success in the sale of vehicles depends on its ability to market and distribute effectively
based on distribution networks and sales techniques tailored to the needs of its customers. Further, in
many jurisdictions, BMW Group’s products are sold by independent automotive dealers, with whom BMW
Group must maintain relationships and which it must integrate into its marketing, sales and product
strategies. There can be no assurances that BMW Group will be able to develop sales techniques and
distribution networks that effectively adapt to changing customer preferences or changes in the regulatory
environment or local business practice in the major markets in which it operates.

In addition, laws and regulations in many jurisdictions govern sales practices and provide for
governmental and private rights of action to address non-compliant practices. Failure to maintain well-
developed sales techniques and distribution networks may result in decreased sales and market share or
regulatory and legal inquiries and claims and could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s
business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.

BMW Group is party to a number of "take-or-pay" contracts

BMW Group has entered into a number of long-term supply contracts that require it to purchase a fixed
quantity of parts to be used in the production of its vehicles. If BMW Group’s need for any of these parts
were to decrease, it could still be required to purchase a specified quantity of the parts or pay a minimum
amount to the seller pursuant to the take-or-pay contract, which could have a material adverse effect on
BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.

BMW Group is dependent on good relationships with its employees and unions

BMW Group’s success is highly dependent on its employees and their expertise. Competition for highly
qualified staff and management is very intense in the industry and the regions in which BMW Group
operates. BMW Group’s future success also depends on the extent to which it succeeds over the long
term in recruiting, integrating and retaining executives, engineers and other specialists. Because of
demographic developments, BMW Group must cope with changes relating to an aging workforce and
must attract a sufficient number of qualified young talent with the potential to become the next generation
of highly-skilled specialists and executives.

Further, personnel expenses are a major cost for BMW Group. Employees at BMW Group’s German
locations and at a number of foreign subsidiaries have traditionally been heavily unionized. When current
collective bargaining agreements and collective wage agreements expire, BMW Group may not be able
to conclude new agreements on terms and conditions that it considers to be reasonable. Moreover, BMW
Group may be able to conclude such agreements only after industrial actions, such as strikes or similar
measures. In addition, BMW Group’s competitors may obtain competitive advantages if they succeed in
negotiating collective wage agreements on better terms and conditions than BMW Group. Foreign
competitors, in particular, may also obtain competitive advantages due to more flexible legal
environments.

BMW Group is dependent on good relationships with its joint venture partners and independent dealers

BMW Group has entered, and may from time to time enter, into joint ventures with strategic partners for
research and development and market launches, particularly in emerging and developing markets and
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with respect to large projects. One such relationship that is particularly important relates to BMW
Brilliance, which produces, markets and sells various BMW brand models for the Chinese market. With
effect from 11 February 2022, BMW Group increased its stake in BMW Brilliance from 50% to 75%, and
the entity has since been fully consolidated in the financial statements of BMW Group. In its joint venture
agreements, BMW Group has undertaken various obligations. If it were to fail to fulfil such obligations, in
whole or in part, BMW Group could become subject to claims for damages and contractual penalties or
the relevant joint venture agreement could be terminated. In addition, a breach of contract by joint venture
partners or unforeseen events may impair the successful implementation of a project.

Moreover, the success of BMW Group’s joint ventures requires that the partners constructively pursue the
same goals. If BMW Group were to decide to divest its shareholdings or to withdraw from a joint venture,
it might not be able to find a buyer for its shares or be able to sell such shares for other reasons, or its
joint venture partner may claim damages.

Additionally, it is possible that BMW Group’s partners may use, outside of the scope of the joint venture
project, technologies acquired in the course of the joint venture or otherwise misappropriate trade secrets
or competitive advantages from the relationship.

If any of these risks were to materialize, BMW Group might lose orders and customers and jeopardize its
strategic market position in the relevant markets which, in turn, may result in a time-consuming and costly
search for alternative partners and the loss of investments already made. The occurrence of these risks
could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition and results
of operations.

In addition, BMW Group is dependent on a network of independent dealers marketing and selling BMW
Group’s vehicles and providing warranty and other after-sale services, in each case, to end customers.
Any deterioration in BMW Group’s relationship with such dealers, for example because of supply issues
or changed procedures and requirements imposed by BMW Group that adversely impact, or that are
perceived by such dealers to adversely impact, dealers, could impact BMW Group’s sales and have a
material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition and results of
operations.

Financial Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group

BMW Group has significant pension obligations to current and past employees which could increase
due to factors beyond BMW Group's control

BMW Group’s pension obligations to employees resulting from defined benefit plans are measured on the
basis of actuarial reports. Future pension payments are discounted by reference to market yields on high-
quality corporate bonds. These yields are subject to market fluctuation and therefore influence the level
of pension obligations. Changes in other parameters, such as extended periods of low interest rates,
increases in inflation and longer life expectancy, also impact pension obligations and payments. Changes
in factors beyond BMW Group’s control could lead to funding shortfalls relating to pension obligations,
which could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or
results of operations.

BMW Group is exposed to volatility and changes in foreign currency exchange rates, arising from its
international production, distribution and sales networks

As an internationally operating enterprise, BMW Group conducts business in a variety of currencies, thus
giving rise to currency risks. Since a substantial portion of BMW Group’s revenue is generated outside
the eurozone (particularly in China (renminbi), the United States (U.S. dollar) and the United Kingdom
(British pound)) and the procurement of production materials and funding is also organized on a worldwide
basis, fluctuations in currency exchange rates may have a significant impact on BMW Group’s earnings.

BMW Group measures currency exposure using cash-flow-at-risk models and scenario analyses. In
addition, BMW Group is also exposed to currency translation risk, as the financial statements of foreign
consolidated subsidiaries prepared in a foreign currency are translated into euro, with income and
expenses translated at the average currency exchange rate and assets and liabilities translated at the
closing rate for the relevant period.

BMW Group seeks to manage currency exchange risks on both a strategic (medium- and long-term) and
operating level (short- and medium-term). Medium- and long-term measures include increasing
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production volumes in non-euro-region countries (natural hedging) and increasing purchase volumes
denominated in foreign currencies. Currency exchange risks are managed in the short to medium term
and, for operational purposes, by means of hedging. Nevertheless, changes in currency exchange rates
cannot always be predicted or hedged, and there can be no assurance that BMW Group’s strategies will
be successful in mitigating currency exchange risks.

The success of BMW Group's financial services business depends on vehicles' residual values
developments

BMW Group leases and finances a substantial amount of vehicles. For the vehicles it leases, BMW Group
projects expected residual values and return volumes. Actual proceeds BMW Group realizes upon the
sale of returned leased vehicles at lease termination may be lower than the amount projected, which
would reduce the profitability of the lease transaction.

The residual value risk could be influenced by many different external factors. A decline in the residual
value of used vehicles could be caused by initiatives to promote sales of new vehicles, which was evident
during the global financial and economic crisis when incentive programs were offered by certain
governments (for example, scrapping premium) and automobile manufacturers. Among other things,
BMW Group was required to increase existing loss provisioning for residual value risks in the past. A
similar situation could occur in the future, including due to renewed deterioration of the macroeconomic
environment.

Changes in economic conditions government policies, exchange rates, marketing programs, changes in
customer preferences, the actual or perceived quality, safety or reliability of vehicles or fuel prices could
also influence the residual value risk. For instance, driving bans for diesel vehicles could influence the
residual value risk of the relevant portfolio. Due to the fact that customers might change their consumption
behavior and refrain from buying diesel vehicles, these bans could have a negative impact on the
corresponding market prices of such vehicles. The residual value risk could therefore increase and could
materially adversely affect BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.

The development of residual value risks could also be influenced by e-mobility. On the one hand, rapid
technical progress in the field of battery technology that increases vehicle ranges could lead to increasing
residual value risks in existing electric vehicle portfolios, as customer demand for outdated technologies
declines, especially in the first few years. On the other hand, due to substitution effects, sales of electric
cars as a result of changing customer behavior could have a negative impact on the residual values of
conventional combustion engine vehicles. Such e-mobility developments and the impact on residual value
risks are difficult to predict.

In addition, BMW Group could face an increasing residual value risk as a result of any pandemic or
epidemic. A further drop in consumer demand could require that new vehicles be sold at a significant
discount, which could have a material impact on the residual value of used vehicles. In addition, consumer
demand for used vehicles may also decline, which could further impact the residual values of used
vehicles. Decreasing residual values and resulting residual value risks could influence both BMW Group
(direct residual value risk) and the dealers which are financed by BMW Group (indirect residual value
risk). Consequently, BMW Group may have to post direct write-offs on its portfolio or build higher loss
allowances, which would have a material adverse effect on earnings.

BMW Group is dependent on securing financing on attractive terms to provide liquidity to develop its
business.

BMW Group relies on access to the capital markets to fund its operations and to grow its business. In the
normal course of business, BMW Group makes use of bonds, commercial paper and securitized
transactions as well as bank credit facilities in various currencies, primarily to finance BMW Group’s
leasing and sales-financing business. Any negative development in the capital markets, including any
deterioration as a result of the bank failures or crises, could increase BMW Group’s financing costs or
ability to access capital and sources of financing.

More expensive refinancing would also have a negative effect on the competitiveness and profitability of
BMW Group’s financial services business if it were unable to pass on the higher refinancing costs to its
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customers. A limitation of the financial services business would have a negative impact on the automotive
business if it affects consumers' ability to purchase BMW Group’s vehicles.

The current credit ratings with Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s are A2 and A respectively. In 2021, both
Moody’s and Standard & Poor’s changed the outlook on their long-term credit ratings for BMW AG from
"negative" to "stable" and confirmed the ratings at A2 and A respectively. A decrease of BMW AG’s credit
rating could impact BMW Group’s ability to obtain financing, or to obtain financing on terms favorable to
BMW Group. If any of these financial risks were to materialize, this could have a material adverse effect
on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.

BMW Group is exposed to interest rate risks through its various financing programs

Interest rate risks relate to potential losses caused by changes in market interest rates, such as those
recently seen, and can arise when fixed interest rate periods for assets and liabilities recognized in the
statement of financial position do not match. Interest rate risks are managed by raising refinancing funds
with matching maturities and by employing interest rate derivatives. BMW Group monitors and manages
these exposures as an integral part of its overall risk management program which recognizes the
unpredictability of markets and seeks to reduce potentially adverse effects on its business. Nevertheless,
changes in interest rates cannot always be predicted or adequately hedged.

BMW Group is dependent on its counterparties maintaining their operations and creditworthiness

Credit and counterparty default risk arises if a contractual partner (e.g., a customer or dealer) either
becomes unable, or is only partially able, to fulfil its contractual obligations, such that lower income is
generated or losses are incurred. BMW Group uses a variety of rating systems in order to assess the
creditworthiness of its contractual partners, but there can be no assurances that such systems will be
effective in all circumstances or that contractual parties will maintain sufficient creditworthiness over the
course of a contractual relationship.

Credit risk typically arises from the possibility of loss from a customer’s or dealer’s failure to make
payments according to contract terms, particularly in BMW Group’s leasing and financing business. Credit
risk (which is dependent upon economic factors including unemployment, consumer debt service
burdens, personal income growth, dealer profitability and used car prices) has a significant impact on
BMW Group’s business. If BMW Group experiences a high or unexpected level of credit losses, it could
materially adversely affect its business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.

Changes in deliveries can have a substantial effect on BMW Group's cash flow and profitability as BMW
Group has a high proportion of relatively fixed structural costs

Because BMW Group, like other manufacturers, has a high proportion of relatively fixed structural costs,
even comparatively small changes in deliveries can have a substantial effect on its cash flow and
profitability. If sales were to decline to levels significantly below BMW Group’s planning assumptions or
BMW Group’s business were to be otherwise significantly disrupted, particularly in the United States,
China or Europe, due to financial crises, recessions, significant currency exchange rate movements,
geopolitical events, pandemics, trade barriers or other factors, it could have a material adverse effect on
BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.

BMW Group’s insurance coverage may not be sufficient or its insurance premiums may increase

BMW Group maintains insurance coverage in relation to a number of risks associated with its business
activities that are subject to standard exclusions, such as willful misconduct. However, BMW Group may
suffer losses or claimants may bring claims against BMW Group that exceed the type and scope of its
existing insurance coverage. Significant losses could lead to higher insurance premium payments. In
addition, there are certain risks for which BMW Group does not maintain coverage based on BMW Group’s
cost-benefit analysis, and it therefore has no insurance coverage against the occurrence of these events.
If BMW Group sustains damage for which there is no insurance coverage or insufficient insurance
coverage, or if it has to pay higher insurance premiums or encounters restrictions on insurance coverage,
this could materially adversely affect its business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.
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Legal and Regulatory Risks relating to BMW AG and BMW Group

Increased safety, emissions, fuel-efficiency or other regulations could lead to substantial costs and
disruptions in automotive markets

Over the past few years, the global market for automobiles, particularly in established markets, has been
characterized by increasing demand for more environmentally friendly vehicles and technologies. As a
result, government regulation has developed, and proposals for additional regulation have advanced,
primarily out of concern for the environment (including concerns about global climate change and its
impact as well as potential implications, whether legal or factual, stemming from legal proceedings or
court decisions), vehicle safety and energy independence. These regulations, particularly in the areas of
emissions, fuel efficiency and safety, are continually evolving, including as a result of varying or changing
interpretations by courts and authorities, requiring BMW Group to spend significant resources to plan for,
and adapt its products to, these developments. In addition, many governments regulate local product
content or impose import requirements as a means of creating jobs, protecting domestic producers and
influencing the balance of payments. A number of governments, as well as non-governmental
organizations ("NGOs"), also publicly assess vehicles based on their own protocols. Such protocols could
change significantly, and any negative perception regarding the performance of BMW Group’s vehicles
subjected to such tests could reduce future sales.

For example, under Regulation (EU) 2019/631, which defines the EU fleet-wide CO2 emission targets,
manufacturers will have to meet a fleet CO2 average in Europe that is 15% lower in 2025 as compared
to 2021, as measured under Worldwide Harmonized Light Vehicles Test Procedures ("WLTP"), and, by
2030, the EU average will have to decrease by 55% compared to the 2021 target under the WLTP, each
subject to certain automotive portfolio considerations and transition periods. Moreover, a new paragraph
has been added that sets a fleet wide reduction target of 100% compared to 2021 under the WLTP. In
addition, in December 2023, a political agreement was reached in the EU regarding the Euro 7 regulation.
All new light-duty vehicles (cars and vans) sold from 2028 (the exact date depends on the formal date of
effectiveness of the new legislation) may not emit more than 60 mg/km of NOx. for gasoline and 80 mg/km
of NOx for diesel. For the first time, the Euro 7 regulation will address brake wear emissions, tyre abrasion
and durability requirements for high voltage battery of electrified vehicles. The political agreement has yet
to be confirmed by the European Parliament and Council and is expected to come into force in July 2024.

The EU has lowered the legally mandated fleet-wide carbon emissions target to 0 g/km for 2035,
necessitating the complete electrification of the passenger car new vehicle fleet by that year. In addition,
the European Commission is working on a proposal to assess the recognition of vehicles powered solely
by e-fuels as zero-emission vehicles. A review scheduled for 2026 will evaluate the necessary framework
conditions to meet the 2035 zero emissions target, with risks stemming from factors such as renewable
energy availability, insufficient private and public charging infrastructure, and limited resources for electric
drive construction.

The BMW Group is also subject to regulatory requirements in other key markets, including China. For
example, pursuant to the "Administrative Rules on the Admission of New Energy Vehicle Manufacturers
and Products" promulgated by China’s Ministry of Industry and Information Technology in January 2017
and amended in July 2020, a so-called "new energy vehicle" ("NEV") quota applies to all new vehicles
sold in China, requiring every car manufacturer to increase the share of electric vehicles in its production
and import volume.

The NEV mandate for 2021 to 2023 was officially released and set the NEV quota to 14% in 2021, 16%
in 2022 and 18% in 2023, but the credit earned for each NEV is reduced by up to 50%. The 2024-2025
NEV quota was officially released and set to 28% for 2024 and to 38% for 2025. According to Chinese
guidelines, the proportion of NEV among all new automobiles should reach 45% by the year 2027.

In general, there is a clear move towards increasingly stringent vehicle emissions regulations, particularly
for conventional drive systems, not only in the developed markets of Europe and North America, but also
in emerging markets such as China. Moreover, further tightening and scrutiny could be forthcoming given
the ongoing focus on emissions testing and on-road performance, particularly with respect to diesel
engines, which could lead to significant additional investments to comply with new regulations as well as
risks of limited market availability of products. In addition, several state and local governments, and in
particular those of major cities, have increased their focus on diesel emissions and have introduced or
proposed regulations seeking to shift consumers from use of diesel vehicles. Such diesel vehicle
restrictions could require BMW Group to take additional measures to meet applicable CO2 emissions
targets, in particular if the proportion of number of diesel vehicles sold across BMW Group’s fleet
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decreases considerably relative to the number of other vehicles sold which have relatively higher levels
of CO2 emissions. There are limits to BMW Group’s ability to achieve fuel efficiency improvements over
a given timeframe, primarily relating to the cost and effectiveness of available technologies, consumer
acceptance of new technologies and changes in vehicle characteristics, willingness of consumers to
absorb the additional costs of new technologies, the suitability of certain technologies for use in particular
vehicles, the widespread availability of supporting infrastructure for new technologies, as well as the
human, engineering, and financial resources necessary to deploy new technologies across a wide range
of products and powertrains in a short period of time.

Moreover, the potential threat of short-term tightening of laws and regulations, including local registration,
usage restrictions, congestion charges and driving bans, as illustrated by the restrictions on issuing
license plates in Chinese metropolitan areas and the banning of certain diesel-powered vehicles in certain
restricted areas within some European cities, could further affect the automotive industry. In some cases,
changes in customer behavior are not only brought on by new regulations but also through changes of
opinion, values and environmental issues, which could be affected by perceptions of the industry as a
whole. Among other factors, concerns about global climate change are affecting legislation, regulations
and consumer behavior, which could affect demand for vehicles and the residual value of these vehicles,
or requirements to develop new solutions for personal mobility. For example, the ongoing political and
public discussion on diesel engines, particularly in Europe, could further adversely affect demand for
diesel vehicles. Additionally, a potential tightening of consumer protection laws could result in a greater
number of recalls.

In addition, BMW Group has been and may in the future be the target of complaints, claims or litigation,
including complaints, claims or litigation brought by regulatory or governmental bodies, NGOs, including
environmental groups or agencies, or individuals regarding alleged violations of regulations on emissions,
fuel efficiency or other requirements, seeking changes in BMW Group’s products or business practices,
fines, damages or injunctive relief against BMW Group. See also "BMW Group is required to comply with
numerous laws and regulations in multiple jurisdictions" for further information. There can be no assurance
that such allegations will not lead to inquiries, investigations, or other legal actions against BMW Group
by regulatory or governmental authorities or others. Any regulatory inquiries or investigations and lawsuits
against BMW Group, and perceptions of inappropriate business conduct or wrongdoing by BMW Group,
among other things, could substantially damage BMW Group’s reputation regardless of their merits, and
cause BMW Group to incur significant costs to defend itself.

The cost to comply with existing government regulations is substantial, and such costs are likely to
increase further in the future, given the expected increased scrutiny, regulatory changes that result in
increased stringency or novel interpretations of rules or regulations. For example, in several recent
judgments, the European Court of Justice ("ECJ") has ruled on emission control systems in diesel vehicles
and has significantly tightened requirements pertaining to the justification of these systems. As a result of
these new judgments by the ECJ, the interpretation of regulatory requirements for emission control
systems is evolving. Alleged violations of emission standards or other requirements based on changed
interpretations of existing rules could result in government investigations or other legal proceedings. In
addition, failure to comply with applicable regulations, including due to changed interpretations thereof,
could lead to the imposition of fines, damages, recalls, reputational harm or a combination of any of those
items. Any of these actions could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets,
financial condition or results of operations.

BMW Group may face increasing scrutiny related to environmental, social and governance matters that
may impact its business

Recent years have seen an increase in stakeholder and regulatory attention paid to environmental, social
and governance ("ESG") matters, including diversity and inclusion, environmental stewardship and
transparency and ESG considerations in the supply chains of companies. For example, in February 2022,
the European Commission published its proposal for the Corporate Sustainability Due Diligence Directive
("CSDDD"), which imposes the obligation on certain companies to perform ESG due diligence on parties
operating within their supply chain to determine whether or not their products may lead to adverse human
rights and environmental consequences. On March 15, 2024, the European Council has voted for the
CSDDD and it is expected that the European Parliament will pass the CSDDD in April 2024. However, the
legislative process is still pending. The United States has also adopted legislation restricting the use of
certain suppliers, as well as products mined, produced, or manufactured, wholly or in part, from certain
regions, due to ESG considerations. A lack of harmonization globally in relation to ESG reform and the
different pace at which legislators and regulators across the globe operate creates uncertainty and the
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risk of fragmentation. BMW Group could be exposed to reputational damage, fines and other sanctions
and its business and financial condition could be materially and adversely affected due to a failure to
comply with or meet applicable legal and regulatory requirements (and related interpretations) or
stakeholder or market expectations in relation to ESG matters, or if BMW Group is perceived as not having
responded appropriately to the growing concern for ESG issues, regardless of whether there is a legal
requirement to do so. Increasing attention to climate change (e.g., greenhouse gas emissions), including
the increasing societal expectations on businesses to address climate change, may result in increased
costs, reduced profits, increased investigations and litigation, and negative impacts on the Group’s ability
to access capital markets.

While BMW Group may at times engage in voluntary initiatives (such as voluntary disclosures,
certifications, practices or goals, among others) to improve its ESG profile or to respond to stakeholder
expectations, such initiatives may be costly and may not achieve the desired effect. Expectations around
BMW Group’s management of ESG matters continues to evolve rapidly, in many instances due to factors
that are out of BMW Group’s control. If BMW Group fails, or is perceived to fail, to comply with or advance
certain ESG initiatives (including the timeline and manner in which initiatives are completed), it may be
subject to various adverse impacts, including reputational damage, allegations of "greenwashing" and
potential stakeholder engagement and/or litigation, even if such initiatives are currently voluntary.

BMW Group is subject to international trade restrictions, such as economic sanctions and export controls
of the United States and other applicable jurisdictions, and BMW Group’s failure to comply with such
restrictions could materially adversely affect its reputation and results of operations

BMW Group is subject to trade restrictions imposed by governments around the world with jurisdiction
over BMW Group’s operations, including economic sanctions administered and enforced by the U.S.
Department of Treasury’s Office of Foreign Assets Control ("OFAC") and the U.S. Department of State
and export controls administered and enforced by the U.S. Department of Commerce. Such laws and
regulations prohibit or restrict certain operations, trade practices, investment decisions, and partnering
activities, including dealings with certain countries or territories, and with certain designated persons.

If BMW Group fails to comply with applicable trade restrictions, it could be subject to significant civil or
criminal penalties or other remedial measures, which could adversely affect BMW Group’s business and
financial condition. In addition, BMW Group employees, dealers or independent import companies may
engage in conduct for which BMW Group might be held responsible. BMW Group’s failure to comply with
these laws and regulations also may expose it to reputational harm. Further, internal or governmental
investigations related to alleged violations — even in the absence of an actual or confirmed legal violation
— could be expensive and disruptive. BMW Group maintains policies and procedures reasonably designed
to ensure compliance with applicable trade restrictions, including prohibiting the sale of BMW Group
vehicles in certain countries or territories. However, BMW Group cannot assure that its policies and
procedures will effectively prevent possible violations, including violations related to the unauthorized
diversion of vehicles to countries, territories or persons that are the target of economic sanctions or other
international trade restrictions.

BMW Group is exposed to environmental and related liability risks

BMW Group operates complex industrial plants that manufacture, use, store, emit and dispose of various
substances that may constitute a hazard to human life and health as well as to the environment and
natural resources. In the past, environmentally hazardous substances from those operations may have
entered and in the future may enter the air, watercourses (especially groundwater), or surface or
subsurface soils at BMW Group’s facilities or third-party locations, and the environment, natural
resources, human health, life and safety of persons and property may have been or may be affected or
endangered otherwise because of such substances. BMW Group may be jointly or severally liable,
possibly regardless of fault and without any caps on liability, to remove or clean up such harm and to pay
damages, including any resulting natural resource damages, arising from those environmentally
hazardous substances. These risks could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net
assets, financial position and results of operations.

BMW Group is required to comply with numerous laws and regulations in multiple jurisdictions

Compliance with laws is a basic prerequisite for the success of BMW Group. Current laws provide the
binding framework for BMW Group’s various business activities around the world. The growing
international scale of operations of BMW Group, the complexity of the business world and a broad set of
complex legal (including, for example, tax, antitrust, customs, export controls and sanctions) regulations
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potentially applicable to BMW Group’s business increase the risk of non-compliance with applicable laws,
simply because they are not known, fully understood or are subject to varying interpretations.

BMW Group has established a compliance organization aimed at ensuring that its representative bodies,
managers and staff act in a lawful manner at all times. Nevertheless, there remains a risk that BMW
Group’s employees may not act in compliance with applicable statutory provisions or BMW Group's
compliance systems (including with respect to antitrust, anti-corruption, export control or consumer
protection laws) or that BMW Group’s internal controls and compliance systems are not adequate to
maintain compliance with applicable laws and that, as a result, penalties, liabilities or additional
compliance costs could be imposed on BMW Group. For example, as a result of several recent judgments
by the ECJ, the interpretation of regulatory requirements for emission control systems is evolving. This is
reflected, among other things, by the fact that established administrative practices of type approval
authorities are being questioned from numerous sides. This development leads to a reassessment of civil
proceedings pending in Germany due to the emissions performance of BMW and MINI diesel vehicles.
An increase in the effort and complexity of defending itself in such cases, an increasing number of new
court proceedings, increased legal risks and increased financial expenditure are expected. In addition,
the German federal market surveillance authority in Germany (the "KBA") (Kraftfahrt-Bundesamt)
determined in February 2024 that two functionalities of the emission control system of the BMW vehicle
model X3 with 2.0-liter diesel engine (EU5) built between September 2010 and March 2014 do not comply
with legal requirements. Also, against the background of the development in case law referred to above,
it is possible that further authorities and/or courts find fault with functionalities of the emission control
systems or deem them as non-compliant with legal requirements. See also "Increased safety, emissions,
fuel-efficiency or other regulations could lead to substantial costs and disruptions in automotive markets".

BMW Group is confronted with legal disputes relating, in particular, to warranty claims, sales practices,
product liability and infringements of protected rights. Further, BMW Group may also be subject to
information requests, inquiries, investigations and other proceedings initiated by governmental agencies,
as well as legal actions relating to safety, environmental, antitrust, securities, criminal and other laws and
regulations. If these or other inquiries, investigations, legal actions and/or proceedings result in
unfavorable findings, an unfavorable outcome or otherwise develop unfavorably, including as a result of
varying or changing interpretations of applicable laws and regulations by courts, BMW Group could be
subject to significant monetary penalties, remediation requirements, vehicle recalls, process
improvements, mitigation measures or other sanctions, measures and actions, including further
investigations by these or other authorities and additional litigation. Further, a negative determination or
finding with respect to technical or legal issues by one governmental agency could result in other agencies
also adopting such determination or finding, even if such determination or finding is not within the scope
of such authority’s responsibility or jurisdiction. Thus, a negative determination or finding in one
proceeding carries the risk of having an adverse effect on the outcome of other proceedings, also
potentially leading to new or expanded investigations or proceedings.

When known and quantifiable, BMW Group seeks to recognize appropriate levels of provisions for
lawsuits in accordance with applicable accounting standards. It cannot be ruled out that losses from
damages could arise which are either not covered or not fully covered by provisions. Some risks cannot
be assessed in full or cannot be provided for in BMW Group’s accounts, and new legal risks, as yet
unidentified, could also materialize.

BMW Group is also subject to data protection laws such as the German Federal Data Protection Act
(Bundesdatenschutzgesetz) and the EU General Data Protection Regulation (the "GDPR"). The GDPR
provides for significant potential fines for non-compliance. Unauthorized access to information stored by
BMW Group or by a third party, including failure to detect such access or to notify data subjects in a timely
manner, may cause damage to BMW Group’s reputation, constitute infringement of administrative and
criminal law and grant the affected persons a right to damage claims against BMW Group.

BMW Group is dependent on its compliance and risk management systems

BMW Group’s compliance and risk management systems may prove to be inadequate to prevent and
discover breaches of laws and regulations and to identify, measure and take appropriate countermeasures
against all relevant risks.

In connection with BMW Group’s worldwide business operations, it must comply with a broad range of
legal and regulatory requirements in a number of jurisdictions and local operational business processes,
particularly relating to sales practices. Moreover, BMW Group has expanded its worldwide operations in
recent years, particularly in China and emerging markets, increasing the scope of applicable regulations
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and operational practices. BMW Group has a compliance management system that supports its
operational business processes, helps to ensure compliance with legislative provisions and, where
necessary, initiates appropriate countermeasures. There can be no assurances that BMW Group’s
internal controls and compliance systems are adequate to address all applicable risks in every jurisdiction.

Members of BMW Group’s governing bodies, employees, authorized representatives or agents may
intentionally or unintentionally violate applicable laws and internal standards and procedures. BMW Group
may not be able to identify such violations, evaluate them correctly or take appropriate countermeasures.
Furthermore, BMW Group’s compliance and risk management systems may not be appropriate given its
size, complexity and geographical diversification and may fail for various reasons.

The occurrence of these risks may result in reputational loss and adverse legal consequences, such as
the imposition of fines, sanctions and penalties on BMW Group or the members of BMW Group’s
governing bodies or employees and could lead to the assertion of damage claims by third parties or to
other detrimental legal consequences, including civil and criminal penalties. BMW Group is particularly
exposed to these risks with respect to its non-controlling interests and joint ventures, where it is difficult
and, in some cases, possible only to a limited extent, to integrate these entities fully into BMW Group’s
compliance and risk management system.

Unusual or significant litigation, governmental investigations or adverse publicity could adversely affect
BMW Group

Compliance with governmental standards does not necessarily prevent individual or class action lawsuits,
which can entail significant cost and risk. In certain circumstances, courts may permit tort claims even
where BMW Group’s vehicles comply with applicable laws and regulations. Furthermore, simply
responding to actual or threatened litigation or governmental investigations of BMW Group’s compliance
with regulatory standards, competition laws or other legal requirements, whether related to BMW Group’s
products or business or commercial relationships, may require significant expenditures of time and
resources. Litigation also is inherently uncertain, and BMW Group could experience significant adverse
results. In addition, adverse publicity surrounding an allegation may cause significant reputational harm
that could affect public perception of BMW Group’s brands or market demand for its products. For
example, the SEC’s investigation regarding BMW Group’s vehicle sales and sales reporting practices and
the allegations included therein may have had and could continue to have a material adverse impact on
BMW Group’s reputation.

A decrease in or cessation or claw-back of government incentives could affect BMW Group's results of
operations

BMW Group receives economic benefits from national, state, and local governments in various regions
of the world in the form of incentives designed to encourage manufacturers to establish, maintain, or
increase investments, workforces or production.

These incentives may take various forms, including grants, loan subsidies, and tax abatements or credits.
The impact of these incentives can be significant in a particular market. A decrease in, expiration without
renewal of, or other cessation or claw-back of government incentives for any of BMW Group’s business
units, as a result of administrative decision or otherwise, could have a material adverse effect on BMW
Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or results of operations.

BMW Group's international operations give rise to complex tax and customs matters

BMW Group is subject to tax and customs audits in all countries where it operates. Ongoing or future tax
and customs audits may lead to demands for additional taxes, customs, interest thereon, penalties and
similar payments. Such payments may arise, for example, from the full or partial non-recognition of intra-
group transfer prices. In countries where there are factually, or as a practical matter, no statutes of
limitation (such as China), BMW Group may also face demands for additional taxes relating to periods
prior to a tax and customs audit period. As a result, BMW Group’s provisions for tax and customs risks
may be insufficient to cover any actual settlement amount. Risks may also arise due to changes in tax or
customs laws or accounting principles or their interpretation by the tax and customs payer, by tax and
customs authorities or by courts. An example for the latter is the introduction of a global minimum tax at
a rate of 15% to address the tax challenges of the digitalisation of the economy, agreed upon by over 140
jurisdictions under the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD)/G20 Inclusive
Framework on Base Erosion and Profit Shifting (BEPS) which is effective in certain jurisdictions as from
1 January 2024. Such changes may also have a retroactive effect. If any of these risks were to materialize,
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this could have a material adverse effect on BMW Group’s business, net assets, financial condition or
results of operations. See also "Macroeconomic, geopolitical or other events could adversely affect the
automotive industry and BMW Group" and "Export controls, sanctions, tariffs and other trade barriers
could affect BMW Group's ability to produce, market and sell its products across global markets and affect
BMW Group's supply chains."

BMW Group may fail to adequately protect its intellectual property and know-how or may be liable for
infringement of third-party intellectual property

BMW Group owns a large number of patents and other intellectual property rights, a number of which are
of significant importance to its business success. BMW Group may fail to enforce claims against third
parties for infringement of its intellectual property rights. In addition, BMW Group’s intellectual property
rights may be challenged, and BMW Group may not be able to secure such rights in the future. In
particular, there is a risk that BMW Group may not be in a position to secure all necessary intellectual
property rights with respect to the development of new technologies, as part of collaborative partnerships
or otherwise.

Furthermore, third parties (including joint venture partners or partners in collaborative projects) may
violate BMW Group’s patents and other intellectual property rights and BMW Group may not be able to
prevent such violations for legal or practical reasons. For example, the effective protection for BMW
Group’s brands, technologies, and proprietary information may be limited or unavailable in certain
countries, making it difficult to protect our intellectual property from misappropriation or infringement. This
applies also to product piracy where BMW Group’s vehicles and components are copied, possibly with
poor quality, resulting in additional reputational and warranty risks. Trade secrets and know-how that
cannot be safeguarded through intellectual property rights are also important for BMW Group’s business
success. BMW Group may be unable to prevent disclosure of trade secrets.

BMW Group may also inadvertently infringe patents, trademarks or other intellectual property rights of
third parties or may not have validly acquired service inventions. Furthermore, BMW Group may not obtain
the licenses necessary for its business on reasonable terms in the future. If BMW Group is alleged or
determined to have violated third-party intellectual property rights, it may be required to pay damages,
modify manufacturing processes, redesign products or may be barred from manufacturing, distributing
and/or marketing certain products. BMW Group could also face costly litigation. These risks could lead to
delivery and production restrictions or interruptions and, in turn, have a material adverse effect on BMW
Group’s business, net assets, financial position and results of operations.

Payments made by German Issuer / Guarantor

Payments made by a German Issuer / Guarantor with respect to a Noteholder resident in a so-called
"non-cooperative jurisdiction” (nicht kooperatives Steuerhoheitsgebiet) may be subject to a tax deduction
by the German Issuer / Guarantor at a rate of 15% (plus solidarity surcharge) of the gross payment
pursuant the Act to Avert Tax Evasion and Unfair Tax Competition (Gesetz zur Abwehr von
Steuervermeidung und unfairem Steuerwettbewerb). The law provides for an exemption if the notes are
structured as bearer notes which are represented by a global note (Sammelurkunde) held in collective
safe custody with a central depositary or similar instrument which are tradable on a recognized stock
exchange. The application of this exemption to registered notes as well as the application of the law in
case of payments by an Issuer / Guarantor are, however, unclear.
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Risks relating to the Issuers
(i) General

The Issuers are financing subsidiaries within BMW Group, and as such, the purposes of the Issuers'
activities are to assist in the financing of the activities and in managing interest and foreign exchange risks
for BMW Group, primarily in the Netherlands, United States and Japan, and to provide services in
connection therewith. The ability of the Issuers to satisfy their obligations under the Notes will depend,
among other things, upon payments to the Issuers by members of BMW Group. The assets of the Issuers
should not therefore be primarily relied upon by prospective investors in making an investment decision
to purchase the Notes.

(i) BMW Finance

The risk exposure of BMW Finance can be broken down into the following two main categories: non-
financial and financial risks.

Non-financial Risks
Operating Risks

Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks. Risks mainly result from the use of computer systems
and information technology. BMW Finance uses computer systems to monitor financial positions and daily
cash flows and to process payments to internal and external counterparties. System failures can,
therefore, lead to delays in payment processes. Further operating risks can arise in connection with the
settlement of financial transactions. The management of daily cash flows at BMW Finance depends on
the timely receipt of funds from external institutions who act as counterparties to financial transactions,
such as bonds, swaps or other derivative financial instruments. To avoid negative impacts of system
failures, all key systems are set up in parallel and/or backup facilities or available within BMW Group.

Financial Risks

The formal procedures and policies operated by BMW Finance to cover banking, foreign exchange and
other treasury matters are consistent with objectives and policies for financial risk management within
BMW Group. BMW Finance’s policy is not to take positions in derivative financial instruments with the aim
of profit realisation.

Financial risks arise mainly from liquidity risk, the risk of an increase in credit spreads, currency risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and fair market value risk.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to potential negative impacts on the operations of BMW Finance as a result of the
inability to generate sufficient funds to pay liabilities when due and to finance BMW Group companies and
participations.

To manage the liquidity, BMW Finance depends mainly on the issuance of term debt, principally in the
European capital markets and from 2019 onwards also in the China and US capital markets. Therefore,
BMW Finance depends on broad access to these capital markets and investors. Changes in demand for
term debt instruments on capital markets could limit the ability of BMW Finance to fund operations. BMW
Finance depends in particular on its participation in the EUR 50.0 billion Euro Medium Term Note
Programme established by BMW AG, BMW Finance, BMW US Capital, BMW International Investment
and BMW Japan Finance, as well as its participation in the EUR 5.0 billion Multi-Currency Commercial
Paper Programme established by BMW AG, BMW Finance and BMW International Investment. Since
May 2006, BMW Finance also acts as an issuer under a EUR 2.0 billion French Commercial Paper (Billets
de Trésorere) Programme. In the first half year of 2019, BMW Finance issued a corporate bond in China
for the first time (a so-called Panda Bond) in the amount of CNY 3.0 billion. In the second half year of
2019, BMW Finance participated as a new issuer of Rule 144A bonds in the US capital markets. Debt
issuances under these programs have unconditional and irrevocable guarantees from BMW AG. The
removal of the guarantees from these programs could limit access to certain investors and investor
groups.

Furthermore, BMW Finance uses committed and uncommitted credit lines with banks and bank loans to
cover liquidity needs. In this context BMW Finance depends on the willingness of banks to provide credit

33



lines or loans. In the light of the financial crisis, banks have become more selective in providing credit
lines or loans to the interbank and corporate sector. In order to reduce and minimise the dependence on
banks, BMW Finance has taken measures to maintain access to capital markets. Besides local committed
and uncommitted credit lines, BMW Finance can draw under a EUR 8.0 billion Multi-Currency Revolving
Credit Facility (including a EUR 2.0 billion Swingline Option) under which it, BMW AG, and BMW US
Capital are eligible borrowers.

Risk of an Increase in Credit Spreads

Increases in the credit spreads could negatively affect the cost of borrowing and, therefore, the operating
results of BMW Finance. Increases in credit spreads could arise from changes in demand for term debt
instruments on capital markets, the removal of the unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of BMW AG
from the above-mentioned debt issuance programs in which BMW Finance participates, a weakening
credit profile of BMW Group and a decreasing willingness of banks to provide credit lines and loans.

Currency Risk

Currency risk or exchange rate risk refers to potential changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or
derivatives in response to fluctuations in exchange rates. Changes in exchange rates can have adverse
effects on the financial position and operating result of BMW Finance. BMW Finance continually assesses
its exposure to this risk. Currency risk is managed and hedged through the use of derivative financial
instruments, such as forward contracts, options and cross currency swaps. When deemed appropriate,
un-hedged positions could arise. However, there can be no assurance that such measures will be
successful in mitigating exposure to currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or derivatives in
response to fluctuations in interest rates. BMW Finance holds a substantial volume of interest rate
sensitive financial assets, liabilities and derivatives for operational, financing and investment activities.
Changes in interest rates can have adverse effects on the financial position and operating result of BMW
Finance. BMW Finance continually assesses its exposure to this risk. Interest rate risk is managed and
hedged through the use of derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps and forward rate
agreements. When deemed appropriate, there might be un-hedged positions. However, there can be no
assurance that such measures will be successful in mitigating exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk results from the risk of default of internal or external counterparties. The amount recognised in
the balance sheet of BMW Finance for financial assets is, ignoring any collateral received, the maximum
credit risk in the case that counterparties are unable to fulfil their contractual obligations. In the case of
derivative financial instruments, BMW Finance is also exposed to credit risk, which results from the non-
performance of contractual agreements on the part of the counterparty. BMW Finance seeks to mitigate
credit risk by entering into such contracts with parties that it believes to be creditworthy. Furthermore,
BMW Finance participates in a BMW Group wide limit system that continually assesses and limits the
credit exposure to any single external counterparty. However, there can be no assurance that such
measures will be successful in mitigating exposure to credit risk.

Fair Market Value Risk

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet
at their respective fair values. In the case that hedge accounting is applied and that a hedge is a fair value
hedge, the results of the fair value measurement of the derivative financial instrument and of the related
hedged item are recognised in the income statement. Furthermore, if, contrary to the normal case within
BMW Finance, hedge accounting cannot be applied, the gains and losses from the fair value
measurement of derivative financial instruments are recognised immediately in the income statement.
This can lead to significant fluctuations in the position "Result from financial transactions" in the income
statement.
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(i) BMW US Capital

The risk exposure of BMW US Capital can be broken down into the following two main categories: non-
financial risks and financial risks.

Non-financial Risks
Operating Risks

Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks. Risks mainly result from the use of computer systems
and information technology. BMW US Capital uses computer systems to monitor financial positions and
daily cash flows and to process payments to internal and external counterparties. System failures can
therefore lead to delays in payment processes, or the evaluation or settlement of financial transactions.

Legal and Regulatory Risks

Non-financial risks could arise from legal and regulatory risks. Risks mainly result from the possibility of
new laws or regulations that could be adopted in light of current conditions in the global financial markets
and increased regulatory focus on the regulation of the financial services industry, including the segment
in which BMW US Capital operates. BMW US Capital's activities are subject to governmental regulations,
and compliance with new laws and regulations can result in significant additional costs and/or restrictions
on its business. In addition, various governmental agencies may from time to time conduct inquiries or
investigations into various aspects of auto finance companies practices.

Financial Risks

The formal procedures and policies operated by BMW US Capital to cover banking, foreign exchange and
other treasury matters are consistent with the objectives and policies for financial risk management within
BMW Group. BMW US Capital's policy is not to speculate in financial instruments.

Financial risks arise mainly from volatility relating to liquidity, credit spreads, interest rates, currency, credit
and fair market value evaluations of derivative instruments.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to potential negative impacts on the operations of BMW US Capital resulting from the
inability to generate sufficient funds to pay liabilities when due and to extend short- and long-term
advances to support the financing activities of the companies of BMW Group and its affiliates.

To manage liquidity, BMW US Capital depends mainly on the issuance of short and term debt, principally
in the European and US capital markets. Changes in demand for term debt instruments on capital markets
could limit the ability of BMW US Capital to fund operations. BMW US Capital is particularly dependent
on its access to the USD 144A market, the Euro Medium Term Note Program and a USD 7.0 billion US
Commercial Paper Program. Debt issuances under these programs have unconditional and irrevocable
guarantees from BMW AG. The removal of the guarantees from these programs could limit access to
certain investors and investor groups.

Furthermore, BMW US Capital relies on its ability to draw on a EUR 8.0 billion Multi-Currency Revolving
Credit Facility (including a EUR 2.0 billion Swingline Option).

Risk of an Increase in Credit Spreads

Increases in the credit spreads could negatively affect the cost of borrowing and, therefore, the operating
results of BMW US Capital. Increases in credit spreads could arise from changes in demand for term debt
instruments on capital markets, the removal of the unconditional and irrevocable guarantees of BMW AG
from the above-mentioned debt issuance programs in which BMW US Capital participates, a weakening
credit profile of BMW Group and from a decreasing willingness of banks to provide credit lines and loans.
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Currency Risk

Currency risk or exchange risk refers to potential changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or
derivatives in response to fluctuations in exchange rates. Changes in exchange rates can have adverse
effects on the financial position and operating result of BMW US Capital. BMW US Capital continually
assesses its exposure to this risk. Currency exchange risk is managed through the use of derivative
financial instruments, such as forward contracts, options and cross currency swaps. When deemed
appropriate, un-hedged positions could arise. However, there can be no assurance that such measures
will be successful in mitigating exposure to currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or derivatives in
response to fluctuations in interest rates. BMW US Capital holds a substantial volume of interest rate
sensitive financial assets, liabilities and derivatives from operational, financing and investment activities.
Changes in interest rates can have adverse effects on the financial position and operating result of BMW
US Capital. BMW US Capital continually assesses its exposure to this risk. Interest rate risk is managed
by matching maturities and through the use of derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps
and options. When deemed appropriate, there might be un-hedged positions. However, there can be no
assurance that such measures will be successful in mitigating exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk results from the risk of default of internal or external counterparties. The amount recognised in
the statement of financial position of BMW US Capital for financial assets is, ignoring any collateral
received, the maximum credit risk in the case that counterparties are unable to fulfil their contractual
obligations. In the case of derivative financial instruments, BMW US Capital is also exposed to credit risk,
which results from the non-fulfilment of contractual agreements on the part of the counterparty. BMW US
Capital seeks to mitigate credit risk by entering into such contracts with parties of investment grade credit
standing. Furthermore, BMW US Capital participates in a BMW Group-wide limit system that continually
assesses and limits the credit exposure to any single external counterparty. However, there can be no
assurance that such measures will be successful in mitigating exposure to credit risk.

Fair Market Value Risk

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the statement of
financial position at their respective fair values. With respect to fair value hedges, the results of the fair
value measurement of the derivative financial instrument and of the related hedged item are recognised
in the statement of comprehensive income. Furthermore, if, contrary to the normal case within BMW US
Capital, hedge accounting cannot be applied, the gains and losses from the fair value measurement of
derivative financial instruments are recognised immediately in the statement of comprehensive income.
This can lead to significant fluctuations in the "Financial result" on the Statements of Comprehensive
Income for BMW US Capital.

(iv) BMW International Investment

The risk exposure of BMW International Investment can be broken down into the following two main
categories: non-financial and financial risks.

Non-financial Risks
Operating Risks

Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks. Risks mainly result from the use of computer systems
and information technology. BMW International Investment uses computer systems to monitor financial
positions and daily cash flows and to process payments to internal and external counterparties. System
failures can, therefore, lead to delays in payment processes. Further operating risks can arise in
connection with the settlement of financial transactions. The management of daily cash flows at BMW
International Investment depends on the timely receipt of funds from external institutions who act as
counterparties to financial transactions, such as bonds, swaps or other derivative financial instruments.
To avoid negative impacts of system failures, all key systems are set up in parallel and/or backup facilities
or available within BMW Group.

Financial Risks
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The formal procedures and policies operated by BMW International Investment to cover banking, foreign
exchange and other treasury matters are consistent with objectives and policies for financial risk
management within BMW Group. BMW International Investment's policy is not to take positions in
derivative financial instruments with the aim of profit realisation.

Financial risks arise mainly from liquidity risk, the risk of an increase in credit spreads, currency risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk and fair market value risk.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to potential negative impacts on the operations of BMW International Investment as a
result of the inability to generate sufficient funds to pay liabilities when due and to finance BMW Group
companies and participations.

To manage liquidity, BMW International Investment depends mainly on the issuance of term debt,
principally in the European capital markets. Therefore, BMW International Investment depends on broad
access to these capital markets and investors. Changes in demand for term debt instruments on capital
markets could limit the ability of BMW International Investment to fund operations. BMW International
Investment depends in particular on its participation in the EUR 50.0 billion Euro Medium Term Note
Programme established by BMW AG, BMW Finance, BMW International Investment, BMW US Capital
and BMW Japan Finance, as well as its participation in the EUR 5.0 billion Multi-Currency Commercial
Paper Programme established by BMW AG, BMW Finance and BMW International Investment. Debt
issuances under these programs have unconditional and irrevocable guarantees from BMW AG. The
removal of the guarantees from these programs could limit access to certain investors and investor
groups.

Furthermore, BMW International Investment uses committed and uncommitted credit lines with banks and
bank loans to cover liquidity needs. In this context BMW International Investment depends on the
willingness of banks to provide credit lines or loans. In the light of the financial crisis, banks have become
more selective in providing credit lines or loans to the interbank and corporate sector. In order to reduce
and minimise the dependence on banks, BMW International Investment has taken measures to maintain
access to capital markets.

Risk of an Increase in Credit Spreads

Increases in the credit spreads could negatively affect the cost of borrowing and, therefore, the operating
results of BMW International Investment. Increases in credit spreads could arise from changes in demand
for term debt instruments on capital markets, the removal of the unconditional and irrevocable guarantees
of BMW AG from the above-mentioned debt issuance programs in which BMW International Investment
participates, a weakening credit profile of BMW Group and a decreasing willingness of banks to provide
credit lines and loans.

Currency Risk

Currency risk or exchange rate risk refers to potential changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or
derivatives in response to fluctuations in exchange rates. Changes in exchange rates can have adverse
effects on the financial position and operating result of BMW International Investment. BMW International
Investment continually assesses its exposure to this risk. Currency risk is managed and hedged through
the use of derivative financial instruments, such as forward contracts, options and cross currency swaps.
When deemed appropriate, un-hedged positions could arise. However, there can be no assurance that
such measures will be successful in mitigating exposure to currency risk.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or derivatives in
response to fluctuations in interest rates. BMW International Investment holds a substantial volume of
interest rate sensitive financial assets, liabilities and derivatives for operational, financing and investment
activities. Changes in interest rates can have adverse effects on the financial position and operating result
of BMW International Investment. BMW International Investment continually assesses its exposure to this
risk. Interest rate risk is managed and hedged through the use of derivative financial instruments, such
as interest rate swaps and forward rate agreements. When deemed appropriate, there might be un-
hedged positions. However, there can be no assurance that such measures will be successful in mitigating
exposure to interest rate risk.
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Credit Risk

Credit risk results from the risk of default of internal or external counterparties. The amount recognised in
the balance sheet of BMW International Investment for financial assets is, ignoring any collateral received,
the maximum credit risk in the case that counterparties are unable to fulfil their contractual obligations. In
the case of derivative financial instruments, BMW International Investment is also exposed to credit risk,
which results from the non-performance of contractual agreements on the part of the counterparty. BMW
International Investment seeks to mitigate credit risk by entering into such contracts with partiesthat it
believes to be creditworthy. Furthermore, BMW International Investment participates in a BMW Group
wide limit system that continually assesses and limits the credit exposure to any single external
counterparty. However, there can be no assurance that such measures will be successful in mitigating
exposure to credit risk.

Fair Market Value Risk

IFRS 9, Financial Instruments, requires that all derivative instruments be recorded on the balance sheet
at their respective fair values. In the case that hedge accounting is applied and that a hedge is a fair value
hedge, the results of the fair value measurement of the derivative financial instrument and of the related
hedged item are recognised in the income statement. Furthermore, if, contrary to the normal case within
BMW International Investment, hedge accounting cannot be applied, the gains and losses from the fair
value measurement of derivative financial instruments are recognised immediately in the income
statement. This can lead to significant fluctuations in the position "Result from financial transactions" in
the income statement.

(v) BMW Japan Finance

The risk exposure of BMW Japan Finance can be broken down into the following two main categories:
non-financial and financial risks.

Non-financial risks
Operational risks

Non-financial risks could arise from operating risks. Risks result from inadequate or failed internal
processes, people and systems or from external events. The risk causes are categorized to organization,
people, technology and external. The identified risks are managed in an Operational Risk Management
System provided by BMW AG, assessed, monitored and reported to the market management. BMW AG
seeks to mitigate operating risks through constant monitoring and improvement of operational processes
through its Operational Risk and Internal Control System. However, there can be no assurance that such
measures will be successful in mitigating exposure to operational risks.

Financial Risks

The formal procedures and policies operated by BMW Japan Finance to cover banking and other treasury
matters are consistent with objectives and policies for financial risk management within BMW Group.
BMW Japan Finance’s policy is not to trade or speculate in financial instruments.

Financial risks arise mainly from liquidity risk, risk of an increase in credit spreads, credit risk and interest
rate risk.

Liquidity Risk

Liquidity risk refers to potential negative impacts on the operations of BMW Japan Finance as a result of
the inability to generate sufficient funds to pay liabilities when due.

BMW Japan Finance uses intra-group loans to cover short-term liquidity needs.

In addition, BMW Japan Finance relies on long-term funding sources, such as loans, bonds and Asset
Backed Securities (ABS). Furthermore, BMW Japan Finance depends on its participation in the
EUR 50.0 billion Euro Medium Term Note Programme established by BMW AG, BMW Finance, BMW US
Capital, BMW International Investment and BMW Japan Finance for flexible and broad access to capital
markets. Debt issuance under this program has unconditional and irrevocable guarantees by BMW AG.
The removal of the guarantees from these programs could limit access to certain investors and investor
groups.
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Risk of an Increase in Credit Spreads

Increases in the credit spreads could negatively affect the cost of borrowing and, therefore, the operating
results of BMW Japan Finance. Increases in credit spreads could arise from changes in demand from
creditors, such as banks for short-term loans and institutional investors for long-term loans or bonds.

Interest Rate Risk

Interest rate risk refers to potential changes of value in financial assets, liabilities or derivatives in
response to fluctuations in interest rates. BMW Japan Finance holds a substantial volume of interest rate
sensitive liabilities for financing activities. Changes in interest rates can have adverse effects on the
financial position and operating result of BMW Japan Finance. BMW Japan Finance continually assesses
and manages its exposure to this risk and hedges liabilities through the use of derivative financial
instruments, such as interest rate swaps. However, there can be no assurance that such measures will
be successful in mitigating exposure to interest rate risk.

Credit Risk

Credit risk results from the risk of default in retail and wholesale business. Credit risks for retail business
are steered by credit scorecards and policy rules, which have been locally developed based on historical
defaults that BMW Japan Finance experienced and those are validated at least every 24 months. Credit
risks for wholesale business are steered by the credit rating system which is developed globally by the
head-quarter in Munich.

In the case of derivative financial instruments, BMW Japan Finance is also exposed to credit risk, which
results from the non-performance of contractual agreements on the part of the counterparty. BMW Japan
Finance seeks to mitigate credit risk by entering into such contracts only with parties that it believes to be
creditworthy. Furthermore, BMW Japan Finance is participating in a BMW Group wide limit system that
continually assesses and limits the credit exposure to any single external counterparty. However, there
can be no assurance that such measures will be successful in mitigating exposure to credit risk.

Residual Value Risk

BMW Japan Finance faces residual value risk as it has residual value risk bearing products in its portfolio.
The residual value risk is caused by the uncertainty with regards to the future value of the underlying
vehicle assets of the loan or lease contracts which BMW Japan Finance guarantees the residual value at
the contract termination for its customers.

The profits or losses as the result of these guarantees of residual value are shared with BMW Japan
Corp., based on an agreement between BMW Japan Corp. and BMW Japan Finance.

Currently there are two retail products which BMW Japan Finance bears residual value risks. One is the
operating lease and the other is a loan product called "Future Value Loan". Business share of the
operating lease is small, on the other hand, Future Value Loan has been well developed since its launch
in 2016. The total share of residual value risk bearing product counts approximately one-fifth in total retail
portfolio.

An appropriate residual value setting is the key to manage the residual value risk. BMW Japan Finance
uses the methodology which complies with the globalmethodology employed by BMW Group’s
headquarters. However, there can be no assurance that such measures will be successful in mitigating
exposure to residual value risk.
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Risks relating to the Notes

The risk factors regarding the Notes are presented in the following categories depending on their nature
with the most material risk factor presented first in each category:

Risks related to the nature of the Notes
Market Price Risk

The development of market prices of the Notes depends on various factors, such as changes of market
interest rate levels, the policies of central banks, overall economic developments, inflation rates or the
lack of or excess demand for the relevant type of Notes. The holders of notes (the "Noteholders") are
therefore exposed to the risk of an unfavorable development of market prices of their Notes which
materialise if the Noteholders sell the Notes prior to the final maturity of such Notes. If Noteholders decide
to hold the Notes until final maturity, the Notes will be redeemed at the amount set out in the relevant Final
Terms.

Noteholders of notes with a fixed interest rate (the "Fixed Rate Notes") are particularly exposed to the
risk that the price of such Notes falls as a result of changes in the market interest rate levels. While the
nominal interest rate of a Fixed Rate Note as specified in the applicable Final Terms is fixed during the
life of such Notes, the current interest rate on the capital market typically changes on a daily basis. As the
market interest rate changes, the price of Fixed Rate Notes also changes, but in the opposite direction. If
the market interest rate increases, the price of Fixed Rate Notes typically falls, until the yield of such Notes
is approximately equal to the market interest rate of comparable issues. If the market interest rate falls,
the price of Fixed Rate Notes typically increases, until the yield of such Notes is approximately equal to
the market interest rate of comparable issues. If Noteholders of Fixed Rate Notes hold such Notes until
maturity, changes in the market interest rate are without relevance to such Noteholders as the Notes will
be redeemed at a specified redemption amount, usually the principal amount of such Notes.

Noteholders of notes with a floating interest rate (the "Floating Rate Notes") are particularly exposed to
the risk of fluctuating interest rate levels and uncertain interest income. Fluctuating interest rate levels
make it impossible to determine the profitability of Floating Rate Notes in advance. Neither the current
nor the historical value of the relevant floating rate should be taken as an indication of the future
development of such floating rate during the term of any Notes.

Liquidity Risk

Application has been made to the Luxembourg Stock Exchange for Notes issued under this Programme
to be listed on the official list and admitted to trading on the Regulated Market of the Luxembourg Stock
Exchange. In addition, the Programme provides that Notes may be listed on other or further stock
exchanges or may not be listed at all. Regardless of whether the Notes are listed or not, there can be no
assurance regarding the future development of a market for the Notes or the ability of Noteholders to sell
their Notes or the price at which Noteholders may be able to sell their Notes. If such a market were to
develop, the Notes could trade at prices that may be higher or lower than the initial offering price
depending on many factors, including prevailing interest rates, the Issuer's operating results, the market
for similar securities and other factors, including general economic conditions, performance and
prospects, as well as recommendations of securities analysts. The liquidity of, and the trading market for,
the Notes may also be adversely affected by declines in the market for debt securities generally. Such a
decline may affect any liquidity and trading of the Notes independent of the Issuer's financial performance
and prospects. If Notes are not listed on any exchange, pricing information for such Notes may, however,
be more difficult to obtain which may affect the liquidity of the Notes adversely. In an illiquid market, an
investor might not be able to sell its Notes at any time at fair market prices.
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Risks related to specific Terms and Conditions of the Notes
Risk of Early Redemption

At the Issuer's option, the Notes may be redeemed prior to the Maturity Date at par plus accrued interest
if, as a result of a future change of the laws applicable in Germany, the Issuer will be obliged to pay
Additional Amounts (as defined in the Terms and Conditions).

If provided for in the Final Terms for a particular Tranche of Notes, the Notes may be redeemed prior to
the Maturity Date at the option of the Issuer on any specified Call Redemption Date. If the Issuer redeems
the Notes of any Tranche prior to maturity, the Noteholders of such Notes are exposed to the risk that due
to such early redemption their investment will have a lower than expected yield. The Issuer can be
expected to exercise its call right if the yield on comparable Notes in the capital market has fallen which
means that the investor may only be able to reinvest the redemption proceeds in comparable Notes with
a lower yield. On the other hand, the Issuer can be expected not to exercise its call right if the yield on
comparable Notes in the capital market has increased. In this event an investor will not be able to reinvest
the redemption proceeds in comparable Notes with a higher yield. It should be noted, however, that the
Issuer may exercise any call right irrespective of market interest rates on a call date.

Risks associated with the reform of EURIBOR and other interest rate 'benchmarks'

The Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR) and other interest rates or other types of rates and indices
which are deemed "benchmarks" (each a "Benchmark" and together, the "Benchmarks") have become
the subject of regulatory scrutiny and recent national and international regulatory guidance and proposals
for reform. Some of these reforms are already effective whilst others are still to be implemented. These
reforms may cause such Benchmarks to perform differently than in the past, or to disappear entirely, or
have other consequences which cannot be predicted. Any such consequence could have a material
adverse effect on any Notes linked to such a Benchmark.

International proposals for reform of Benchmarks include the European Council's regulation (EU)
2016/1011 of 8 June 2016 on indices used as benchmarks in financial instruments and financial contracts
or to measure the performance of investment funds and amending Directives 2008/48/EC and
2014/17/EU and Regulation (EU) No 596/2014 (the "Benchmarks Regulation").

The Benchmarks Regulation could have a material impact on Notes linked to a Benchmark, including in
any of the following circumstances:

. a rate or index which is a Benchmark may only be used if its administrator obtains authorisation
or is registered and in case of an administrator which is based in a non-EU jurisdiction, if the
administrator's legal benchmark system is considered equivalent (Article 30 Benchmarks
Regulation), the administrator is recognised (Article 32 Benchmarks Regulation) or the
Benchmark is endorsed (Article 33 Benchmarks Regulation) (subject to applicable transitional
provisions). If this is not the case, Notes linked to such Benchmarks could be impacted; and

. the methodology or other terms of the Benchmark could be changed in order to comply with the
terms of the Benchmarks Regulation. For example, the new hybrid calculation of EURIBOR has
already been adapted to the requirements of the Benchmarks Regulation, however, the
EURIBOR is also subject to constant review and revision. It is currently not foreseeable whether
EURIBOR will continue to exist permanently and beyond 2025. Further such changes could,
among other things, have the effect of reducing or increasing the rate or level or otherwise
affecting the volatility of the published rate or level of the Benchmark, and could impact the Notes,
including Calculation Agent determination of the rate.

If a Benchmark were to be discontinued or otherwise unavailable, the rate of interest for Floating Rate
Notes which are linked to such Benchmark will be determined for the relevant period by the fall-back
provisions applicable to such Notes, which in the end could lead, inter alia, to a previously available rate
of the Benchmark being applied until maturity of the Floating Rate Notes, effectively turning the floating
rate of interest into a fixed rate of interest, or, to determination of the applicable interest rate on the basis
of another benchmark determined by the Issuer in its discretion or to an early termination of the relevant
Notes at the option of the Issuer.

Any changes to a Benchmark as a result of the Benchmarks Regulation or other initiatives, could have a
material adverse effect on the costs of refinancing a Benchmark or the costs and risks of administering or
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otherwise participating in the setting of a Benchmark and complying with any such regulations or
requirements. Although it is uncertain whether or to what extent any of the above-mentioned changes
and/or any further changes in the administration or method of determining a Benchmark could have an
effect on the value of any Notes linked to the relevant Benchmark, investors should be aware that any
changes to a relevant Benchmark may have a material adverse effect on the value or liquidity of, and the
amounts payable on, Floating Rate Notes whose rate of interest is linked to such Benchmark.

Under the terms of the Benchmarks Regulation, the European Commission has also been granted powers
to designate a replacement for certain critical benchmarks contained in contracts governed by the laws
of an EU Member State, where that contract does not already contain a suitable fallback. It is currently
unclear whether the fallback provisions of the Notes would be considered suitable, and there is therefore
a risk that if the consent to solicitation is not successful the Notes would be required to transition to a
replacement benchmark rate selected by the European Commission. There is no certainty at this stage
what any such replacement benchmark would be.

Risks associated with new reference rates such as SONIA, SOFR and €STR

Interest rates of Floating Rate Notes may be linked to SONIA, SOFR and €STR. SONIA is based on
actual transactions and reflects the average of the interest rates that banks pay to borrow sterling
overnight from other financial institutions. Investors should be aware that the market continues to develop
in relation to the SONIA as a reference rate in the capital markets and its adoption as an alternative to
Sterling LIBOR. The market or a significant part thereof may adopt an application of SONIA that differs
significantly from that set out in the Terms and Conditions. It may be difficult for investors in Notes which
reference a SONIA rate to reliably estimate the amount of interest which will be payable on such Notes.
Further, if the Notes become due and payable, the rate of interest payable shall be determined on the
date the Notes became due and payable. Investors should consider these matters when making their
investment decision with respect to any such Notes.

On 22 June 2017, the Alternative Reference Rates Committee ("ARRC") convened by the Board of
Governors of the Federal Reserve System and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York identified the
SOFR as the rate that represented best practice for use in certain new U.S. dollar derivatives and other
financial contracts. The Federal Reserve Bank of New York notes that use of the SOFR is subject to
important limitations and disclaimers. SOFR is published based on data received from other sources.
There can be no guarantee that the SOFR will not be discontinued or fundamentally altered in a manner
that is materially adverse to the interests of investors in the respective Notes. If the manner in which the
SOFR is calculated is changed, that change may result in a reduction of the amount of interest payable
on the Notes and the trading prices of the Notes. SOFR has been published by the Federal Reserve Bank
of New York since April 2018. Investors should not rely on any historical changes or trends in the SOFR
as an indicator of future changes in the SOFR. Also, since the SOFR is a relatively new market index, the
Notes will likely have no established trading market when issued. Trading prices of the Notes may be
lower than those of later-issued indexed debt securities as a result. Similarly, if the SOFR does not prove
to be widely used in securities like the Notes, the trading price of the Notes may be lower than those of
debt securities linked to indices that are more widely used. Investors in the Notes may not be able to sell
the Notes at all or may not be able to sell the Notes at prices that will provide them with a yield comparable
to similar investments that have a developed secondary market, and may consequently suffer from
increased pricing volatility and market risk. Investors should consider these matters when making their
investment decision with respect to any such Notes.

In light of these developments and similar to the approaches in the United States and the United Kingdom,
the Governing Council of the European Central Bank ("ECB") has decided to develop a euro short-term
rate ("€STR") based on data already available to the Eurosystem. €STR reflects the wholesale euro
unsecured overnight borrowing costs of euro area banks, complements existing benchmark rates
provided by the private sector and is published on each T2 Business Day (whereby "T2 Business Day"
means any day on which the real time gross settlement system operated by the Eurosystem (the "T2") is
open for settlements of payment in euro) since 2 October 2019. Given that it cannot be excluded that
further changes will be implemented and, in particular, that there is no historical data or trends that
investors could rely on and that the transition from existing reference rates to €STR could result in further
uncertainties and limitations, investors in the Notes should consider all these factors when making their
investment decision with respect to any such Notes.
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Currency Risk

Noteholders of Notes denominated in a foreign currency (i.e. a currency other than euro) are particularly
exposed to the risk of changes in currency exchange rates which may affect the yield of such Notes.
Changes in currency exchange rates result from various factors, such as macro-economic factors,
speculative transactions and interventions by central banks and governments.

A change in the value of any foreign currency against the euro, for example, will result in a corresponding
change in the euro value of Notes denominated in a currency other than euro and a corresponding change
in the euro value of interest and principal payments made in a currency other than euro in accordance
with the terms of such Notes. If the underlying exchange rate falls and the value of the euro rises
correspondingly, the price of the Notes and the value of interest and principal payments made thereunder
expressed in euro falls.

In addition, government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange
controls that could adversely affect an applicable currency exchange rate. As a result, investors may
receive less interest or principal than expected.

Risks related to Renminbi denominated Notes

Renminbi is not freely convertible at present. This may adversely affect the liquidity of the Renminbi
denominated Notes; the availability of Renminbi funds for servicing the Renminbi denominated Notes may
be subject to future limitations imposed by the People's Republic of China (the "PRC") government. The
PRC government continues to regulate conversion between Renminbi and foreign currencies, including
the euro, despite the significant reduction over the years by the PRC government of control over routine
foreign exchange transactions under current accounts. Currently participating banks in, inter alia,
Frankfurt, London, Singapore, Hong Kong, Macau and Taiwan have been permitted to engage in the
settlement of Renminbi trade transactions. This represents a current account activity.

While there have been several reforms to further reduce governmental control over foreign exchange
transactions in recent years, there is no assurance that the PRC government will continue to liberalise a
control over cross-border Renminbi remittances in the future or that new PRC regulations will not be
promulgated in the future which have the effect of restricting or eliminating the remittance of Renminbi
into or outside the PRC. In the event that funds cannot be repatriated outside the PRC in Renminbi, this
may affect the overall availability of Renminbi outside the PRC and the ability of the Issuer to source
Renminbi to perform its obligations under Renminbi denominated Notes.

There is only limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC, which may affect the liquidity of the
Renminbi denominated Notes and the Issuer's ability to source Renminbi outside the PRC to service the
Renminbi denominated Notes.

As a result of the restrictions imposed by the PRC government on cross-border Renminbi fund flows, the
availability of Renminbi outside of the PRC is limited. Currently, licensed banks in Singapore, Hong Kong
and Taiwan may offer limited Renminbi denominated banking services to Singapore residents, Hong Kong
residents, Taiwan residents and specified business customers. The People's Bank of China ("PBOC")
has also established a Renminbi clearing and settlement system for participating banks in Hong Kong,
Singapore, Taiwan, London, Frankfurt and Seoul. Each of Industrial and Commercial Bank of China,
Singapore Branch, Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited, Bank of China, Taipei Branch, China Construction
Bank (London) Limited, Bank of China, Frankfurt Branch and Bank of Communications, Seoul Branch
(each a "Renminbi Clearing Bank") has entered into settlement agreements with the PBOC to act as
the Renminbi clearing bank in Singapore, Hong Kong, Taiwan, London, Frankfurt and Seoul, respectively.

However, the current size of Renminbi-denominated financial assets outside the PRC is limited. Renminbi
business participating banks do not have direct Renminbi liquidity support from the PBOC. The relevant
Renminbi Clearing Bank only has access to onshore liquidity support from the PBOC for the purposes of
squaring open positions of participating banks for limited types of transactions, including open positions
resulting from conversion services for corporations relating to cross-border trade settlement. The relevant
Renminbi Clearing Bank is not obliged to square for participating banks any open positions resulting from
other foreign exchange transactions or conversion services and the participating banks will need to source
Renminbi from the offshore market to square such open positions.

Although it is expected that the offshore Renminbi market will continue to grow in depth and size, its
growth is subject to many constraints as a result of PRC laws and regulations on foreign exchange. There
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is no assurance that new PRC regulations will not be promulgated or the settlement agreements will not
be terminated or amended in the future which will have the effect of restricting availability of Renminbi
offshore. The limited availability of Renminbi outside the PRC may affect the liquidity of the Renminbi
Notes. To the extent the Issuer is required to source Renminbi in the offshore market to service its
Renminbi Notes, there is no assurance that the Issuer will be able to source such Renminbi on satisfactory
terms, if at all.

The PRC government has gradually liberalised the regulation of interest rates in recent years. Further
liberalisation may increase interest rate volatility. Consequently, the trading price of Notes denominated
in Renminbi will vary with fluctuations in Renminbi interest rates. If a Noteholder tries to sell such Notes
before their maturity, it may receive an offer that is less than its original investment. The value of Renminbi
against the Euro or other foreign currencies fluctuates and is affected by changes in the PRC and
international political and economic conditions and by many other factors. Except in the limited
circumstances as described in the terms and conditions, the Issuer will make all payments of interest and
principal with respect to the Renminbi Notes in Renminbi. As a result, the value of these Renminbi
payments in euro or other applicable foreign currency terms may vary with the prevailing exchange rates
in the marketplace. If the value of Renminbi depreciates against the euro or other applicable foreign
currency, the value of a Noteholder's investment in euro or other applicable foreign currency terms will
decline.

If the Issuer cannot obtain Renminbi and is not able, or it is impracticable for it, to satisfy its obligation to
pay interest and principal on the Renminbi Notes when due, in whole or in part, in Renminbi in the relevant
Renminbi Settlement Centre as a result of Inconvertibility, Non transferability or Illiquidity (each, as defined
in § 4 of the Terms and Conditions), the Issuer shall be entitled to postpone any such payment or, on
giving not less than five or more than 30 days' irrevocable notice to the Noteholders prior to the due date
for payment, to settle any such payment, in whole or in part, in U.S. dollars on the due date at the USD
Equivalent (as defined in § 4 of the Terms and Conditions) of any such interest or principal amount
otherwise payable in Renminbi, as the case may be.

Risks related to the German Act on Debt Securities of 2009 (Schuldverschreibungsgesetz)

Since the Terms and Conditions of Notes issued under the Programme provide for meetings of
Noteholders of a series of Notes or the taking of votes without a meeting, the Terms and Conditions of
such Notes may be amended (as proposed or agreed by the Issuer) by majority resolution of the
Noteholders of such Notes and any such majority resolution will be binding on all Noteholders. Any
Noteholders is therefore subject to the risk that its rights against the Issuer under the Terms and
Conditions of the relevant series of Notes are amended, reduced or even cancelled by a majority
resolution of the Noteholders. Any such majority resolution will even be binding on Noteholders who have
declared their claims arising from the Notes due and payable based on the occurrence of an event of
default but who have not received payment from the Issuer prior to the amendment taking effect.
According to the German Act on Debt Securities of 2009 (Schuldverschreibungsgesetz — "SchVG"), the
relevant majority for Noteholders' resolutions is generally based on votes cast, rather than on the
aggregate principal amount of the relevant Notes outstanding. Therefore, any such resolution may
effectively be passed with the consent of less than a majority of the aggregate principal amount of the
relevant Notes outstanding.

Under the SchVG, an initial common representative (gemeinsamer Vertreter) of the Noteholders
(the "Noteholders' Representative") may be appointed in the terms and conditions of an issue.

However, no initial Noteholders' Representative might be appointed in the Terms and Conditions at the
issue date. Any appointment of a Noteholders' Representative at a later stage will, therefore, require a
majority resolution of the Noteholders of the Notes. If the appointment of a Noteholders' Representative
is delayed, this will make it more difficult for Noteholders to take collective action to enforce their rights
under the Notes.

If a Noteholders' Representative will be appointed by majority decision of the Noteholders it is possible
that Noteholders may be deprived of their individual right to pursue and enforce its rights under the Terms
and Conditions against the Issuer, if such right was passed to the Noteholders' Representative by majority
vote who is then exclusively responsible to claim and enforce the rights of all the Noteholders.
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Payments under the Notes may be subject to withholding tax pursuant to FATCA and national legislation
implementing FATCA/respective intergovernmental agreements

Payments of interest on the Notes and to "foreign financial institutions" with respect to the Notes by BMW
US Capital may, under certain circumstances, be subject to withholding of U.S. tax at a rate of 30.00%
pursuant to Sections 1471 through 1474 of the U.S. Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended, and
the regulations promulgated thereunder ("FATCA") unless the payee foreign financial institution (i) enters
into an agreement with the U.S. Internal Revenue Service (or other relevant taxing authority) to, among
other things, disclose the identity of certain U.S. account holders at the institution (or the institution's
affiliates), annually report certain information about such accounts or, (i) where an applicable
intergovernmental agreement between the United States and another jurisdiction applies, disclose and
provide such information to the taxing authority in such jurisdiction and comply with applicable rules or
laws implementing such intergovernmental agreement implementing FATCA in a specific jurisdiction or
(iii) is otherwise deemed compliant with FATCA. A foreign financial institution is defined broadly under
FATCA to include non-U.S. banks, non-U.S. custodians and certain non-U.S. investment vehicles
engaged in investing, reinvesting or trading in financial assets. Payments of the foregoing amounts made
to certain other foreign entities that do not disclose certain information about any substantial U.S. owners
(or certify that they do not have any substantial U.S. owners) may also be subject to withholding at the
rate of 30.00% under FATCA.

With respect to Notes issued after the date that is six months after the date that final U.S. treasury
regulations define the term "foreign passthru payment" (the "Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date")
or Notes materially modified after the Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date by any Issuer other than
BMW US Capital, the Issuer may, beginning on the date that is two years after the date that final U.S.
treasury regulations define the term "foreign passthru payment”, under certain circumstances, be required
under FATCA, to withhold U.S. tax at a rate of 30.00% on all or a portion of payments of interest which
are treated as "passthru payments" made to certain Noteholders that do not comply with certain
information requests and to foreign financial institutions that do not comply with the requirements
described in the preceding paragraph.

The United States and a number of other jurisdictions have entered into intergovernmental agreements
to facilitate the implementation of FATCA in such jurisdiction (each, an "IGA"). Pursuant to FATCA and
the "Model 1" and "Model 2" IGAs released by the United States, a foreign financial institution (a "FFI") in
an IGA signatory country which is in compliance with applicable legal requirements could be treated as a
"Reporting FI" that is generally not subject to withholding under FATCA on any payments it receives.
Further, an FFl in a Model 1 IGA? jurisdiction would generally not be required to withhold under FATCA,
any other IGA or any law implementing an IGA, from payments it makes (unless it has agreed to do so
under the U.S. "qualified intermediary”, "withholding foreign partnership”, or "withholding foreign trust"
regimes). The Model 2 IGA® leaves open the possibility that a Reporting FI might in the future be required
to withhold on foreign passthru payments and payments that it makes to Noteholders that do not provide
the requisite information. Under each Model IGA, regardless of any withholding required to be made, a
Reporting FI would be required to report certain information in respect of its account holders and investors
to the tax authority of the relevant IGA signatory country or to the U.S. Internal Revenue Service, as
applicable.

The Federal Republic of Germany and the Netherlands have each entered into an IGA with the United
States based largely on the Model 1 IGA. Germany has also adopted legislation to implement the IGA
into national law. Japan has entered into an IGA with the United States based largely on the Model 2 IGA.
The government of each of these countries is required to pass legislation to impose the IGA obligations
under local law. The implications of the FATCA regime to financial institutions (or investors holding notes
through financial institutions) in such jurisdictions will depend on the final form of this implementing
legislation, associated guidance and the manner in which it is administered. There can be no assurance

5 The term "Model 1 IGA" means an agreement or arrangement between the United States or the Treasury Department and a
foreign government or one or more agencies thereof to implement FATCA through reporting by financial institutions to such foreign
government or agency thereof, followed by automatic exchange of the reported information with the IRS. The IRS will publish a
list identifying all countries that are treated as having in effect a Model 1 IGA.

6 The term "Model 2 IGA" means an agreement or arrangement between the United States or the Treasury Department and a
foreign government or one or more agencies thereof to facilitate the implementation of FATCA through reporting by financial
institutions directly to the IRS in accordance with the requirements of an FFI agreement, supplemented by the exchange of
information between such foreign government or agency thereof and the IRS. The IRS will publish a list identifying all countries
that are treated as having in effect a Model 2 IGA.
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that any Issuer will be treated as a Reporting Fl or that it would not be required to withhold under FATCA
or pursuant to an applicable IGA.

If an amount in respect of U.S. withholding tax were to be deducted or withheld from interest or other
payments on the Notes as a result of a Noteholder's failure to comply with FATCA, none of the Issuer,
the Guarantor (if any), any paying agent or any other person would pursuant to the conditions of the Notes
be required to pay additional amounts as a result of the deduction or withholding of such tax.

If, on or after the Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date pursuant to § 10 (Substitution) in the Terms and
Conditions of the Notes, a New Issuer is substituted for the Issuer of Notes outstanding on the Passthru
Payment Grandfathering Date and if such substitution results in a deemed exchange of the Notes for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, then such Notes would be considered "materially modified" under FATCA
and would not be treated as outstanding as of the Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date so could
become subject to withholding under FATCA.

In addition, if on or after the Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date, pursuant to § 11 (Further Issues,
Purchases and Cancellation) in the Terms and Conditions of the Notes, the Issuer issues additional Notes,
such Notes would not be treated as outstanding as of the Passthru Payment Grandfathering Date unless
they are issued pursuant to a "qualified reopening" for U.S. federal income tax purposes. If such additional
Notes are not issued in a "qualified reopening”, such additions and the Notes would become subject to
withholding under FATCA.

Noteholders may face risks relating to the proposed financial transactions tax ("FTT")

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the "Commission's proposal”)
for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, ltaly, Austria,
Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the "Participating Member States").

The Commission's proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings in
Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.

FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both within and outside of the participating member
states.

However, the FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between participating member states. It may
therefore be altered prior to any implementation, the timing of which remains unclear. Additional EU
member states may decide to participate. Alternatively, some Member States might even decide to
introduce an own national FTT.

Prospective investors of Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the FTT.
Noteholders may face risks relating to the Netherland Withholding Tax Act (Wet bronbelasting 2021)

The Netherlands applies a conditional withholding tax on interest and royalty accruals and payments to
"affiliated (verbonden) entities" tax resident in a "listed jurisdiction”. An entity is considered affiliated to a
Dutch company if (i) such entity has a Qualifying Interest (as defined below) in that Dutch company; or
(i) that Dutch company has a Qualifying Interest in such entity; or (iii) a third party has a Qualifying Interest
in both that Dutch company and such entity, where the term "Qualifying Interest" means a directly or
indirectly held interest — either individually or jointly as part of a collaborating group (samenwerkende
groep) — that confers a definite influence over the Dutch company's or the entity's decisions and allows
the Noteholder(s) of such interest to determine the Dutch company's or the entity's activities (within the
meaning of case law of the European Court of Justice on the right of freedom of establishment (vrijheid
van vestiging)). This withholding tax will generally apply to interest incurred by an entity tax resident in the
Netherlands, like BMW Finance and BMW International Investment. If payments in respect of the Notes
were to become subject to this withholding tax, BMW Finance and BMW International Investment would
make the required withholding or deduction for the account of the Noteholder and would not be required
to pay additional amounts in respect of the withholding or deduction (see § 7 (Taxation)).

Prospective investors in the Notes should consult their own tax advisers as to whether this new
withholding tax on interest in the Netherlands could be relevant to them.
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Other related Risks
Risks related to Credit Ratings

One or more independent credit rating agencies may assign credit ratings to the Notes. The ratings may
not reflect the potential impact of all risks related to the structure, market, additional risk factors discussed
herein and other factors that may affect the value of the Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation
to buy, sell or hold securities and may be subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal by the rating
agency at any time. No assurance can be given that a credit rating will remain constant for any given
period of time or that a credit rating will not be reduced or withdrawn entirely by the credit rating agency
if, in its judgment, circumstances so warrant. Rating agencies may also change their methodologies for
rating securities in the future. Any suspension, reduction or withdrawal of the credit rating assigned to the
relevant Notes by one or more of the credit rating could adversely affect the value and trading of such
Notes.
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Part C of the Base Prospectus
Responsibility Statement

RESPONSIBILITY OF THE ISSUERS AND THE GUARANTOR

Each of (i) BMW AG, with its registered office in Munich, Germany, (ii) BMW International Investment B.V.,
with its registered office in Rijswijk, The Netherlands, (iii) BMW Japan Finance Corp., with its registered
office in Tokyo, Japan, (iv) BMW US Capital, LLC, with its registered office in Delaware, United States of
America and (v) BMW Finance N.V., with its registered office in Rijswijk, The Netherlands accepts
responsibility for the information contained in, or incorporated into, this Base Prospectus (including the
information contained in the description for each Issuer (each a "Description")).

Each of the Issuers and the Guarantor declares that, to the best of its knowledge, the information
contained in the Base Prospectus for which it is responsible is in accordance with the facts and that the
Base Prospectus makes no omission likely to affect its import.

By approving this Base Prospectus, CSSF assumes no responsibility as to the economic and financial
soundness of the transaction and the quality or solvency of the Issuer pursuant to Article 6 (4) of the
Luxembourg Law.

No other person mentioned in this Base Prospectus, other than the Issuers, is responsible for the
information given in this Base Prospectus, and any supplement thereto.
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Part D of the Base Prospectus
Consent to the Use of the Base Prospectus

CONSENT TO THE USE OF THE BASE PROSPECTUS

With respect to Article 5 (1) of the Prospectus Regulation, the relevant Issuer may consent, to the extent
and under the conditions, if any, indicated in the relevant Final Terms, to the use of the Base Prospectus
for (i) a certain offer period (as specified in the relevant Final Terms) or (ii) as long as the Base Prospectus
is valid in accordance with Article 12 (1) of the Prospectus Regulation and accepts responsibility for the
content of the Base Prospectus also with respect to subsequent resale or final placement of Notes by any
financial intermediary which was given consent to use the prospectus, if any.

Such consent may be given to one or more (individual consent) specified Dealer(s) and/or financial
intermediary/intermediaries, as stated in the Final Terms, and, next to the Grand Duchy of Luxembourg,
for the following member states, into which the Base Prospectus has been passported and which will be
indicated in the relevant Final Terms: the Republic of Austria and/or the Federal Republic of Germany
and/or the Netherlands.

Such consent by the relevant Issuer is subject to each Dealer and/or financial intermediary complying
with the terms and conditions described in this Base Prospectus and the relevant Final Terms as well as
any applicable selling restrictions. The distribution of this Base Prospectus, any supplement to this Base
Prospectus, if any, and the relevant Final Terms as well as the offering, sale and delivery of Notes in
certain jurisdictions may be restricted by law.

Each Dealer and/or each financial intermediary, if any, and/or each person into whose possession this
Base Prospectus, any supplement to this Base Prospectus, if any, and the relevant Final Terms come are
required to inform themselves about and observe any such restrictions. The Issuers reserve the right to
withdraw its consent to the use of this Base Prospectus in relation to certain Dealers and/or each financial
intermediary. A withdrawal, if any, may require a supplement to this Base Prospectus.

The Base Prospectus may only be delivered to potential investors together with all supplements published
before such delivery. Any supplement to the Base Prospectus is available for viewing in electronic form
on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange (www.luxse.com).

When using the Base Prospectus, each Dealer and/or relevant further financial intermediary must make
certain that it complies with all applicable laws and regulations in force in the respective jurisdictions.

In the case of an offer being made by a Dealer and/or financial intermediary, this Dealer and/or
financial intermediary will provide information to investors on the terms and conditions of the
Notes and the offer thereof, at the time such offer is made.

If the Final Terms state that the consent to use the Base Prospectus is given to one or more specified
Dealer(s) and/or financial intermediary/intermediaries (individual consent), any new information with
respect to financial intermediaries unknown at the time of the approval of the Base Prospectus or the filing
of the Final Terms will be published by way of publication as determined by § 12 (Notices) of the Terms
and Conditions of the Notes.

Any Dealer and/or a further financial intermediary using the Base Prospectus shall state on its
website that it uses the Base Prospectus in accordance with this consent and the conditions
attached to this consent.
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Part E of the Base Prospectus
Documents Incorporated by Reference

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

The following documents shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

Document Page Reference

BMW Group Bericht 2022 (German language version) containing the
consolidated financial statements of BMW AG as of and for the year ended
31 December 2022

(the "BMW Group Financial Statements 2022")

Gewinn-und-Verlust-Rechnung des Konzerns und der Segmente.................. 153
Gesamtergebnisrechnung des KONZerns. ........ccooviiiiiiiiiiiniiiiniiaaiienn 154
Bilanz des Konzerns und der Segmente zum 31. Dezember 2022................... 155 — 156
Kapitalflussrechnung des Konzerns und der Segmente ..........cccoevviiiniinnnnns 157 — 158
Entwicklung des Konzerneigenkapitals...........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiincnen, 159 - 160
KONZEIMANNANG . ..t eeens 161 — 245

Aufstellung des Anteilsbesitzes zum 31. Dezember 2022.......................... 233 — 244
Versicherung der gesetzlichen Vertreter............oocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieen 247
Bestatigungsvermerk des unabhéngigen Abschlussprifers..............cc.oovevneee. 248 — 255

BMW Group Financial Statements 2022 can be found on the following website:
https..//www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpow/websites/bmwgroup_comv/ir/downloads/de/2023/bericht/BM
W-Group-Bericht-2022-de.pdf

BMW Group Bericht 2023 (German language version) containing the

consolidated financial statements of BMW AG as of and for the year ended

31 December 2023

(the "BMW Group Financial Statements 2023")
Gewinn-und-Verlust-Rechnung des Konzerns und der Segmente.................... 152
Gesamtergebnisrechnung des KONZerns.........ccooviiiiiiiiiiiininiiiiianienne 153
Bilanz des Konzerns und der Segmente zum 31. Dezember 2023................... 154 — 155
Kapitalflussrechnung des Konzerns und der Segmente ...............c.cocovienan.. 156 — 157
Entwicklung des Konzerneigenkapitals...........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiincnen, 158 — 159
KONZEIMANNANG. ..ttt et e e e 160 — 242

Aufstellung des Anteilsbesitzes zum 31. Dezember 2023.......................... 231 - 241

Versicherung der gesetzlichen Vertreter............oocoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieen 244
Bestatigungsvermerk des unabh&ngigen Abschlussprifers..............cc.ooeenen.s 245 — 251

BMW Group Financial Statements 2023 can be found on the following website:
https..//www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/de/2024/bericht/BM
W-Group-Bericht-2023-de.pdf

BMW Group Quartalsmitteilung to 31 March 2024 (German language version)
containing the interim Group financial statements as of and for the three-
month period ended 31 March 2024 (unaudited and unreviewed)

(the "BMW Group Quarterly Statement to 31 March 2024")

Gewinn- und Verlust-Rechnung des Konzerns und der Segmente vom 22 -23
1. Januar bis zum 31. MErz..........coooviiiiiiii

Bilanz des Konzerns und der Segmente.........cocviiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieiiaeeeenn 23-27
Verkirzte Kapitalflussrechnung des Konzerns und der Segmente vom 28

1.danuar bis zum B1. MArzZ ...

BMW Group Quarterly Statement to 31 March 2024 can be found on the following website:
https://www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grow/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/de/2024/q1/BMW _
Q1-2024_DE.pdf
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BMW AG Jahresabschluss as of and for the year ended 31 December 2022*
(German language version)

(the "BMW AG Financial Statements 2022")

BMW AG N Zahlen.......c.iuiii e 2
JaNresSabSCRIUSS. . ..u e 3
Bilanz zum 31. DEZEMDEN. ...t 4-5
Gewinn-und-Verlust-ReChnUNg...........ooiiiiiiiiiiii e 6
ANNANG . ¢ e 8 -48
Bestatigungsvermerk des unabhangigen Abschlussprifers.............cc.coocoeeeee. 49 - 54
Versicherung der gesetzlichen Vertreter........coocoviiiiiiiiii e 56

BMW AG Financial Statements 2022 can be found on the following website:

https://www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/de/2023/bericht/BM

W-AG-Jahresabschluss-2022-de.pdf

BMW AG Jahresabschluss as of and for the year ended 31 December 2023*
(German language version)

(the "BMW AG Financial Statements 2023")

BMW AG N ZahlEN.. ..o e eaas 2
JahresabSChIUSS. ... ... 3
Bilanz zum 31. DEZEeMDEI. ... ..iu it 4-5
Gewinn-und-Verlust-Rechnung..........cociiiiiiiiiiiiii e 6
AN NG . e 8 - 61
Bestatigungsvermerk des unabhéngigen Abschlussprifers...............cccoeeue... 62— 67
Versicherung der gesetzlichen Vertreter.........cooviiiiiiii e 69

BMW AG Financial Statements 2023 can be found on the following website:

https://www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/de/2024/bericht/BM

W-AG-Jahresabschluss-2023-de.pdf

BMW Finance Annual Report 2022 (English language version) containing
the financial statements for BMW Finance as of and for the year ended 31
December 2022

(the "BMW Finance Annual Report 2022")

Annual Management REPOM........c.iiuiiuiiniiiiii e 3-7
Report of the Supervisory Board...........ccocoviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiicieiee, 8-9
Income Statement and Statement of comprehensive income..................... 10
Balance Sheet at 31 DeCeMbEr. .. ...cuiiuiiiiiiiiiii e 11
Cash FIow STatemMent. .. .. ..ot nenas 12
Statement of Changes iN EQUILY.........ocviiiiiiiiiiiiicicr e 13
Notes to the Financial Statements..........c..cooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiniceeene 14 — 42
Independent auditor's rEPOM. ... ....vuiuie i 46 — 54

BMW Finance Annual Report 2022 can be found on the following website:

https://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10c8b3cb85624c42f0a2c0384553605a20

BMW Finance Annual Report 2023 (English language version) containing

the financial statements for BMW Finance as of and for the year ended 31

December 2023

(the "BMW Finance Annual Report 2023")
Annual Management REPOM..... ..ottt 4-7
Report of the Supervisory Board...........cc.coeuviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiieiieieennn 8-9
Income Statement and Statement of comprehensive income..................... 10
Balance Sheet at 31 DECEMDEN.........ouuiiuiiiiiiiiiaieie e 11
Cash FIOW Statement. ... ... ..o 12
Statement of Changes in EQUILY.........ocviuiiiiiiiiiiiiie e 13
Notes to Financial Statements. ..........c.oviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii e, 14 — 41
Independent auditor's REPOI. ... ...uuiie i 45 - 52

BMW Finance Annual Report 2023 can be found on the following website:
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https://dl.luxse.com/dlp/100be7602b3c3648a1b2ff6b87¢c5¢c3d1a8 | |

BMW US Capital Financial Statements 2022 (English language version)
containing the financial statements for BMW US Capital as of and for the
year ended 31 December 2022

(the "BMW US Capital Financial Statements 2022")

Independent AUdItOrs' REPOM. .. .. vuin it 10-15
Statements of Financial POSItiON..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiicccaeae 16
Statements of Comprehensive Income / (LOSS)........cccovuiiiiiiiiiiiiiiininannn. 17
Statements of Changes in Member's Capital...........ccccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinen. 18
Statements of Cash FIOWS..........cviiiiiiiiiiiii e 19
Notes to Financial Statements..........ccoviiiiiiii e 20-45
BMW US Capital Financial Statements 2022 can be found on the following website:
https://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10b98dbaf8a42c480badc26c1b21e48319
BMW US Capital Financial Statements 2023 (English language version)
containing the financial statements for BMW US Capital as of and for the
year ended 31 December 2023
(the "BMW US Capital Financial Statements 2023")
Independent Auditors' REPOIT. .......vuiuiitiiiii e 10-15
Statements of Financial POSItiON..........ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiccccee 16
Statements of Comprehensive INCOMe..........cccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiii, 17
Statements of Changes in Member's Capital...........ccccovviiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiinen. 18
Statements of Cash FIOWS..........cuiiiiiiiiiii e 19
Notes to Financial Statements...........coooviiiiiii 20-45
BMW US Capital Financial Statements 2023 can be found on the following website:
https://dl.luxse.com/dip/10d324c78871d74ceba832356f63c23dde
BMW International Investment Financial Statements 2022 (English language
version) containing the financial statements for BMW International
Investment as of and for the year ended 31 December 2022
(the "BMW International Investment Financial Statements 2022")
Annual Management REPOM.........cuiuiiiiiiii e 3-6
Report of the Supervisory Board...........cociiiiiiiiiiiiiiniiiciicieeeeaas 7-8
Income Statement and Statement of comprehensive income........................ 9
Balance Sheet at 31 DECEMDEN. .. ..cuiiuiiiii i 10
Cash FIows Statement. . ... ..o 11
Statement of Changes in EQUILY.........vuiuiiiiieie e 12
Notes to the Financial Statements..........ooeviiiiiiiiiiiii e 13-37
Responsibility statement. ... ... 40
Independent auditor's rePOIt.........c.vriiii 42 - 50

BMW International Investment Financial Statements 2022 can be found on the following website:

https://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1041333f32b8a74b609cd264adfb912ede

BMW International Investment Financial Statements 2023 (English language
version) containing the financial statements for BMW International
Investment as of and for the year ended 31 December 2023

(the "BMW International Investment Financial Statements 2023")

Annual Management REPOM.........cuuiiiuiiiiiiiiie e

Report of the Supervisory Board..........couuiiiiiiiiieieieieeeeeeaes

|

Income Statement and Statement of comprehensive income........................

||
[N E{oRN|
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Balance Sheet at 31 DeCeMbDEr...........ovuiiii i 11
Cash FIOWS Statement. ... . ..o 12
Statement of Changes in EQUILY..... ..o 13
Notes to the Financial Statements..........ocuiviiiiiiiiiiiii e 14 — 39
Responsibility statement. ... ... 41
Independent auditor's FEPOM........c.iuiiiiii e 43 -50
BMW International Investment Financial Statements 2023 can be found on the following website:
https://dl.luxse.com/dlp/10bf0d54b5794c4bb691bc786abfIbe88e

BMW Japan Finance Financial Statements 2022 (English language version)

containing the financial statements of BMW Japan Finance as of and for the

year ended 31 December 2022

(the "BMW Japan Finance Financial Statements 2022")
Balance Sheets..........coooiiiiiiii 9-11
Statements of profit and 10SS........vuiiiiiiiiii 12
Statement of Changes in Shareholders' EQUity..........ccccoiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiis 13-14
Statements of cash flOWS.............oooiiiiiiiiiiiii 15
Notes to financial statements...............coooiiiiiiiiiiii e 17 - 32
Independent AUdItor's REPOI. .......cuiu et 38 -40

BMW Japan Finance Financial Statements 2022 can be found on the following website:

https.//dl.bourse.lu/dlp/109dea364dc0524dbba7ca1a986b3ee8fc

BMW Japan Finance Financial Statements 2023 (English language version)

containing the financial statements of BMW Japan Finance as of and for the

year ended 31 December 2023

(the "BMW Japan Finance Financial Statements 2023")
Balance Sheets........ ... 9-10
Statements of Profit and 10SS........vuiiniiiii 11
Statement of Changes in Shareholders' EQUity..........c.ccooiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiiins 12-13
Statements of cash flOWS. ..., 14
Notes to financial statements.............c.ooooiiiiiiiiiiiii e 15 -28
Independent AUdItOr's REPOM. ... ..uiuuiiiiiei e 34 -35

BMW Japan Finance Financial Statements 2023 can be found on the following website:

https://dl.luxse.com/dlp/101dfcede2e6c24b089c7ef21e1667aaab

Base Prospectus dated 10 May 2023

(the "Base Prospectus 2023")

Terms and Conditions of the Notes of the Base Prospectus 2023 relating to the|

EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren

Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW| 57 -106

International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. 107 — 150

Part | of the Form of Final Terms of the Base Prospectus 2023 relating to the

EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren

Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|

International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. (With respect to the|

introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms, the relevant

introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base

Prospectus must be considered).

151 — 168

The Base Prospectus 2023 can be found on the following website:
https://dl.luxse.com/dlp/101a9808bba7bd40ae8bb6cfd9a995b0f2

Base Prospectus dated 10 May 2022

(the "Base Prospectus 2022")
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Terms and Conditions of the Notes of the Base Prospectus 2022 relating to the|
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp.

56 - 104
105 —-146

Part | of the Form of Final Terms of the Base Prospectus 2022 relating to the
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW,
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. (With respect to the
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms, the relevant
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base
Prospectus must be considered).

147 - 163

The Base Prospectus 2022 can be found on the following website:
https://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10f938371ee19d4bf2822ac739d85f43f9

Base Prospectus dated 10 May 2021
(the "Base Prospectus 2021")

Terms and Conditions of the Notes of the Base Prospectus 2021 relating to the
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp.

55— 103
104 — 146

Part | of the Form of Final Terms of the Base Prospectus 2021 relating to the
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. (With respect to the|
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms, the relevant
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base
Prospectus must be considered).

147 - 163

The Base Prospectus 2021 can be found on the following website:
hitp://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/1069afd648b9a44c5eb79353ae795b8563

Base Prospectus dated 8 May 2020
(the "Base Prospectus 2020")

Terms and Conditions of the Notes of the Base Prospectus 2020 relating to the|
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp.

50 — 113
114 - 169

Part | of the Form of Final Terms of the Base Prospectus 2020 relating to the
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. (With respect to the|
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms, the relevant
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base
Prospectus must be considered).

170-185

The Base Prospectus 2020 can be found on the following website:
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/105d0618df714e47d6844939c0dd32a006

Base Prospectus dated 10 May 2019
(the "Base Prospectus 2019")

Terms and Conditions of the Notes of the Base Prospectus 2019 relating to the|
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|

108 -170
171 -224
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International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp.

Part | of the Form of Final Terms of the Base Prospectus 2019 relating to the
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW|
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. (With respect to the,
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms, the relevant
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base 225 -240
Prospectus must be considered).

The Base Prospectus 2019 can be found on the following website:
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10cd97481b7f664ffa9cdd5c095669da40

Base Prospectus dated 9 May 2018
(the "Base Prospectus 2018")

Terms and Conditions of the Notes of the Base Prospectus 2018 relating to the
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW 106 — 163
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. 164 — 215

Part | of the Form of Final Terms of the Base Prospectus 2018 relating to the
EUR 50,000,000,000 Euro Medium Term Note Programme of Bayerische Motoren
Werke Aktiengesellschaft, BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital LLC, BMW,
International Investment B.V. and BMW Japan Finance Corp. (With respect to the|
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms, the relevani
introductory paragraphs of Part | of the Form of Final Terms as set out in this Base
Prospectus must be considered). 216 — 229

The Base Prospectus 2018 can be found on the following website:
http://dl.bourse.lu/dlp/10fd996ad4b31a4e408dcf49535d3b9eaf

Any document incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus (as specified in the table above under
"Documents Incorporated by Reference") and this Base Prospectus and any supplement thereto will be
available for inspection at the specified offices of the relevant Issuer as long as any of the Notes are
outstanding and on the website of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange under "www.luxse.com".

For the avoidance of doubt, such parts of the abovementioned documents, which are not explicitly listed
in the tables above, are not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus. Information contained
in such parts is either of no relevance for an investor or covered in other parts of this Base Prospectus.
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The following documents shall be deemed to be incorporated in, and to form part of, this Base Prospectus:

Document

BMW Group Report 2022 (non-binding English translation of the German

language version) containing the consolidated financial statements of BMW

AG as of and for the year ended 31 December 2022

(the "BMW Group Report 2022")
Income Statement for Group and Segments..........ocuvveiiiiiiiiiieiieeeeeeee
Statement of Comprehensive Income for Group..........c.oeeveuieieiiiiiiiiiiieens
Balance Sheet for Group and Segments at 31 December 2022 .....................
Cash Flow Statement for Group and Segments ..........ccccoveiiiiiiiiiiiininennen.
Statement of Changes in Equity for Group.........c.vvuieiiiiiieeeeeeeeeee e
Notes to the Group Financial Statements...........c..cooiviiiiiiiiiiieea,

List of Investments at 31 December 2022............c.ccoviiiiiiiiiiiiiee

Responsibility Statement by the Company's Legal Representatives..................
Independent AUdItor's REPOIt........ccuve i

BMW Group Report 2022 can be found on the following website:

Page Reference

153
154
155 - 156
157 - 158
159 — 160
161 —245
233 - 244
247
248 — 255

https.//www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2023/bericht/BMW

-Group-Report-2022-en.pdf

BMW Group Report 2023 (non-binding English translation of the German

language version) containing the consolidated financial statements of BMW

AG as of and for the year ended 31 December 2023

(the "BMW Group Report 2023")
Income Statement for Group and Segments...........covvviiiiiiiiiiii
Statement of Comprehensive Income for Group............ccoveuiieiiiiiiiiiiiiiiens
Balance Sheet for Group and Segments at 31 December 2023........................
Cash Flow Statement for Group and Segments ..........c.covvveiiiiiiiiiiiiiieeen,
Statement of Changes in Equity for Group..........oocoviiiiiiiiecccee
Notes to the Group Financial Statements...........ccooviiiiiiiiii e,

List of Investments at 31 December 2023...........cccooiiiiiiiiiiie

Responsibility Statement by the Company's Legal Representatives..................
Independent Auditor's REPOM.........ceuiuuieiiie e

BMW Group Report 2023 can be found on the following website:

152
153
154 — 155
156 — 157
158 — 159
160 — 242
231 — 241
244
245 — 251

https://www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpow/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2024/bericht/BMW

-Group-Report-2023-en.pdf
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BMW AG Financial Statements 2022 (non-binding English translation of the
German language version) as of and for the year ended 31 December 2022*
(the "BMW AG Financial Statements 2022 (English)")

BMW AG N FIQUIES....eeiiiiiiieiee ettt ettt st st st 2
Financial StatemMeNtS.........ooo oo 3
Balance Sheet at 31 DECEMDEN ........eveiiiiieieiiie e 4-5
INCOME StATEMENT ... ..o et e et e e e e e eaaees 6
[N L] (=PRI 8-48
Independent AUItOr'S REPOIT.........eiii i 49 — 54
Responsibility Statement by the Company's Legal Representatives...................... 56

BMW AG Financial Statements 2022 (English) can be found on the following website:
https..//www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2023/bericht/BMW
-AG-Financial-Statements-2022-en.pdf

BMW AG Financial Statements 2023 (non-binding English translation of the
German language version) as of and for the year ended 31 December 2023*
(the "BMW AG Financial Statements 2023 (English)")

BMW AG N FIQUIES....ceiiiiiiieieee ittt st st s 2
Financial StatemMeNtS.......co.oo oo 3
Balance Sheet at 31 DECEMDEN ........eveiiiiieieiiie e 4-5
INCOME StATEMENT ......eeeiiiiiiiee et e e et e e e e e eaaees 6
[N L] (=PRI 8 — 61
Independent Auditor's Report 62 — 67
Responsibility Statement by the Company's Legal Representatives...................... 69

BMW AG Financial Statements 2023 (English) can be found on the following website:
https..//www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grpw/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2024/bericht/BMW
-AG-Financial-Statements-2023-en.pdf

* Such information is not required pursuant to Annex VI of Commission Delegated Regulation (EU) 2019/980 and is therefore
incorporated for information purposes only.

BMW Group Quarterly Statement to 31 March 2024 (non-binding English
translation of the German language version) containing the interim Group
financial statements as of and for the three-month period ended
31 March 2024 (unaudited and unreviewed)
(the "BMW Group Interim Report to 31 March 2024")
Income Statements for Group and Segments for the period
from 1 January 10 31 March ..........cocoiiiii
Balance Sheet for Group and Segments. ..........c.vveiiiiiiiiiiii e 24 — 27
Condensed Cash Flow Statement for Group and Segments for the period
28
from 1 January 1o 31 March ..o
- BMW Group Interim Report to 31 March 2024 can be found on the following website:
https://www.bmwgroup.com/content/dam/grow/websites/bmwgroup_com/ir/downloads/en/2024/q1/BMW_Q1
-2024_EN.pdf

22 -23

For the avoidance of doubt, such parts of the abovementioned documents, which are not explicitly listed
in the tables above, are not incorporated by reference into this Base Prospectus. Information contained
in such parts is either of no relevance for an investor or covered in other parts of this Base Prospectus.
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Part F of the Base Prospectus
Terms and Conditions and Related Documents

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES
AND RELATED DOCUMENTS

The information in this part "Terms and Conditions of the Notes and Related Documents" includes the
following parts relating to the terms and conditions of the Notes:

the "Issue Procedures";
(Part F.I. of this Base Prospectus);

the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" (German Language Version)
(Part F.II. of this Base Prospectus);

the "Terms and Conditions of the Notes" (English Language Version)
(Part F.III. of this Base Prospectus);

the "Form of Final Terms / Muster-Endgdltige Bedingungen"”
(Part F.IV. of this Base Prospectus);

the "Text der Garantie / Text of the Guarantee"
(Part F.V. of this Base Prospectus); and

the "Text der Verpflichtungserklarung / Text of the Declaration of Undertaking"
(Part F.VI. of this Base Prospectus).
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Part F.I of the Base Prospectus
Issue Procedures

ISSUE PROCEDURES
General

The relevant Issuer and the relevant Dealer(s) will agree on the terms and conditions applicable to each
particular Tranche of Notes (the "Conditions"). The Conditions will be constituted by the relevant set of
Terms and Conditions of the Notes set forth below (the "Terms and Conditions") as further specified by
the Final Terms (the "Final Terms") as described below.

Options for sets of Terms and Conditions

A separate set of Terms and Conditions applies to each type of Notes, as set forth below. The Final Terms
provide for the relevant Issuer to choose between the following Options:

- Option | — Terms and Conditions for Notes with fixed interest rates;
- Option Il — Terms and Conditions for Notes with floating interest rates.
Documentation of the Conditions

The relevant Issuer may document the Conditions of an individual issue of Notes in either of the following
ways:

- The Final Terms shall be completed as set out therein. The Final Terms shall determine which of
the Option | or Option 11, including certain further options contained therein, respectively, shall be
applicable to the individual issue of Notes by replicating the relevant provisions and completing
the relevant placeholders of the relevant set of Terms and Conditions as set out in the Base
Prospectus in the Final Terms. The replicated and completed provisions of the set of Terms and
Conditions alone shall constitute the Conditions, which (i) in case of Notes represented by a
physical global note will be attached to each global note representing the Notes of the relevant
Tranche and (ii) in case of Notes represented by a central register security will be submitted
(niedergelegt) to the Central Registrar by or on behalf of the Issuer prior to the relevant issuance.
This type of documentation of the Conditions will be required where the Notes are publicly offered,
in whole or in part, or are to be initially distributed, in whole or in part, to non-qualified investors.

- Alternatively, the Final Terms shall determine which of Option | or Option Il and of the respective
further options contained in each of Option | or Option Il are applicable to the individual issue by
referring to the relevant provisions of the relevant set of Terms and Conditions as set out in the
Base Prospectus only. The Final Terms will specify that the provisions of the Final Terms and the
relevant set of Terms and Conditions as set out in the Base Prospectus, taken together, shall
constitute the Conditions. Each (i) global note representing a particular Tranche of Notes and (ii)
document submitted to the Central Registrar in relation to a specific Series of Notes (as the case
may be) will have the Final Terms and the relevant set of Terms and Conditions as set out in the
Base Prospectus attached.

Determination of Options / Completion of Placeholders

The Final Terms shall determine which of the Option | or Option Il shall be applicable to the individual
issue of Notes. Each of the sets of Terms and Conditions of Option | or Option Il contains also certain
further options (characterised by indicating the respective optional provision through instructions and
explanatory notes set out in square brackets within the text of the relevant set of Terms and Conditions
as set out in the Base Prospectus) as well as placeholders (characterised by square brackets which
include the relevant items) which will be determined by the Final Terms as follows:

Determination of Options

The relevant Issuer will determine which options will be applicable to the individual issue either by
replicating the relevant provisions in the Final Terms or by reference of the Final Terms to the respective
sections of the relevant set of Terms and Conditions as set out in the Base Prospectus. If the Final Terms
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do not refer to an alternative or optional provision or such alternative or optional provision is not replicated
therein it shall be deemed to be deleted from the Conditions.

Completion of Placeholders

The Final Terms will specify the information with which the placeholders in the relevant set of Terms and
Conditions will be completed. In case the provisions of the Final Terms and the relevant set of Terms and
Conditions, taken together, shall constitute the Conditions the relevant set of Terms and Conditions shall
be deemed to be completed by the information contained in the Final Terms as if such information were
inserted in the placeholders of such provisions.

All instructions and explanatory notes and text set out in square brackets in the relevant set of Terms and
Conditions and any footnotes and explanatory text in the Final Terms will be deemed to be deleted from
the Conditions.

Controlling Language
As to the controlling language of the respective Conditions, the following applies:

- In the case of Notes (i) publicly offered, in whole or in part, in the Federal Republic of Germany,
or (i) initially distributed, in whole or in part, to non-qualified investors in the Federal Republic of
Germany, German will be the controlling language.

- In other cases, the relevant Issuer will elect either German or English to be the controlling
language.

In addition to the specification of the controlling language for the respective Conditions, the Final Terms
will specify whether a non-binding English/German language translation, as the case may be, will be
prepared for convenience purposes.
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Part F.Il of the Base Prospectus
Terms and Conditions of the Notes
(German language version)

TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES
(GERMAN LANGUAGE VERSION)

Die Emissionsbedingungen (die "Emissionsbedingungen") der Schuldverschreibungen sind
nachfolgend in zwei Optionen aufgefiihrt:

Option | umfasst den Satz der Emissionsbedingungen, der auf Tranchen von Schuldverschreibungen mit
fester Verzinsung Anwendung findet.

Option Il umfasst den Satz der Emissionsbedingungen, der auf Tranchen von Schuldverschreibungen mit
variabler Verzinsung Anwendung findet.

Der Satz von Emissionsbedingungen fiir jede dieser Optionen enthélt bestimmte weitere Optionen, die
entsprechend gekennzeichnet sind, indem die jeweilige optionale Bestimmung durch Instruktionen und
Erkldarungen in eckigen Klammern innerhalb des Satzes der Emissionsbedingungen bezeichnet wird.

In den Endgliltigen Bedingungen wird die Emittentin festlegen, welche der Option | oder Option Il
(einschlieBBlich der jeweils enthaltenen bestimmten weiteren Optionen) fir die einzelne Emission von
Schuldverschreibungen Anwendung findet, indem entweder die betreffenden Angaben wiederholt werden
oder auf die betreffenden Optionen verwiesen wird.

Soweit weder die Emittentin noch die Garantin zum Zeitpunkt der Billigung des Basisprospektes Kenntnis
von bestimmten Angaben hatte, die auf eine einzelne Emission von Schuldverschreibungen anwendbar
sind, enthélt dieser Basisprospekt Leerstellen in eckigen Klammern, die die malBgeblichen durch die
Endgliltigen Bedingungen zu vervollstdndigenden Angaben enthalten.

[Im Fall, dass die Endgiiltigen Bedingungen, die fiir eine einzelne Emission anwendbar sind, nur
auf die weiteren Optionen verweisen, die im Satz der Emissionsbedingungen der Option | oder
Option Il enthalten sind, ist folgendes anwendbar: Die Bestimmungen dieser Emissionsbedingungen
gelten fir diese Schuldverschreibungen so, wie sie durch die Angaben der beigefligten endgultigen
Bedingungen (die "Endgiiltigen Bedingungen") vervollstandigt werden. Die Leerstellen in den auf die
Schuldverschreibungen anwendbaren Bestimmungen dieser Emissions-bedingungen gelten als durch
die in den Endgulltigen Bedingungen enthaltenen Angaben ausgefillt, als ob die Leerstellen in den
betreffenden Bestimmungen durch diese Angaben ausgeflllt wéren; alternative oder wahlbare
Bestimmungen dieser Emissionsbedingungen, deren Entsprechungen in den Endgultigen Bedingungen
nicht ausgefillt oder die gestrichen sind, gelten als aus diesen Emissionsbedingungen gestrichen;
samtliche auf die  Schuldverschreibungen nicht anwendbaren  Bestimmungen dieser
Emissionsbedingungen (einschlieBlich der Anweisungen, Anmerkungen und der Texte in eckigen
Klammern) gelten als aus diesen Emissionsbedingungen gestrichen, so dass die Bestimmungen der
Endgiltigen Bedingungen Geltung erhalten. Kopien der Endgtiltigen Bedingungen sind kostenlos bei der
bezeichneten Geschéftsstelle der Emissionsstelle und bei der Hauptgeschéftsstelle der Emittentin
erhaltlich; bei nicht an einer Bérse notierten Schuldverschreibungen sind Kopien der betreffenden
Endglltigen Bedingungen allerdings ausschlieBlich fur die Inhaber (wie in § 1 (5) definiert) solcher
Schuldverschreibungen erhaltlich.]
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OPTION I:

EMISSIONSBEDINGUNGEN FUR
FESTVERZINSLICHE SCHULDVERSCHREIBUNGEN

’ ) §1
WAHRUNG, STUCKELUNG, FORM, EIGENTUM, DEFINITIONEN

(1)  Waéhrung, Stiickelung. Diese Tranche [Tranchen-Nummer] von Schuldverschreibungen (die
"Schuldverschreibungen") [der Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft] [der BMW Finance N.V.]
[der BMW US Capital, LLC] [der BMW International Investment B.V.] [der BMW Japan Finance Corp.],
die fir sich oder mit einer oder mehreren Tranchen gemeinsam eine "Serie" bilden kann, wird in
[festgelegte Wahrung] (die "festgelegte Wahrung") im Gesamtnennbetrag von [Gesamtnennbetrag]
(in Worten: [Gesamtnennbetrag in Worten]) in Stiickelungen von [festgelegte Stiickelungen] (die
"festgelegten Stiickelungen") begeben.

[Im Fall einer Zusammenfassung der Tranche mit einer bestehenden Serie, einfiigen: Diese
Tranche [Tranchen-Nummer] wird mit der Serie [Seriennummer], ISIN [e] / WKN [e], Tranche 1
begeben am [Tag der Begebung der ersten Tranche] [und der Tranche [Tranchen-Nummer] begeben
am [Tag der Begebung der zweiten Tranche] dieser Serie] [und der Tranche [Tranchen-Nummer]
begeben am [Tag der Begebung der dritten Tranche] dieser Serie] konsolidiert und formt mit dieser
eine einheitliche Serie [Seriennummer]. Der Gesamtnennbetrag der Serie [Seriennummer einfligen]
lautet [Gesamtnennbetrag der gesamten konsolidierten Serie [Seriennummer]].]

[Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, die durch eine Globalurkunde verbrieft sind, einfiigen:

(2) Form. Die Schuldverschreibungen lauten auf den Inhaber[.] [Im Fall einer Emission der BMW US
Capital, LLC mit einer Laufzeit von mehr als 183 Tagen, einfiigen (wobei das maBgebliche Clearing
System CBF oder ein Festgelegtes Clearing System sein muss und somit die
Schuldverschreibungen Gegenstand eines book-entry Agreements sind): wobei die
Schuldverschreibungen jedoch fiir Zwecke des Bundeseinkommenssteuerrechts der Vereinigten Staaten
wie Namenspapiere (registered notes) behandelt werden.]

[Bei Schuldverschreibungen der BMW US Capital, LLC (wobei das maBgebliche Clearing System
CBF oder ein Festgelegtes Clearing System sein muss und somit die Schuldverschreibungen
Gegenstand eines book-entry Agreements sind), einfiigen:

(3)  Dauerglobalurkunde.

(a)  Die Schuldverschreibungen sind durch eine Dauerglobalurkunde (die "Dauerglobalurkunde" oder
"Globalurkunde") ohne Zinsscheine verbrieft. Die Dauerglobalurkunde tragt die eigenhandigen
oder faksimilierten Unterschriften zweier ordnungsgeman bevollméachtigter Vertreter der Emittentin
und ist von der Emissionsstelle oder in deren Namen mit einer Kontrollunterschrift versehen.
Einzelurkunden und Zinsscheine werden nicht ausgegeben.

(b)  Das Eigentum von Rechten an der Globalurkunde und die Ubertragung des Eigentums von solchen
Rechten wird ausschlieBlich nachgewiesen und erfolgt nur durch die Unterlagen des Festgelegten
Clearing Systems (wie nachstehend definiert).

AuBer unter den nachstehend beschriebenen Umstanden kann das Festgelegte Clearing System
eine Globalurkunde nicht anders als durch Ubertragung der Globalurkunde auf eine nachfolgende
Verwahrstelle (Ubertragen, und Rechte an dieser Globalurkunde kénnen nicht gegen
Schuldverschreibungen in effektiver, in Einzelurkunden verbriefter Form ausgetauscht werden.]

[Bei Schuldverschreibungen der Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft, der BMW Finance
N.V., der BMW International Investment B.V. oder der BMW Japan Finance Corp., einfligen:

(3)  Vorldufige Globalurkunde — Austausch.

(a) Die Schuldverschreibungen sind anfanglich durch eine vorlaufige Globalurkunde (die "Vorlaufige
Globalurkunde") ohne Zinsscheine verbrieft. Die vorlaufige Globalurkunde wird gegen
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Schuldverschreibungen in den festgelegten Stlickelungen, die durch eine Dauerglobalurkunde (die
"Dauerglobalurkunde") ohne Zinsscheine verbrieft sind, ausgetauscht. Die vorlaufige
Globalurkunde und die Dauerglobalurkunde (jeweils eine "Globalurkunde") tragen jeweils die
eigenhandigen oder faksimilierten Unterschriften zweier ordnungsgeman bevollméchtigter
Vertreter der Emittentin und sind jeweils von der Emissionsstelle oder in deren Namen mit einer
Kontrollunterschrift versehen. Einzelurkunden und Zinsscheine werden nicht ausgegeben.

Die vorlaufige Globalurkunde wird an einem Tag gegen die Dauerglobalurkunde ausgetauscht, der
nicht weniger als 40 Tage nach dem Tag der Ausgabe der vorlaufigen Globalurkunde liegen darf.
Ein solcher Austausch darf nur nach Vorlage von Bescheinigungen erfolgen, wonach der oder die
wirtschaftlichen  Eigentimer der durch die vorlaufige Globalurkunde verbrieften
Schuldverschreibungen keine U.S.-Personen sind (ausgenommen bestimmte Finanzinstitute oder
bestimmte Personen, die Schuldverschreibungen Uber solche Finanzinstitute halten).
Zinszahlungen auf durch eine vorlaufige Globalurkunde verbriefte Schuldverschreibungen erfolgen
erst nach Vorlage solcher Bescheinigungen. Eine gesonderte Bescheinigung ist hinsichtlich einer
jeden solchen Zinszahlung erforderlich. Jede Bescheinigung, die am oder nach dem 40. Tag nach
dem Tag der Ausgabe der vorldufigen Globalurkunde eingeht, wird als ein Ersuchen behandelt
werden, diese vorldufige Globalurkunde gemaB Absatz (b) dieses § 1 (3) auszutauschen.
Wertpapiere, die im Austausch fir die vorlaufige Globalurkunde geliefert werden, sind nur
auBerhalb der Vereinigten Staaten (wie in § 4 (3) definiert) zu liefern.]

Clearing System.

[Die]l[Jede] [vorlaufige] Globalurkunde [(falls diese nicht ausgetauscht wird) und/oder jede
Dauerglobalurkunde] wird solange von einem oder im Namen eines Clearing Systems verwahrt,
bis samtliche Verbindlichkeiten der Emittentin aus den Schuldverschreibungen erfillt sind.
"Clearing System" bedeutet [Bei mehr als einem Clearing System -einfligen: jeweils]
Folgendes: [Clearstream Banking AG, Mergenthalerallee 61, 65760 Eschborn, Bundesrepublik
Deutschland ("CBF")] [Clearstream Banking S.A., 42 Avenue JF Kennedy, 1855 Luxemburg,
GroBherzogtum Luxemburg ("CBL")] [Euroclear Bank SA/NV, Boulevard du Roi Albert Il, 1210
Brissel, Belgien ("Euroclear")] [CBL und Euroclear jeweils ein "ICSD" und zusammen die
"ICSDs"] [] [und] [anderes Clearing System angeben] oder jeder Funktionsnachfolger, der die
Funktionen [Bei mehr als einem Clearing System einfligen: jedes der Clearing Systeme] [Falls
ein Clearing System, einfiigen: des Clearing Systems] (ibernimmt.

[Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, die im Namen der ICSDs verwahrt werden, einfiigen:

[Falls die Globalurkunde eine NGN ist, einfligen: Die Schuldverschreibungen werden in Form
einer new global note ("NGN") ausgegeben und von einer gemeinsamen Sicherheitsverwahrstelle
(common safekeeper) im Namen beider ICSDs verwahrt.]

[Falls die Globalurkunde eine CGN ist, einfligen:

Die Schuldverschreibungen werden in Form einer classical global note ("CGN") ausgegeben und
von einer gemeinsamen Verwahrstelle im Namen beider ICSDs verwahrt.]

[Bei Schuldverschreibungen der BMW US Capital, LLC (wobei das maBgebliche Clearing
System CBF oder ein Festgelegtes Clearing System sein muss und somit die
Schuldverschreibungen Gegenstand eines book-entry Agreements sind), einfligen:

"Festgelegtes Clearing System" bezeichnet ein Clearing System, das ein book-entry Agreement
mit der Emittentin hinsichtlich der Schuldverschreibungen abgeschlossen hat, wobei dieses book-
entry Agreement solche Vorschriften vorsieht, die es ermdglichen, dass die Schuldverschreibungen
fir Zwecke der U.S. Bundeseinkommensteuergesetze als Verbindlichkeiten in Form von
Namensschuldverschreibungen angesehen werden. Zur Klarstellung: CBF ist ein Festgelegtes
Clearing System, jedoch kdnnen auch andere Clearing Systeme in der Zukunft zu Festgelegten
Clearing Systemen werden.]

Inhaber von  Schuldverschreibungen. "Inhaber" bezeichnet jeden Inhaber eines

Miteigentumsanteils oder anderen Rechts an den Schuldverschreibungen.
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[Falls die Globalurkunde eine NGN ist, einfligen:

(6) Register der ICSDs. Der Gesamtnennbetrag der durch die Globalurkunde verbrieften
Schuldverschreibungen entspricht dem jeweils in den Registern beider ICSDs eingetragenen
Gesamtbetrag. Die Register der ICSDs (unter denen man die Register versteht, die jeder ICSD fir seine
Kunden Uber den Betrag ihres Anteils an den Schuldverschreibungen fiihrt) sind schliissiger Nachweis
lber den Gesamtnennbetrag der durch die Globalurkunde verbrieften Schuldverschreibungen, und eine
zu diesen Zwecken von einem ICSD jeweils ausgestellte Bestatigung mit dem Gesamtnennbetrag der so
verbrieften Schuldverschreibungen ist ein schlissiger Nachweis Uber den Inhalt des Registers des
jeweiligen ICSD zu diesem Zeitpunkt.

Bei Riickzahlung oder Zahlung einer Rate oder einer Zinszahlung beziiglich der durch die Globalurkunde
verbrieften Schuldverschreibungen bzw. bei Kauf und Entwertung der durch die Globalurkunde
verbrieften Schuldverschreibungen stellt die Emittentin sicher, dass die Einzelheiten tGber Rickzahlung
und Zahlung bzw. Kauf und Léschung bezlglich der Globalurkunde pro rata in die Unterlagen der ICSDs
eingetragen werden, und dass nach dieser Eintragung vom Gesamtnennbetrag der in die Register der
ICSDs aufgenommenen und durch die Globalurkunde verbrieften Schuldverschreibungen der
Gesamtnennbetrag der zuriickgekauften bzw. gekauften und entwerteten Schuldverschreibungen bzw.
der Gesamtbetrag der so gezahlten Raten abgezogen wird.]

[Falls die vorlaufige Globalurkunde eine NGN ist, einfligen: Bei Austausch eines Anteils von
ausschlieBlich durch eine vorlaufige Globalurkunde verbrieften Schuldverschreibungen wird die
Emittentin sicherstellen, dass die Einzelheiten dieses Austauschs pro rata in die Aufzeichnungen der
ICSDs aufgenommen werden.]]

[Im Fall Schuldverschreibungen, die durch die durch ein Zentralregisterwertpapier verbrieft sind,
einfigen:

(2)  Form. Die Schuldverschreibungen lauten auf den Inhaber. Die Schuldverschreibungen sind durch
ein Zentralregisterwertpapier verbrieft und in ein von der Zentralregisterfihrerin geflhrtes zentrales
Wertpapierregister (das "Zentralwertpapierregister") eingetragen.

(3) Die Zentralregisterfihrerin ist gemaR § 8 Absatz 1 Nr. 1 des Gesetzes Uber elektronische Wert-
papiere ("eWpG") in das Zentralwertpapierregister als Inhaberin der Zentralregisterwertpapiere in Héhe
des Gesamtnennbetrags der begebenen Schuldverschreibungen in Sammeleintragung eingetragen.
Zentralregisterwertpapiere in Sammeleintragung gelten kraft Gesetzes als Wertpapiersammelbestand.

(4)  Eine physische Sammelurkunde oder Einzelurkunden (effektive Stiicke) und Zinsscheine wer-den
nicht ausgegeben. Ein Anspruch der Inhaber auf eine Einzeleintragung auf den Namen der Inhaber oder
auf Ersetzung des Zentralregisterwertpapiers durch eine Sammelurkunde oder durch Einzelurkunden und
Zinsscheine ist ausdricklich ausgeschlossen.

Far den Fall, dass (i) die Zentralregisterfihrerin die Absicht ankiindigt, den Geschéftsbetrieb des
Zentralwertpapierregisters endgultig einzustellen oder (i) das Zentralwertpapierregister flr einen
ununterbrochenen Zeitraum von mehr als 30 Tagen fiir den Geschéftsbetrieb geschlossen ist (auBer aus
Grunden, die auch das Clearing von Schuldverschreibungen, die durch physische Sammelurkunden
verbrieft sind, betreffen), behalt sich die Emittentin vor, das Zentralregisterwertpapier geman § 6 Absatz 2
Nr 2 eWpG ohne Zustimmung der Inhaber durch inhaltsgleiche, durch eine physische Sammelurkunde
verbriefte Schuldverschreibungen zu ersetzen. Die Emittentin wird diese Ersetzung geman § 12 bekannt
machen. Der Anspruch der Inhaber auf die physische Herausgabe der Sammelurkunde ist
ausgeschlossen; auch in diesem Fall ist ein Anspruch der Inhaber auf Ersetzung der Sammelurkunde
durch Einzelurkunden und Zinsscheine ausdricklich ausgeschlossen.

(5)  Definierte Begriffe. Die folgenden definierten Begriffe haben die ihnen nachfolgend zugewiesene
Bedeutung:

"Zentralregisterwertpapier" bezeichnet ein elektronisches Wertpapier geman § 4 Absatz 2 eWpG.

"Zentralregisterfiihrerin" bezeichnet Clearstream Frankfurt oder einen anderen von der Emittentin als
Registerfihrer im Sinne des § 12 Absatz 2 Nr. 1 eWpG benannten Zentralverwahrer.

"Clearing System" bezeichnet Clearstream Banking AG, Frankfurt am Main.
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"Depotbank" bezeichnet jede Bank oder ein sonstiges anerkanntes Finanzinstitut, das berechtigt ist, das
Wertpapierverwahrungsgeschéft zu betreiben und bei der/dem der Inhaber ein Wertpapierdepot fir die
Schuldverschreibungen unterhalt, einschlieBlich des Clearing Systems.

"Inhaber" bezeichnet den jeweiligen Berechtigten im Sinne des § 3 Absatz 2 eWpG in Bezug auf eine
Schuldverschreibung. Den Inhabern stehen Miteigentumsanteile oder vergleichbare Teilrechte an dem
Wertpapiersammelbestand zu, die nach MaBgabe des anwendbaren Rechts und der Regeln und
Bestimmungen des Clearingsystems Ubertragen werden kénnen.]

[(B)[(7)] Geschéftstag. In diesen Emissionsbedingungen bezeichnet "Geschaftstag”

einen Tag (auBer einem Samstag oder Sonntag), an dem (i) das Clearing System und (ii) [Falls T2
anwendbar ist, einfligen: T2 (wie nachstehend definiert) [und Geschéftsbanken und Devisenmarkte in
[samtliche relevanten Finanzzentren]]] [Falls die festgelegte Wahrung nicht Euro ist, einfiigen:
Geschaftsbanken und Devisenmarkte in [samtliche relevanten Finanzzentren]] Zahlungen abwickeln.

[Falls T2 anwendbar ist, einfligen: "T2" ist das vom Eurosystem betriebene Echtzeit-
Bruttoabwicklungssystem oder jedes Nachfolgesystem.]

§2
STATUS, VERPFLICHTUNGSERKLARUNG[, GARANTIE]

(1)  Status. Die Schuldverschreibungen stellen direkte, unbedingte, nicht nachrangige und nicht
besicherte Verbindlichkeiten der Emittentin dar, die den gleichen Rang (ausgenommen Verbindlichkeiten
aufgrund von nationalen oder lokalen Steuervorschriften, anderen gesetzlichen Ausnahmeregelungen,
gesetzlichen Vorschriften und Verwaltungsvorschriften) mit allen anderen unbesicherten und nicht
nachrangigen Verbindlichkeiten haben.

(2)  Verpflichtungserkldrung der Emittentin. Die Emittentin hat sich in einer separaten Erklarung (im
Folgenden die "Verpflichtungserklarung" genannt) gegeniber den Inhabern verpflichtet, solange bis
Kapital, etwaige Zinsen und etwaige zusatzliche Betrdge gemaB § 7 (1) im vollen Umfang bei der
jeweiligen Zahlstelle oder einer anderen geman § 6 ernannten Zahlstelle bereitgestellt worden sind, keine
gegenwartigen oder zukiinftigen Verbindlichkeiten (einschlieBlich Verbindlichkeiten aus Garantien oder
Sicherheiten) aus anderen internationalen Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeiten (wie nachfolgend definiert)
durch irgendwelche Grund- oder Mobiliarpfandrechte an ihrem gegenwaértigen oder zuklnftigen
Grundbesitz oder Vermdgenswerten sicherzustellen oder sicherstellen zu lassen, es sei denn, dass diese
Schuldverschreibungen zu gleicher Zeit und im gleichen Rang anteilig an dieser Sicherstellung
teilnehmen. Ausgenommen hiervon sind Grund- oder Mobiliarpfandrechte und andere Besicherungen von
Verbindlichkeiten aufgrund von nationalen oder lokalen Steuervorschriften, anderen gesetzlichen
Ausnahmeregelungen, gesetzlichen Vorschriften und Verwaltungsvorschriften. Im Fall einer Besicherung
dieser Schuldverschreibungen durch die Emittentin geman dieses § 2 (2) sind zugunsten der Inhaber die
Sicherheiten mit den Ublichen Rechten und Pflichten zu bestellen. Wenn ein Inhaber nach Eintritt eines
der in § 9 aufgeflhrten Kindigungsgrinde, die die Inhaber zur Kindigung berechtigen, wegen des
Kapitals von nicht schon aus anderen Griinden falligen Schuldverschreibungen eine flr die
Schuldverschreibungen gegebene Sicherheit in  Anspruch nimmt, gelten die betreffenden
Schuldverschreibungen in jeder Beziehung als fallig.

(3) Sicherheiten fiir Asset-Backed-Securities. Um etwaige Zweifel zu vermeiden, die in diesem § 2
enthaltene Verpflichtung gilt nicht in Bezug auf Sicherheiten, die in Zusammenhang mit asset-backed-
securities (strukturierte Wertpapiere, die mit Vermégenswerten besichert sind) gestellt werden, die von
einer Zweckgesellschaft begeben werden, und bei denen die Emittentin die urspriingliche Inhaberin der
zugrunde liegenden Vermdgenswerte ist.

(4) Internationale Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeit. Fir die Zwecke dieser Emissionsbedingungen bedeutet
"internationale Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeit" jede Emission von Schuldverschreibungen mit einer
urspriinglichen Laufzeit von mehr als einem Jahr.

[Im Fall der Emission von Schuldverschreibungen durch BMW Finance N.V., BMW US Capital, LLC,
BMW International Investment B.V. oder BMW Japan Finance Corp. einfiigen:

(5)  Garantie. Die Bayerische Motoren Werke Aktiengesellschaft (die "Garantin") hat gegeniiber den
Inhabern die unbedingte und unwiderrufliche Garantie flir die ordnungsgemane und plinktliche Zahlung
des Kapitals und etwaiger Zinsen einschlieBBlich gegebenenfalls gemal § 7 (1) zusatzlich erforderlicher
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Betrage in Ubereinstimmung mit diesen Emissionsbedingungen (ibernommen (die "Garantie"). Die
Garantie gibt jedem Inhaber das Recht, Erflllung der in der Garantie Gbernommenen Verpflichtungen
unmittelbar von der Garantin zu verlangen und diese Verpflichtungen unmittelbar gegen die Garantin
durchzusetzen.

(6) Verpflichtungserkldrung der Garantin. Die Garantin hat sich in der Verpflichtungserklarung
gegeniber den Inhabern verpflichtet, solange bis Kapital und etwaige Zinsen sowie etwaige zuséatzliche
Betrage geman § 7 (1) bei der jeweiligen Zahlistelle oder einer anderen geman § 6 ernannten Zahlstelle
bereitgestellt worden sind, keine gegenwartigen oder zuklnftigen Verbindlichkeiten (einschlieBlich
Verbindlichkeiten aus  Garantien oder  Sicherheiten) aus  anderen internationalen
Kapitalmarktverbindlichkeiten durch irgendwelche Grund- oder Mobiliarpfandrechte an ihrem
gegenwartigen oder zuklnftigen Grundbesitz oder Vermdgenswerten sicherzustellen oder sicherstellen
zu lassen, es sei denn, dass diese Schuldverschreibungen zu gleicher Zeit und im gleichen Rang anteilig
an dieser Sicherstellung teilnehmen. Ausgenommen hiervon sind Grund- oder Mobiliarpfandrechte und
andere Besicherungen aufgrund von nationalen oder lokalen Steuervorschriften, anderen gesetzlichen
Ausnahmeregelungen, gesetzlichen Vorschriften und Verwaltungsvorschriften. Im Fall einer Besicherung
dieser Schuldverschreibungen durch die Garantin geman dieses § 2 (6) sind zugunsten der Inhaber die
Sicherheiten mit den Ublichen Rechten und Pflichten zu bestellen. Wenn ein Inhaber nach Eintritt eines
der in § 9 aufgefihrten Kindigungsgrinde, die die Inhaber zur Kindigung berechtigen, wegen des
Kapitals von nicht schon aus anderen Griinden falligen Schuldverschreibungen eine flr die
Schuldverschreibungen gegebene Sicherheit in  Anspruch nimmt, gelten die betreffenden
Schuldverschreibungen in jeder Beziehung als fallig.

(7) Sicherheiten flir Asset-Backed-Securities. Um etwaige Zweifel zu vermeiden, die in diesem § 2
enthaltene Verpflichtung gilt nicht in Bezug auf Sicherheiten, die in Zusammenhang mit asset-backed-
securities (strukturierte Wertpapiere, die mit Vermdgenswerten besichert sind) gestellt werden, die von
einer Zweckgesellschaft begeben werden, und bei denen die Garantin die urspriingliche Inhaberin der
zugrunde liegenden Vermdgenswerte ist.]

§3
ZINSEN

(1) Zinssatz und Zinszahlungstage. Die Schuldverschreibungen werden in Hohe ihres
Gesamtnennbetrags verzinst, und zwar vom [Verzinsungsbeginn] (der "Verzinsungsbeginn")
(einschlieBlich) bis zum Falligkeitstag (wie in § 5 (1) definiert) (ausschlieBlich) mit jahrlich [Zinssatz]%.

Die Zinsen sind nachtraglich am [Festzinstermin(e)] eines jeden Jahres, vorbehaltlich einer Anpassung
geman § 4 (6), zahlbar (jeweils ein "Zinszahlungstag"). Die erste Zinszahlung erfolgt am [ersten
Zinszahlungstag] vorbehaltlich einer Anpassung gem. §4 (6) [Im Fall eines kurzen ersten
Kupons/langen ersten Kupons, einfiigen: und belauft sich auf [anfanglichen Bruchteilszinsbetrag
pro festgelegte Stiickelung] je festgelegte Stiickelung]. [Im Fall eines kurzen letzten Kupons/langen
letzten Kupons einfiigen: Die Zinsen fir den Zeitraum vom [den letzten dem Falligkeitstag
vorausgehenden Festzinstermin] (einschlieBlich) bis zum Falligkeitstag (ausschlieBlich) belaufen sich
auf [abschlieBenden Bruchteilzinsbetrag pro festgelegte Stiickelung] je festgelegte Stlickelung].

[Im Fall von Actual/Actual (ICMA) einfiigen: Die Anzahl der Feststellungstermine im Kalenderjahr
(jeweils ein "Feststellungstermin”) betrdgt [Anzahl der reguldren Zinszahlungstage im
Kalenderjahr]].

(2)  Zinslauf. Der Zinslauf der Schuldverschreibungen endet an dem Tag, der dem Tag vorangeht, an
dem sie zur Riickzahlung fallig werden. Falls die Emittentin die Schuldverschreibungen bei Falligkeit nicht
einldst, endet die Verzinsung des ausstehenden Nennbetrags der Schuldverschreibungen nicht an dem
Tag, der dem Tag der Faélligkeit vorangeht, sondern erst an dem Tag, der dem Tag der tatsachlichen
Rickzahlung der Schuldverschreibungen vorangeht. Weitergehende Anspriiche der Inhaber bleiben
unbertihrt.

(3)  Unterjahrige Berechnung der Zinsen. Sofern Zinsen fir einen Zeitraum von weniger als einem Jahr
zu berechnen sind, erfolgt die Berechnung auf der Grundlage des Zinstagequotienten (wie nachstehend
definiert).]

(4) Zinstagequotient. "Zinstagequotient" bezeichnet im Hinblick auf die Berechnung des Zinsbetrags auf
eine Schuldverschreibung fir einen beliebigen Zeitraum (der "Zinsberechnungszeitraum"):
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[Im Fall von Actual/Actual (ICMA) einfligen:

1. Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, bei denen die Anzahl der Tage in der betreffenden Periode ab
dem letzten Zinszahlungstag (oder, wenn es keinen solchen gibt, ab dem Verzinsungsbeginn) (jeweils
einschlieBlich desselben) bis zum betreffenden Zahlungstag (ausschlieBlich desselben) (der
"Zinsberechnungszeitraum") kirzer ist als die Feststellungsperiode in die das Ende des
Zinsberechnungszeitraumes féallt oder ihr entspricht, die Anzahl der Tage in dem betreffenden
Zinsberechnungszeitraum geteilt durch das Produkt (1) der Anzahl der Tage in der Feststellungsperiode
und (2) der Anzahl der Feststellungstermine (wie in § 3 (1) angegeben) in einem Kalenderjahr; oder

2. Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, bei denen der Zinsberechnungszeitraum langer ist als die
Feststellungsperiode, in die das Ende des Zinsberechnungszeitraumes fallt, die Summe der Anzahl der
Tage in dem Zinsberechnungszeitraum, die in die Feststellungsperiode fallen, in welcher der
Zinsberechnungszeitraum beginnt, geteilt durch das Produkt (1) der Anzahl der Tage in der
Feststellungsperiode und (2) der Anzahl der Feststellungstermine (wie in § 3 (1) angegeben) in einem
Kalenderjahr; und

der Anzahl der Tage in dem Zinsberechnungszeitraum, die in die nachste Feststellungsperiode fallen,
geteilt durch das Produkt (1) der Anzahl der Tage in dieser Feststellungsperiode und (2) der Anzahl der
Feststellungstermine (wie in § 3 (1) angegeben) in einem Kalenderjahr.

"Feststellungsperiode” ist die Periode ab einem Zinszahlungstag oder, wenn es keinen solchen gibt, ab
dem Verzinsungsbeginn (jeweils einschlieBlich desselben) bis zum nachsten oder ersten Zinszahlungstag
(ausschlieBlich desselben).]

[Im Fall von 30/360 oder Bond Basis einfiigen: die Anzahl der Tage im jeweiligen
Zinsberechnungszeitraum dividiert durch 360, berechnet wie folgt:

[360 x (J, — J)] + [30 x (M, — M;)] + (T, — T})

zre= 360

Dabei gilt Folgendes:
"ZTQ" ist gleich der Zinstagequotient;
"J1" ist das Jahr, ausgedrickt als Zahl, in das der erste Tag des Zinsberechnungszeitraums fallt;

"J2" ist das Jahr, ausgedrickt als Zahl, in das der Tag fallt, der auf den letzten in dem Zins-
berechnungszeitraum eingeschlossenen Tag unmittelbar folgt;

"M," ist der Kalendermonat, ausgedrlckt als Zahl, in den der erste Tag des Zinsberechnungszeitraums
fallt;

"My" ist der Kalendermonat, ausgedriickt als Zahl, in den der Tag fallt, der auf den letzten in dem
Zinsberechnungszeitraum eingeschlossenen Tag unmittelbar folgt;

"T1" ist der erste Tag des Zinsberechnungs-zeitraums, ausgedrickt als Zahl, es sei denn, diese Zahl ware
31, in welchem Fall T1 gleich 30 ist; und

"To" ist der Tag, ausgedriickt als Zahl, der auf den letzten in dem Zinsberechnungszeitraum
eingeschlossenen Tag unmittelbar folgt, es sei denn, diese Zahl ware 31 und T1 ist groBer als 29, in
welchem Fall Tz gleich 30 ist.]

[Im Fall von Actual/365 (Fixed) und im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, deren festgelegte
Wahrung Renminbi ist, einfiigen: die tatsachliche Anzahl von Tagen im Zinsberechnungszeitraum
dividiert durch 365.]

[Im Fall von 30E/360 oder Eurobond Basis einfligen: die Anzahl der Tage im jeweiligen
Zinsberechnungszeitraum dividiert durch 360, berechnet wie folgt:

_ [360 X (]2 _]1)] + [30 X (Mz - M1)] + (Tz - T1)

Zre 360

Dabei gilt Folgendes:
"ZTQ" ist gleich der Zinstagequotient;
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"J¢" ist das Jahr, ausgedrickt als Zahl, in das der erste Tag des Zinsberechnungszeitraums fallt;

"J2" ist das Jahr, ausgedrickt als Zahl, in das der Tag fallt, der auf den letzten in dem Zins-
berechnungszeitraum eingeschlossenen Tag unmittelbar folgt;

"M," ist der Kalendermonat, ausgedrickt als Zahl, in den der erste Tag des Zinsberechnungszeitraums
fallt;

"My" ist der Kalendermonat, ausgedriickt als Zahl, in den der Tag fallt, der auf den letzten in dem
Zinsberechnungszeitraum eingeschlossenen Tag unmittelbar folgt;

"T1" ist der erste Tag des Zinsberechnungs-zeitraums, ausgedriickt als Zahl, es sei denn, diese Zahl ware
31, in welchem Fall T1 gleich 30 ist; und

"To" ist der Tag, ausgedrickt als Zahl, der auf den letzten in dem Zinsberechnungszeitraum
eingeschlossenen Tag unmittelbar folgt, es sei denn, diese Zahl ware 31, in welchem Fall T2 gleich 30
ist.]

§4
ZAHLUNGEN

(1) (a) Zahlungen auf Kapital. Zahlungen von Kapital auf die Schuldverschreibungen erfolgen nach
MaBgabe des nachstehenden Absatzes (2) an das Clearing System oder dessen Order zur
Gutschrift auf den Konten der jeweiligen Kontoinhaber des Clearing Systems gegen Vorlage und
(auBer im Fall von Teilzahlungen) Einreichung der Schuldverschreibungen zum Zeitpunkt der
Zahlung verbriefenden Globalurkunde bei der bezeichneten Geschéftsstelle der Emissionsstelle
auBerhalb der Vereinigten Staaten.

(b)  Zahlungen von Zinsen. Die Zahlung von Zinsen auf Schuldverschreibungen erfolgt nach MaBgabe
von Absatz 2 an das Clearing System oder dessen Order zur Gutschrift auf den Konten der
jeweiligen Kontoinhaber des Clearing Systems.

[Bei Zinszahlungen auf eine vorldufige Globalurkunde einfligen: Die Zahlung von Zinsen auf
Schuldverschreibungen, die durch die vorlaufige Globalurkunde verbrieft sind, erfolgt nach
MaBgabe von Absatz (2) an das Clearing System oder dessen Order zur Gutschrift auf den Konten
der jeweiligen Kontoinhaber des Clearing Systems, und zwar nach ordnungsgemalier
Bescheinigung geman § 1 (3) (b).]

(2)  Zahlungsweise. Vorbehaltlich geltender steuerlicher und sonstiger gesetzlicher Regelungen und
Vorschriften erfolgen zu leistende Zahlungen auf die Schuldverschreibungen in der frei handelbaren und
konvertierbaren Wé&hrung, die am entsprechenden Félligkeitstag die Wahrung des Staates der
festgelegten Wéhrung ist [Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, deren festgelegte Wahrung
Renminbi ist, einfligen: oder im USD-Gegenwert (wie in § 4 (8) definiert) durch Uberweisung nach
MaBgabe der Emissionsbedingungen der Schuldverschreibungen].

[Im Fall von Schuldverschreibungen, deren festgelegte Wahrung weder Euro noch Renminbi ist,
einfigen: Stellt die Emittentin fest, dass es aufgrund von Umstanden, die auBerhalb des
Verantwortungsbereichs der Emittentin liegen, unméglich ist, auf die Schuldverschreibungen zu leistende
Zahlungen am relevanten Falligkeitstag in frei handelbaren und konvertierbaren Geldern vorzunehmen,
oder dass die festgelegte Wahrung oder eine gesetzlich eingefihrte Nachfolge-